
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
6 APRIL 2018

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 6 April 2018
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 12) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 26th January 
2018.  

4.  Grant Thornton Audit Plan for GCC & Pension Fund (Pages 13 
- 44)

Peter Barber

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

5.  Grant Thornton Annual Progress Report (Pages 45 - 60) Katie Whybray
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

6.  Grant Thornton Audit Standards Communication & Internal 
Audit Fraud Law & Regulations (Pages 61 - 86)

Peter Barber

The Committee is asked to confirm they are satisfied with the 
arrangements in place.

7.  Internal Audit Plan 2018/19 (Pages 87 - 134) Theresa Mortimer
The Committee is asked to approve the Internal Audit Plan.  

8.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 17/18 (Pages 135 - 
158)

Theresa Mortimer

The Committee is asked to note the report. 
 

9.  Internal Audit Limited Assurance Reports (Pages 159 - 166) Theresa Mortimer
- Electronic Call Monitoring – All Ages All Disabilities 
-

10.  Money Laundering Regulations and Guidance (Pages 167 - 
174)

Paul Blacker



The Committee is asked to review and approve the updated Anti 
Money Laundering Policy; and agree that the policy is reviewed by 
the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis.

11.  Local Government Ethical Standards (Pages 175 - 180) Jane Burns
The Committee is asked to agree a response to the consultation.
  

12.  Freedom of Information Annual Report (Pages 181 - 188) Teresa Wilmshurst
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

13.  Annual Report to Council (Pages 189 - 190) Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
The Committee is asked to approve the Annual Report to Council. 
 

14.  Exclusion of the Press & Public 
THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the business specified in agenda item 14 because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public.

15.  Insurance Briefing Report (Pages 191 - 196) Elaine Foxwell
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr David Norman MBE, 
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, 
Cllr Keith Rippington, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and 
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 26 
January 2018 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen 
(Chairman)
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Cllr John Payne
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Substitutes:  Cllr Andrew Miller

Apologies:

Officers: 

Cllr Keith Rippington

Jo Walker, Jane Burns, Paul Blacker, Stephanie Payne, Kathy 
Oakey, Mandy Quayle, Gill Horrobin, Nick Holland and Andrea 
Griffiths.  

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Parsons declared he was a member of Cotswold District Council, and a 
member of the Pensions Committee.  

2. MINUTES 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 6th October 2017 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

3. GRANT THORNTON ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 

The Committee were informed that David Bray would be moving areas as an Audit 
Manager and this was his last meeting at Gloucestershire County Council.  The 
Chairman extended thanks on behalf of the Committee to David for all his hard 
work and effort in supporting the Committee and wished him every future success.  

David Bray, Grant Thornton presented the report in detail.  The report summarised 
the findings from the 2016/17 audit, which was undertaken by Grant Thornton.  It 
included key messages arising from the audit of the Council’s financial statements 
and the results of the work that had been undertaken to assess the Council’s 
arrangements to secure value for money in its use of resources.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members were informed that Grant Thornton were unable to issue a Value for 
Money conclusion as they were considering an objection received from a group of 
electors relating to the Council’s energy from waste scheme.  It was noted that this 
work had not been concluded and Grant Thornton would take the findings into 
consideration before issuing a Value for Money conclusion.  It was noted that a 
Director from Grant Thornton was thoroughly investigating the objection raised and 
would report back to the Committee in due course.  In response to a question, it 
was noted that the Grant Thornton Director had full access to all information 
available.  

In terms of the cost of the objection, David explained that it was difficult to know the 
exact cost at this stage, however, based on similar objections elsewhere it was 
estimated the cost of the objection would be approximately £10-£12K.  Members 
noted that the final fee would depend greatly on the extent of any external advice 
sought as it was a complex piece of investigatory work.  

David Bray explained that the national audit office approach ensured that due 
process was followed in relation to objections, therefore auditors were obliged to 
accept objections unless they were deemed to be vexatious, were based on 
something ‘trivial’ that would be disproportionate to review or had been looked at 
previously with no new information coming to light.  

It was noted that the fee charged for the audit was £98,010.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

4. GRANT THORNTON PROGRESS REPORT 

David Bray presented the report, which detailed the progress Grant Thornton had 
made in delivering their responsibilities as the external auditors.  It was noted that 
Grant Thornton would produce the External Audit plan for 2017/18 in association 
with the Authority.  Members were informed that accounting, audit and emerging 
issues would be flagged up as part of the regular report.  Members were informed 
that internal and external auditors met on a regular basis to discuss any issues that 
may arise

Members were advised that Pete Barber (Engagement Lead) and Katie Whybray 
(Engagement Manager) had been appointed to work with Gloucestershire County 
Council.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE 

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management presented the proposed Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2018/19, which met 
the CIPFA Code of Practice, and governed how the Authority undertook Treasury 
Management activities.  It was noted that the Committee was required to consider, 
comment and recommend the new Treasury Management Strategy to Council for 
approval.  

It was noted that the strategy will be approved by full Council as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and was being submitted to the Audit and 
Governance Committee in accordance with its terms of reference to regularly 
monitor the Council’s Treasury Management policy and practices.

It was noted that the Audit and Governance Committee undertook a detailed 
Treasury Management training session earlier in January 2018, which was well 
attended.  

In response to a question relating to the reduction in the Minimum Revenue 
Provision to £6.2 million, officers explained that it was a saving of £2 million as 
GCC was over providing.  Changing the policy would only slightly  increase the 
payment profile of debt outstanding and therefore it is deemed a positive move.  

In addition, one of the key changes as agreed with Arlingclose the Treasury 
Management Advisors were the lowest risk category approved for use had been 
raised from BBB+ to A-.  

Members referred to the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) which had been revised in 2010, as this required the Council to approve an 
investment strategy before the start of each financial year.  Kathy Oakey, Finance 
Manager, explained that CIPFA had also updated their Code and GCC had used 
this opportunity to amend its MRP Policy to reflect the changes in the Code.  The 
Director of Strategic Finance clarified that investment decisions were delegated to 
lead officers.

In relation to Treasury Management property investment, it was noted that 
Arlingclose, provide the council with advice.  It was noted that investments in 
property were usually deemed to be long term.  Some members felt that it could be 
potentially beneficial to invest in county, in order to benefit local people.  

The Committee was advised that unsecured overnight investments of up to £50k 
was left in the bank, however if the bank defaulted this would be covered by the 
Financial Services Compensation Scheme.   A member questioned if the amounts 
should be a secured limit.  The Director of Strategic Finance agreed to discuss this 
point further with Arlingclose and would report back to the Committee in due 
course.  

In response to a question, members noted that the longest loan term was over a 70 
year period.  Members were informed that ‘Bail-In’ legislation had changed in order 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

to protect councils deposits, moving away from unsecured investments.  The 
Committee attention was drawn to table 2 (page 51 of the report), which detailed 
the investment limits.  It was reported that the limits had been set in accordance 
with Arlingclose advice.  Some members questioned the advice given by 
Arlingclose, however the Director of Strategic Finance explained that they had a 
healthy working relationship and challenged each other on a regular basis.  She 
praised the Finance Team for their hard work and effort, given the positive returns 
achieved.  

In response to a question, it was explained that finance officers had quarterly 
meetings with Arlingclose and if there was any volatility it would be reported back to 
the Committee.  Members noted that an update report was presented to the 
committee at its October meeting.  The Committee felt reassured by these actions.  

Resolved 

That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
2018/19 be commended for approval by Council.   

6. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2016/17 UPDATE 

Stephanie Payne, Group Manager presented the report.  The report provided 
assurance to the Audit and Governance Committee that the improvement actions 
identified as part of the annual review of the governance arrangements operating 
within GCC had been/were being addressed.  It was recommended that the 
Committee reviewed and considered the actions taken to address the governance 
improvement areas identified.

The Committee was advised that four key improvement areas were identified to 
further enhance the governance arrangements and documented within the AGS 
action plan.  These were:
1.     Future Financial Sustainability;
2.     Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services;
3.     Implications of the Policing and Crime Act; and
4.     Contracting / Commissioning Care Services.

Members were referred to the appendix, which confirmed lead officer responses to 
each AGS action – reflecting a positive direction of travel against them.  It was 
noted that that the Audit, Risk and Assurance’s role was to act as a facilitator for the 
update report (i.e. that action delivery was the responsibility of each confirmed lead 
officer). 

It was noted that a further update to Audit and Governance Committee as part of 
the AGS 2017/18 report would take place in July 2018.

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

7. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT & STRATEGY 2018 - 2021 

Stephanie Payne, Group Manager presented the report in detail.  The proposed 
Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy, reflected national good 
practice/standards and aligned with the Council’s operating model.  It was 
explained that the Strategy was now a three year document due to the key 
principles of good risk management practice not changing.  

However, officers would continue to review it annually, and from this point the 
Committee would only expect to see the document prior to the end of the three year 
term or as a result of required change.  Therefore, the Committee was asked to 
review and agree the Strategy.

It was explained that it has always been important for GCC to identify and manage 
its risks as risk management was one of the key principles of effective Corporate 
Governance.   Identifying risks enabled the Council to effectively manage strategic 
decision making, service planning and delivery to safeguard the wellbeing of our 
stakeholders and increased the likelihood of us achieving our outcomes. 

The Committee’s role was to monitor the effectiveness of the Council governance 
arrangements, including risk management.   Members noted that the annual review 
and update of the Council’s Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy was 
led by the Head of ARA.  The Policy was last reviewed and approved by Committee 
in January 2017.  

The Group Manager advised members that there were only very minor changes to 
the strategy.  These were highlighted as the Corporate Risk Management Group 
was to change from virtual to physical, in order to support risk management 
communications, escalation and effective oversight; and the three year term of the 
document.  

Members were referred to the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (part 2 
paragraph 3) which stated that ‘a relevant local authority must ensure that it has a 
sound system of internal control which…includes effective arrangements for the 
management of risk’.  It was noted that the general principles of how risk was 
managed within the Council had not changed.

It was noted that Internal Audit provided an opinion of the effectiveness of risk 
management arrangements when undertaking individual audit assignments which 
provided the Committee with reasonable assurance that risk was being managed 
effectively across the Council. 

A discussion took place relating to risk monitoring and reporting arrangements, it 
was reiterated that risk monitoring and reporting were integral to the corporate 
performance management and monitoring arrangements and was within the 
Overview Scrutiny Management Committee (OSMC) remit.  The Council’s strategic 
risks were reported on a quarterly basis to OSMC.   

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

It was suggested that people had to be proactive and not reactive to risk.  The 
Group Manager referred Members to pack page 85 onwards which confirms 
minimum requirements, their regularity and key roles and responsibilities.  
In addition, the Committee agreed that a link to the Corporate Risk Register be 
included on Members Matter. 

During the discussion, some members questioned data protection and the ability to 
log who had copied documents.  The Director of Strategic Finance explained that 
officer’s had access to lots of data both paper based and electronically.  As such 
key controls were in place in terms of user access, to electronic systems.  As 
access to systems was dependant upon the person’s role.  It was noted that 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) were coming into force as of May 
2018 and this would be accompanied by its own set of rules for vigilance.  

The Committee was asked to approve the Strategy, and once approved it would be 
disseminated to members and managers via a Communications Plan in order to 
reaffirm GCC’s risk management objectives.  

Resolved 

That the Strategy be approved and disseminated to members and managers 
via a Communications Plan, to reaffirm GCCs risk management objectives.

8. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 2017/18 

Stephanie Payne, Group Manager presented the report which informed members 
on the progress of the internal audit activity in relation to the 2017/2018 Internal 
Audit Plan and provided a progress report on the internal audit outcomes from the 
period October to December 2017including the opinions provided on risk and 
control. 

The Committee welcomed the report which provided the relevant risk and control 
assurance opinions in relation to the audit activity during the above period.  The 
report included a graphical summary that highlighted the opinions provided for the 
2017/18 year to December 2017.  This period showed an overall satisfactory and 
above rating of 78% on control and 89% on risk. 

In addition, the Group Manager was pleased to report that during the October to 
December 2017 period that no limited assurance opinions on control or risk had 
been provided on completed audits from the 2017/18 Internal Audit Plan.     

In relation to fraud, it was reported that there were 12 new cases in 2017/18, 
alongside 9 cases that were work in progress from prior year.  Consequently the 
ARA team were ensuring the appropriate resources were in place to investigate 
these cases. 

The Committee discussed the progress report in detail, and were informed that 
Internal Audit also carries out consultancy work as well as assurance activity. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Members were reassured by the processes in place and felt there was positive 
delivery against the Plan to date.

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

9. LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

Stephanie Payne, Group Manager informed the Committee that internal audit would 
do follow up audits on the three areas, this was proposed within the County Internal 
Audit Plan 2018/19

Due to staff illness, the Chairman agreed to defer the limited assurance report on 
Electronic Call Monitoring – All Ages All Disabilities to the April 2018 Committee 
meeting.

Approval of Payments for Agency Staff – Mandy Quayle, Head of HR presented 
the report in detail.  The Committee noted that the contractor’s timesheet and 
vacancy management system (e-tips) requires GCC managers to approve agency 
workers timesheets on a weekly basis, however should they fail to do this e-tip 
would automatically approve the timesheets to enable the individual agencies to 
pay their staff.  It was noted that an update to the system was due on the 1st 
February 2018 and would auto-generate an email to managers to approve the 
timesheets.  This would then enable GCC to monitor which managers were 
approving timesheets and those who weren’t doing so.  

Members felt that the auto-approval rate should be considerably lower.  The 
Committee agreed that all approved spend to agency staff should be authorised by 
a manager.  The Head of HR was requested to look at this option in more detail.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

Section 20 – Gill Horrobin, Interim Strategic Lead for Children in Care presented 
the report in detail.  It was explained that Section 20 was an integral part of the 
Improvement Plan as picked up by Ofsted.  

Members were informed that Section 20 agreements were voluntary arrangements 
between the LA and the parents, where the parent could not provide suitable 
accommodation or care on a temporary or permanent basis.  However, parental 
responsibility remained with the parent until the child returned home and /or 
permanence plans were progressed through the courts.

It was reported that Section 20 agreements were a major issue in Gloucestershire 
and were reported to be at 37%, while the national average was 23%.  The 
Committee agreed it was crucial to streamline and speed up the process, in order to 
significantly reduce the figure.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Members were advised that the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee (CFSC) 
were well aware of the situation and had recently had a meeting with Judge 
Wildblood.  The CFSC were actively monitoring the situation.  

The Committee did request that in future the report detailed which officer was 
responsible for each area, given the staff changes in the service.   The Interim 
Strategic Lead for Children in Care agreed to brief management of the continuity of 
the response.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

10. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report in detail.  The Committee were thanked for previously submitting their 
comments, which had now been included in the policy.  

Members were informed that the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer under 
delegated powers had formally approved the Whistleblowing Policy, which had now 
been disseminated throughout the organisation.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

11. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS PRESENTATION 

Nick Holland, Information Governance Specialist presented the report in 
considerable detail.  The Committee were advised that GDPR was one part of a 
major change in data protection legislation that would replace the Data Protection 
Act 1998 on 25th May 2018.   

Officers explained that under the current legislation GCC had been able to prove 
compliance and had not been fined. GDPR was an EU regulation, and updated 
data protection legislation to reflect the way organisations were now collecting and 
using personal data.  It had been confirmed by the government that the content of 
the GDPR will be reflected in domestic data legislation after Brexit.  It was 
explained that there were a number of changes that the council needs to consider 
when using personal data.  

During the discussion, it was suggested that it would be advisable to host a GDPR 
briefing session for all members, and possibly extend an invitation to the districts on 
the new legislation, in order to make members aware of the risk.  The Monitoring 
Officer agreed to make the necessary arrangements.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The topic of erasure of information was discussed. The Information Governance 
Specialist was requested to discuss the issue with Legal and report back 
accordingly.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 12 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

13. EXEMPT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT 

The Committee received and discussed the report in detail. 

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1:17pm.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit & Governance Committee – 26th January 2018

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 Risk Management 

Policy Statement & 
Strategy 2018/21

The Committee agreed that a link to the 
Corporate Risk Register be included on 
Members Matter.

Andrea Griffiths Completed a note has been 
included on Members Matter, in 
relation to the Risk Register.  

2 Internal Audit Limited 
Assurance Report 

In relation to Approval of Payments for Agency 
Staff, the committee agreed all approved spend 
to agency staff should be authorised by a 
manager.  The Head of HR was requested to 
look at this option in more detail.  

Mandy Quayle It was confirmed that this is 
technically possible and HR are 
currently planning for the changes 
to be built into the next technical 
upgrade.

3 General Date 
Protection Regulations 

The Committee felt it would be beneficial to 
have GDPR briefing presentation, open to all 
members, including the Districts.  The 
Monitoring Officer agreed to make the 
necessary arrangements.  

Jane Burns/Nick 
Holland

Briefing Session arranged for 
27th April 2018 at 10am, in the 
Council Chamber.  The invitation 
has been extended to the Districts.   

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2018

Gloucestershire County Council

February 2018

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 4



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Deep business understanding 4

3. Significant risks identified 5

4. Reasonably possible risks identified 7

5. Other matters 8

6. Materiality 9

7. Value for Money arrangements 10

8. Audit logistics, team & audit fees 11

9. Early close 12

10.  Independence & non-audit services 13

Appendices

A. Revised ISAs 14

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the

Council or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.

We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,

nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Peter Barber

Engagement lead

T:  0117 305 7897

E: peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Audit Manager

T: 0117 305 7601

E: katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

Megan Gibson

In-Charge Auditor

T: 0117 305 7681

E: megan.gibson@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 14



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 3

Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory

audit of Gloucestershire County Council (‘the Council’) for those charged with

governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit

Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin and

end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities are

also set in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities issued by

Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for appointing us as

auditor of Gloucestershire County Council. We draw your attention to both of these

documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on

Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the:

• Financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement) that have been

prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance (the

Audit and Governance committee) and

• Value for Money arrangements in place at the Council for securing economy, efficiency

and effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and

Governance Committee of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Council to

ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that

public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for. We have considered how the

Council is fulfilling these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Council's business and is

risk based.

Significant risks Those risks requiring specific audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have 

been identified as:

• Management over-ride of controls 

• Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

• Valuation of pension fund net liability 

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit 

Findings (ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £15.157m (PY £15m), which equates to 1.9% of your forecast gross expenditure for the 

year. We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with 

governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £757k (PY £750k). 

Value for Money arrangements Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have identified the following VFM significant risks:

• Future financial sustainability 

• Responses to Ofsted’s inspections of children's services 

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in February and our final visit will take place in June.  Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our Audit 

Findings Report.

Our fee for the audit will be no less than £98,010 (PY: £98,010) for the Council.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 

independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements

P
age 15

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/terms-of-appointment/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 4

Deep business understanding

• We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources and your response to the Ofsted report as part of our work in reaching our Value for Money 

conclusion.

• We will consider whether your financial position leads to uncertainty about the going concern assumption and will review any related disclosures in the financial statements. 

• We will keep you informed of changes to the Regulations and any associated changes to financial  reporting or public inspection requirements for 2017/18 through on-going 

discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.

• As part of our opinion on your financial statements, we will consider whether your financial statements reflect the financial reporting changes in the 2017/18 CIPFA Code.

Changes to service delivery

Our response

Key challengesChanges to financial reporting requirements

Commercialisation

The scale of investment activity, primarily in commercial 

property, has increased as local authorities seek to maximise 

income generation. These investments are often discharged 

through a company, partnership or other investment vehicle. 

Local authorities need to ensure that their commercial 

activities are presented appropriately, in compliance with the 

CIPFA Code of Practice and statutory framework, such as the 

Capital Finance Regulations. Where borrowing to finance 

these activities, local authorities need to comply with CIPFA’s 

Prudential Code. A new version was published in December 

2017.

Business Rates Retention

In September 2017, the government published a 100% 

business rates retention pilot for 2018/19. Gloucestershire 

has had a business rate pool in operation since April 2013 

(consisting of the Country and six District councils) and as a 

result has been able to retain £1.455m of additional business 

rates income within the County.

In the draft financial settlement announced on 19 December 

2017, Gloucestershire was successful in becoming a 

Business Rate Retention pilot in 2018/19. 

Indications are that this will result in c.£9.2m of additional 

funding for Gloucestershire, of which the Council ‘s share is 

estimated at £4.6m 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (the Regulations)

The Department of Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) is currently undertaking a review of the Regulations, 

which may be subject to change. The date for any proposed 

changes has yet to be confirmed, so it is not yet clear or 

whether they will apply to the 2017/18 financial statements.

Under the 2015 Regulations local authorities are required to 

publish their accounts along with the auditors opinion by 31 

July 2018.

Forthcoming provisions for IFRS 9 and IFRS 15

CIPFA/LASAAC has issued  a companion publication 

‘Forthcoming provisions for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in the 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom 2018’. 

This sets out the changes to the 2018/19 Code in respect of 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers. It has been issued in advance of 

the 2018/19 Code to provide local authorities with time to 

prepare for the changes

Changes to the CIPFA 2017/18 Accounting Code 

CIPFA have introduced other minor changes to the 2017/18 

Code which confirm the going concern basis for local 

authorities, and updates for Leases, Service Concession 

arrangements and financial instruments.

Ofsted inspection of Children’s services

Ofsted’s report, published on 13 June 2017, on its inspection of 

children’s services in Gloucestershire, concluded that the Council’s 

overall arrangements were inadequate. 

The Council produced an improvement plan which was approved by 

Cabinet on 18 September 2017, working with Essex County Council 

and establishing the Children’s Services Improvement Board to 

oversee the implementation of the Children’s Services Improvement 

Plan. 

The Council committed a £9.2m investment into improving Children’s 

services in 2017/18 and a further £11m for 2018/19 announced when 

the Cabinet published the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy in 

December.

Since the inspection the demand for services has significantly 

increased, putting further pressure on the service. A monitoring visit 

by Ofsted in September 2017 concluded “the local authority must now 

embed and build upon recent improvements”. 

Financial pressures

The Council is forecasting a small overspend for 2017/18 due mainly 

to increased expenditure in the Children and Families directorate. 

Increases in demand for the services, coupled with the improvement 

plans following Ofsted have put pressure on the budget. The 2018/19 

budget is based on a 2.49% council tax increase and a 2% levy for 

Adult Social Care services and includes a savings target of £29.26m 

to be met from the transformation programme. 

P
age 16



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 5

Significant risks identified

Significant risks are defined by professional standards as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration because they have a higher risk of material 

misstatement. Such risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential 

magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue

may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there

is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue

recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature

of the revenue streams at the Council, we have determined that the 

risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 

Gloucestershire County Council, mean that all forms of fraud are 

seen as unacceptable.

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for 

Gloucestershire County Council.

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the 

risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. 

Management over-ride of controls is a risk requiring special audit 

consideration.

We will: 

• obtain a full listing of journal entries and test high risk journal 

entries for appropriateness

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements 

applied and decisions made by management and consider their 

reasonableness 

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or 

significant unusual transactions.

P
age 17



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 6

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of property, 

plant and equipment
The Council revalues its assets on a rolling basis 

over a two year period. To ensure that carrying value 

is not materially different from fair value. This 

represents a significant estimate by management in 

the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of land and buildings 

revaluations and impairments as a risk requiring 

special audit consideration.

We will:

 review management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, the 

instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work

 consider the competence, expertise and objectivity of management’s expert

 discussions with the valuer about the basis on which the valuation is carried out and challenge 

of the key assumptions

 review and challenge of the information used by the valuer to ensure it is robust and consistent 

with our understanding

 testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into the Council's 

asset register

 evaluation of the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the 

year and how management has satisfied themselves that these are not materially different to 

current value.

Valuation of pension 

fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as 

reflected in its balance sheet represent a significant 

estimate in the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of the pension fund net 

liability as a risk requiring special audit consideration.

We will:

 identify the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund liability is not 

materially misstated. We will also assess whether these controls were implemented as expected 

and whether they are sufficient to mitigate the risk of material misstatement

 evaluate the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out your pension 

fund valuation. We will gain an understanding of the basis on which the valuation is carried out

 undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made

 check the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the 

financial statements with the actuarial report from your actuary.

Significant risks identified

P
age 18



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 7

Reasonably possible risks identified

Reasonably possible risks (RPRs) are, in the auditor's judgment, other risk areas which the auditor has identified as an area where the likelihood of material misstatement cannot be 

reduced to remote, without the need for gaining an understanding of the associated control environment, along with the performance of an appropriate level of substantive work. The risk 

of misstatement for an RPR is lower than that for a significant risk, and they are not considered to be areas that are highly judgmental, or unusual in relation to the day to day activities of 

the business.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Employee remuneration Payroll expenditure represents a significant 

percentage (35%) of the Council’s operating 

expenses. 

As the payroll expenditure comes from a number of 

individual transactions and includes some schools 

payroll entries which are not administered by the 

Council there is a risk that payroll expenditure in the 

accounts could be understated. We therefore 

identified completeness of payroll expenses as a risk 

requiring particular audit attention

We will:

• evaluate the Council's accounting policy for recognition of payroll expenditure for

appropriateness

• gain an understanding of the Council's system for accounting for payroll expenditure and

evaluate the design of the associated controls

• undertake a reconciliation of payroll system to the general ledger.

Operating expenses Non-pay expenses on other goods and services also 

represents a significant percentage (58%) of the 

Council’s operating expenses. Management uses 

judgement to estimate accruals of un-invoiced costs. 

We identified completeness of non- pay expenses as 

a risk requiring particular audit attention: 

We will:

• evaluate the Council's accounting policy for recognition of non-pay expenditure for

appropriateness

• gain an understanding of the Council's system for accounting for non-pay expenditure and

evaluate the design of the associated controls

• test for unrecorded liabilities, including review of payments made after the year end;

• review  creditor balances

• review a reconciliation demonstrating that all material sources of expenditure have been 

captured and reconciled to total expenditure in the accounts and that internal transfers have 

been correctly eliminated.

P
age 19



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 8

Other matters

Other work

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other

audit responsibilities, as follows:

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 

Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued and consistent with our 

knowledge of the Council.

• We will read your Narrative Statement and check that it is consistent with the 

financial statements on which we give an opinion and that the disclosures included in 

it are in line with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

• We will carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 

Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions.

• We consider our other duties under the Act and the Code, as and when required, 

including:

• giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2017/18 

financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 

relation to the 2017/18 financial statements; 

• issue of a report in the public interest; and 

• making a written recommendation to the Council, copied to the Secretary of 

State.

• We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material

misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each

material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material

balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will

not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the

appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is

a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK)

570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption and

evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

P
age 20



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 9

Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements

and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and

applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if

they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We propose to calculate financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the

gross expenditure of the Council for the financial year. In the prior year we used the

same benchmark. We have determined planning materiality (the financial statements

materiality determined at the planning stage of the audit) to be £15.158m (PY £15m),

which equates to 1.9% of your forecast gross expenditure for the year. We design our

procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of precision. Lower

materiality has been identified for senior officers remuneration (£5,000) and related

party disclosures (£5,000)

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we

become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a

different determination of planning materiality

Matters we will report to the Audit Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to

our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit

and Governance Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the

extent that these are identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication

with those charged with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or

misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with

governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly

inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any

quantitative or qualitative criteria. In the context of the Council, we propose that an

individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than

£0.757m (PY £0.75m).

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of

the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the

Audit and Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Forecast gross expenditure

£798mm

(PY: £827m)

Materiality

Forecast gross expenditure

Materiality

£15.158m

Whole financial 

statements materiality

(PY: £15.0m)

£0.757m

Misstatements reported 

to the Audit and 

Governance Committee

(PY: £0.75m)

P
age 21



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 10

Value for Money arrangements

Background to our VFM approach

The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work for

2017/18 in November 2017. The guidance states that for local government

bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on whether the Council

has proper arrangements in place.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed

decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable

outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks

Those risks requiring specific audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood that 

proper arrangements are not in place at the Council to deliver value for money.

Future financial sustainability

The on-going challenge of meeting the savings outlined by Central Government continues to

put pressures on Local Government finances. The latest Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFS)

identifies that a further £29.26m of efficiency savings to be delivered in 2018/19.

The Children’s and Families directorate is forecasting an overspend in 2017/18 with the budget

under significant pressure. The outturn position for Children and Families was a £3.83m

overspend for 2016/17.

We will:

• review the Council’s performance against budget for 2017/18

• review the robustness of assumptions in the latest MTFS

• understand the future saving plans and the achievement of savings in 2017/18.

Children's Services

Ofsted’s report, published on 13 June 2017, on its inspection of children’s services in

Gloucestershire, which took place between 27 February and 23 March 2017.

The report found that, overall, Children’s services in Gloucestershire are inadequate. It

concluded:

• the Council’s arrangements for children who need help and protection are inadequate;

• the Council’s arrangements for children looked after and achieving permanence requires

improvement; and

• the Council’s arrangements for leadership, management and governance of children’s

services are inadequate.

The Council is has produced an improvement plan which has been approved by Cabinet.

We will:

• review the improvement actions undertaken by the Council in response to Ofsted’s report.

Informed 

decision 

making

Sustainable 

resource 

deployment

Working 

with partners 

& other third 

parties

Value for 

Money 

arrangements 

criteria

P
age 22



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 11

Audit logistics, team & audit fees

Audit fees

The planned audit fees are no less than £98,010 (PY: £98,010) for the financial statements 

audit. Our fees for grant certification cover only housing benefit subsidy certification, which 

falls under the remit of Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited Fees in respect of other 

grant work, such as reasonable assurance reports, are shown under 'Fees for other 

services'.

In setting your fee, we have assumed that the scope of the audit, and the Council and its 

activities, do not significantly change.

Our requirements

To ensure the audit is delivered on time and to avoid any additional fees, we have detailed 

our expectations and requirements in the following section ‘Early Close’. If the 

requirements detailed overleaf are not met, we reserve the right to postpone our audit visit 

and charge fees to reimburse us for any additional costs incurred.

Pete Barber, Engagement Lead

Peter leads or relationship with you and takes overall responsibility 

for the delivery of a high quality audit, meeting the highest 

professional standards and adding value to the Council.

Katie Whybray, Audit Manager

Katie’s role is to plan, manage and lead the delivery of the Council 

audit. Katie is the key point of contact for the finance team and will 

be in regular discussion with the Council regarding emerging 

issues and developments

Megan Gibson, Audit Incharge

Megan leads the audit fieldwork, ensuring the audit is delivered 

effectively, efficiently and supportively. Megan will be the day to 

day liaison with your finance team and co-ordinate the on-site audit 

team.

Planning and

risk assessment 

Interim audit

February 2018

Year end audit

June 2018

Audit & Governance

committee

6 April 2018

Audit & Governance

committee

26 January 2018

Audit & Governance

committee

27 July 2018

Audit & Governance

committee

12 October 2018

Audit Findings 

Report and Audit 

opinion

Audit Plan and Interim 

Progress Report

Annual 

Audit 

Letter

P
age 23



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 12

Early close

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit or additional audit fees being incurred, you need to 

ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 

us, including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 

accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 

you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 

reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 

agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

In return, we will ensure that:

• the audit runs smoothly with the minimum disruption to your staff

• you are kept informed of progress through the use of an issues tracker and weekly 

meetings during the audit

• we are available to discuss issues with you prior to and during your preparation of the 

financial statements. 

Meeting the early close timeframe

Bringing forward the statutory date for publication of audited local government 

accounts to 31 July this year, across the whole sector, is a significant challenge 

for local authorities and auditors alike. The Council’s accounts were signed off by 

the 31 July in 2016/17 and therefore are well placed to meet the requirements for 

2017/18.

We have carefully planned how we can make the best use of the resources 

available to us during the final accounts period. As well as increasing the overall 

level of resources available to deliver audits, we have focused on:

• bringing forward as much work as possible to interim audits

• starting work on final accounts audits as early as possible, by agreeing which 

authorities will have accounts prepared significantly before the end of May

• seeking further efficiencies in the way we carry out our audits

• working with you to agree detailed plans to make the audits run smoothly, 

including early agreement of audit dates, working paper and data 

requirements and early discussions on potentially contentious items.

We are satisfied that, if all these plans are implemented, we will be able to 

complete your audit and those of our other local government clients in sufficient 

time to meet the earlier deadline. 

Client responsibilities

Where individual clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure 

that this does not impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of 

time, thereby disadvantaging other clients. We will therefore conduct audits in line 

with the timetable set out in audit plans (as detailed on page 11. Where the 

elapsed time to complete an audit exceeds that agreed due to a client not 

meetings its obligations we will not be able to maintain a team on site. Similarly, 

where additional resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client not 

meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit by 

the statutory deadline. Such audits are unlikely to be re-started until very close to, 

or after the statutory deadline. In addition, it is highly likely that these audits will 

incur additional audit fees.

P
age 24



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 13

Independence & non-audit services

Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 

or covered persons. relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us. We will also discuss with you if we make 

additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters.

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2016 which sets out supplementary guidance 

on ethical requirements for auditors of local public bodies. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Ethical Standard. For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant 

Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. 

Non-audit services

The following non-audit services were identified

Service Fees £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related

Certification of teachers’ 

pension return

£4,200 Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  

for this work is low (2016/17 fee: £4,200) in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £98,010 and in particular 

relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element 

to it. These factors mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Independent reasonable 

assurance engagement –

local transport plan major 

project claim. 

£4,200 Self-Interest (because 

this is a potential 

recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  

for this work is low (2016/17 fee: £4,200) in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £98,010 and in particular 

relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element 

to it. These factors mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

P
age 25



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18

Appendices

A. Revised ISAs

P
age 26



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council  |  2017/18 15

Appendix A:  Revised ISAs

Detailed below is a summary of the key changes impacting the auditor’s report for audits of financial statement for periods commencing on or after 17 June 2016.

Section of the auditor's report Description of the requirements

Conclusions relating to going concern We will be required to conclude and report whether:

• the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate 

• the directors have disclosed identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Council’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. 

Other information We will be required to include a section on other information which includes:

• responsibilities of management and auditors regarding other information

• a statement that the opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information unless required by law or regulation

• reporting inconsistencies or misstatements where identified

Additional responsibilities for directors 

and the auditor

We will be required to include the respective responsibilities for directors and us, as auditors, regarding going concern.

Format of the report The opinion section appears first followed by the basis of opinion section.

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2018

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

February 2018

P
age 29



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Deep business understanding 4

3. Significant risks identified 5

4. Reasonably possible risks identified 7

5. Other matters 9

6. Materiality 10

7. Audit logistics, team & audit fees 11

8. Early close 12

9. Independence & non-audit services 13

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the

Fund or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We

do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor

intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T:  0117 3057897

E: Peter.A.Barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Audit Manager

T: 0117 3057601

E: Katie.V.Whybray@uk.gt.com

James Stevenson

Audit In-charge

T: 0117 3057624

E: James.R.Stevenson@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 30



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 3

Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory audit

of Gloucestershire Pension Fund (‘the Fund’) for those charged with governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit

Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin and end

and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities are also set in

the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit

Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for appointing us as auditor of Gloucestershire

Pension Fund. We draw your attention to both of these documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards

on Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on

the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of

those charged with governance (the Audit and Governance Committee).

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and

Governance Committee of your responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Fund's business and

is risk based.

Significant risks Those risks requiring specific audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been 

identified as:

• Risk of management override of controls

• Investment valuation of level 3 investments

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit 

Findings (ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £20.886m, which equates to 1% of your net assets. We are obliged to report uncorrected 

omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at

£1.044m.

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in February and our final visit will take place in June.  Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our Audit 

Findings Report.

Our fee for the audit will be no less than £23,799 (PY: £23,799) for the Fund. Where requests are received from other auditors of other bodies 

for assurance in respect of information held by the Fund and provided to the actuary to support their individual IAS 19 calculations these will 

be billed in addition to the audit fee on a case by case basis.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 

independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements

P
age 31

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/terms-of-appointment/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 4

Deep business understanding

• We will consider whether your financial position leads to uncertainty about the going concern assumption and will review any related disclosures in the financial statements 

• We will keep you informed of changes to the Regulations and any associated changes to financial  reporting or public inspection requirements for 2017/18 through on-going 

discussions

• As part of our opinion on your financial statements, we will consider whether your financial statements reflect the financial reporting changes in the 2017/18 CIPFA Code

• Where any actions have been agreed in respect of matters identified through previous audit work, on the financial statements the planning report should include reference to 

consideration of progress against previously agreed recommendations.

Changes to service delivery

Our response

Key challengesChanges to financial reporting requirements

Pooling

Arrangements for the pooling of investments continue to develop. The DCLG 

have reported on the progress of pools and noted the pace of development, 

including the launching of procurements for pool operators, appointing senior 

officers and preparing applications for Financial Conduct Authority 

authorisation. This remains a challenging agenda, with arrangements 

required to be in place from 1 April 2018. These arrangements will have a 

significant impact on how investments are managed and monitored, with 

much of the operational responsibility moving to the pool operator.  It 

remains key that administering authorities (through Pension Committees and 

Pension Boards) continue to operate strong governance arrangements, 

particularly during the transition phase where funds are likely to have a mix 

of investment management arrangements.

On 18 July 2017 the Brunel Pension Partnership Local Government Pension 

Scheme (LGPS) Funds formally created by BPP Ltd, a £27.5 billion 

investment company with Gloucestershire Pension Fund one of the 

constituent members. The company, a FCA regulated entity, will implement 

the asset allocation strategies for the 10 members LGPS funds. Under these 

new arrangements, the Gloucestershire Pension Fund will retain 

responsibility for setting its investment strategy (or asset allocation), as well 

as the funding and administration strategies. The company structure will be 

in place and operational by April 2018. 

Markets in Financial Instrument Directive (MiFID II)

January 2018 see the implementation of MiFID II.  The impact for Fund is 

that to be able to continue to access the same investments as previously, 

they need to apply to ‘opt up’ and gain election to professional status.  

Without this change in status some financial institutions could terminate their 

relationship with the fund, which may have an adverse impact on the 

achievement of the investment strategy 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (the 

Regulations)

The Department of Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG) is currently undertaking a review 

of the Regulations, which may be subject to change. 

The date for any proposed changes has yet to be 

confirmed, so it is not yet clear or whether they will 

apply to the 2017/18 financial statements.

Under the 2015 Regulations local authorities are 

required to publish their accounts along with the 

auditors opinion by 31 July 2018.

Changes to the CIPFA 2017/18 Accounting Code 

CIPFA have introduced minor changes to the 2017/18 

Code, these include a new disclosure of investment 

manager transaction costs and clarification on the 

approach to investment concentration disclosure.

On-going Matters

• Indexation and equalisation of GMP in public 

service pensions schemes

• Reforms to public sector exit packages and the 

application, or not, of the 2013 Fair Deal changes 

to the LGPS

• SAB work on options for academies within the 

LGPS and review of Tier 3 employer risks

Financial pressures

The overall funding position of the fund as at 31 March 2017 

had improved to 82.1% of the liabilities accrued up to that date. 

Significant short term fluctuations in investments market values 

may be expected during the Brexit transition period. 

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)

GDPR comes into effect in May 2018 and replaces the Data 

Protection Act 1998. It introduces new obligations on data 

controllers. The Fund is both a data controller and a data 

processor and needs to ensure that it has appropriate 

processes in place to comply with the changes being 

introduced.

The Pensions Regulator (TPR) 2016 Governance and 

Administration Survey

The results of this survey were published in May 2017. It was 

noted whilst showing improvements in governance, TPR noted 

that its focus for 2017-18 would be scheme governance, record 

keeping, internal controls and member communication. 

Tolerance for scheme shortcomings in these areas was 

reducing and that they were more likely to use their 

enforcement powers where scheme managers have not taken 

sufficient action to address issues or meet their duties.

P
age 32



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 5

Significant risks identified

Significant risks are defined by professional standards as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration because they have a higher risk of material 

misstatement. Such risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential 

magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue

may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there 

is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 

recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature

of the revenue streams at the Fund, we have determined that the 

risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 

Gloucestershire County Council as the Administering Authority of 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund, mean that all forms of fraud are 

seen as unacceptable.

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the 

risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. 

Management over-ride of controls is a risk requiring special audit 

consideration.

We will:

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements 

applied and decisions made by management and consider their 

reasonableness 

• obtain a full listing of journal entries, identify and test unusual 

journal entries for appropriateness

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or 

significant unusual transactions.

P
age 33



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 6

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The valuation of Level 3 

investments is 

incorrect

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant non-routine 

transactions and judgemental matters.  Level 3 investments by their 

very nature require a significant degree of judgement to reach an 

appropriate valuation at year end.

We will:

• gain an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 

investments and evaluate the design of the associated controls

• review the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what 

assurance management has over the year end valuations provided for  

these types of investments

• consideration of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any 

management experts used

• review the qualifications of the fund managers to value Level 3 

investments at year end and gain an understanding of how the 

valuation of these investments has been reached

• for a sample of investments, test the valuation by obtaining and 

reviewing the audited accounts, (where available) at the latest date for 

individual investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports 

at that date. Reconcile those values to the values at 31 March 2018 

with reference to known movements in the intervening period.

Significant risks identified

P
age 34



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 7

Reasonably possible risks identified

Reasonably possible risks (RPRs) are, in the auditor's judgment, other risk areas which the auditor has identified as an area where the likelihood of material misstatement cannot be 

reduced to remote, without the need for gaining an understanding of the associated control environment, along with the performance of an appropriate level of substantive work. The risk 

of misstatement for an RPR is lower than that for a significant risk, and they are not considered to be areas that are highly judgmental, or unusual in relation to the day to day activities of 

the business.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Contributions Contributions from employers and employees’ represents a 

significant percentage (25%) of the Fund’s revenue. 

We will:

• evaluate the Fund's accounting policy for recognition of

contributions for appropriateness

• gain an understanding of the Fund's system for accounting for

contribution income and evaluate the design of the associated

controls

• test a sample of contributions to source data to gain assurance

over their accuracy and occurrence

• rationalise contributions received with reference to changes in

member body payrolls and the number of contributing pensioners

to ensure that any unusual trends are satisfactorily explained.

This will provide assurance over the completeness of the

contributions included within the accounts.

Pension Benefits Payable Pension benefits payable represents a significant percentage (86%) 

of the Fund’s expenditure.

We will:

• evaluate the Fund's accounting policy for recognition of pension

benefits expenditure for appropriateness

• gain an understanding of the Fund's system for accounting for

pension benefits expenditure and evaluate the design of the

associated controls

• test a sample of individual pensions in payment by reference to

member files

• rationalise pensions paid with reference to changes in pensioner

numbers and increases applied in year to ensure that any

unusual trends are satisfactorily explained. This will provided

assurance over the completeness of the benefits paid included

within the accounts.

P
age 35



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 8

Reasonably possible risks identified

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The valuation of Level 2 investments is 

incorrect

While level 2 investments do not carry the same level of inherent 

risks associated with level 3 investments, there is still an element of 

judgement involved in their valuation as their very nature is such that 

they cannot be valued directly.

We will

 gain an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing Level 2 

investments and evaluate the design of the associated controls.

 review the nature and basis of estimated values and consider 

what assurance management has over the year end valuations 

provided for these types of investments.

 consider the competence, expertise and objectivity of any 

management experts used.

 review the qualifications of the fund managers as experts to 

value the level 2 investments at year end and gain an 

understanding of how the valuation of these investment has been 

reached.

 for a sample of investments, test the valuation by obtaining 

independent information from custodian/manager on units and 

unit prices.

P
age 36



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 9

Other matters
Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material

misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each

material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material

balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will

not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the

appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is

a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK)

570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption and

evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

Other work

The Fund is administered by Gloucestershire County Council (the ‘Council’), and the

Fund’s accounts form part of the Council’s financial statements. Therefore as well as

our general responsibilities under the Code of Practice a number of other audit

responsibilities also follow in respect of the Fund, such as:

• We consider our other duties under the Act and the Code, as and when required, 

including:

• giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2017/18 

financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 

relation to the 2017/18 financial statements; 

• issue of a report in the public interest; and 

• making a written recommendation to the Council, copied to the Secretary of 

State.

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves on the consistency of the pension fund 

financial statements included in the pension fund annual report with the audited 

Fund accounts.

P
age 37



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 10

Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and

the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to

disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable

law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually

or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We propose to calculate financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the net

assets of the Fund for the financial year. In the prior year we used the same benchmark.

We have determined planning materiality (the financial statements materiality determined

at the planning stage of the audit) to be £20.886m which equates to 1% of your net assets

for the prior year. We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower

level of precision.

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we

become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a different

determination of planning materiality. We have identified lower materiality levels for

management expenses (£0.5m), related parties (£0.02m) and senior officer remuneration

disclosures (£0.02m).

Matters we will report to the Audit and Governance Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to

our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit and

Governance Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent

that these are identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with those

charged with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or

misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with

governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly

inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any

quantitative or qualitative criteria. In the context of the Fund, we propose that an individual

difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £1.044m.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the

audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the Audit and

Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior Year Net assets

£2,086.6m

Materiality

Net assets

Materiality

£20.886m

Whole financial 

statements materiality

£1.044m

Misstatements reported 

to the Audit and 

Governance Committee

P
age 38



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 11

Audit logistics, team & audit fees

Audit fees

The planned audit fees are no less than £23,799 (PY: £23,799) for the financial statements 

audit. In setting your fee, we have assumed that the scope of the audit, and the Fund and 

its activities, do not significantly change.

Where requests are received from other auditors of other bodies for assurance in respect 

of information held by the Fund and provided to the actuary to support their individual IAS 

19 calculations these will be billed in addition to the audit fee on a case by case basis.

Our requirements

To ensure the audit is delivered on time and to avoid any additional fees, we have detailed 

our expectations and requirements in the following section ‘Early Close’. If the 

requirements detailed overleaf are not met, we reserve the right to postpone our audit visit 

and charge fees to reimburse us for any additional costs incurred.

Peter Barber, Engagement Lead

Peter leads our relationship with you and is a key contact for the 

Chief Executive, Director of Finance and Audit and Governance 

Committee. Peter takes overall responsibility for the delivery of a 

high quality audit, meeting the highest professional standards and 

adding value to the Pension Fund.

Katie Whybray, Audit Manager

Katie’s role is to plan, manage and lead the delivery of the Pension 

Fund audit. Katie is the key point of contact for the finance team 

and will be in regular contact regarding emerging issues and 

developments.

James Stevenson, Audit In-charge

James is responsible for the fieldwork of the audit engagement, 

leading the onsite team, ensuring communication between the 

pension fund administrators and wider engagement team.

Planning and

risk assessment 

Interim audit

5th February

2018
Year end audit

18th June 2018

Audit & Governance

Committee

April 2018

Audit & Governance

Committee

April 2018

Audit & Governance

Committee

July 2018

Audit 

Findings 

Report

Audit 

opinion

Audit 

Plan

Interim 

Progress 

Report

P
age 39



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 12

Early close
Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit or additional audit fees being incurred, you need to 

ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 

us, including all notes

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 

accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 

you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 

reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 

agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

In return, we will ensure that:

• the audit runs smoothly with the minimum disruption to your staff

• you are kept informed of progress through the use of an issues tracker and weekly 

meetings during the audit

• we are available to discuss issues with you prior to and during your preparation of the 

financial statements. 

Meeting the early close timeframe

Bringing forward the statutory date for publication of audited local government 

accounts to 31 July this year, across the whole sector, is a significant challenge for 

local authorities and auditors alike. The Pension Fund accounts were signed off by 

the 31 July in 2016/17 and therefore are well placed to meet the requirements for 

2017/18.

For authorities, the time available to prepare the accounts is curtailed, while, as 

auditors we have a shorter period to complete our work and face an even more 

significant peak in our workload than previously.

We have carefully planned how we can make the best use of the resources available 

to us during the final accounts period. As well as increasing the overall level of 

resources available to deliver audits, we have focused on:

• bringing forward as much work as possible to interim audits

• starting work on final accounts audits as early as possible, by agreeing which 

authorities will have accounts prepared significantly before the end of May

• seeking further efficiencies in the way we carry out our audits

• working with you to agree detailed plans to make the audits run smoothly, 

including early agreement of audit dates, working paper and data requirements 

and early discussions on potentially contentious items.

We are satisfied that, if all these plans are implemented, we will be able to complete 

your audit and those of our other local government clients in sufficient time to meet 

the earlier deadline. 

Client responsibilities

Where individual clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure 

that this does not impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of 

time, thereby disadvantaging other clients. We will therefore conduct audits in line 

with the timetable set out in audit plans (as detailed on page 11). Where the elapsed 

time to complete an audit exceeds that agreed due to a client not meetings its 

obligations we will not be able to maintain a team on site. Similarly, where additional 

resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client not meeting their 

obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit by the statutory 

deadline. Such audits are unlikely to be re-started until very close to, or after the 

statutory deadline. In addition, it is highly likely that these audits will incur additional 

audit fees.

P
age 40



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 13

Independence & non-audit services

Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 

or covered persons. relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us. We will also discuss with you if we make 

additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters.

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2016 which sets out supplementary guidance 

on ethical requirements for auditors of local public bodies. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Ethical Standard. For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant 

Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Fund. 

Non-audit services

No non-audit services were identified]

P
age 41



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18

Appendices

A. Revised ISAs

P
age 42



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18 15

Appendix A:  Revised ISAs

Detailed below is a summary of the key changes impacting the auditor’s report for audits of financial statement for periods commencing on or after 17 June 2016.

Section of the auditor's report Description of the requirements

Conclusions relating to going concern We will be required to conclude and report whether:

• the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate 

• the directors have disclosed identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Fund’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. 

Material uncertainty related to going 

concern 

We will need to include a brief description of the events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to 

continue as a going concern when a material uncertainty has been identified and adequately disclosed in the financial statements. 

Going concern material uncertainties are no longer reported in an Emphasis of Matter section in our audit report.

Other information We will be required to include a section on other information which includes:

• responsibilities of management and auditors regarding other information

• a statement that the opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information unless required by law or regulation

• reporting inconsistencies or misstatements where identified.

Additional responsibilities for directors 

and the auditor

We will be required to include the respective responsibilities for directors and us, as auditors, regarding going concern.

Format of the report The opinion section appears first followed by the basis of opinion section.

P
age 43



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2017/18

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 44



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund

Year ending 31 March 2018

31 March 2018

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 5



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Results of Interim Audit Work 5

Audit Deliverables 7

Sector Update 8

Links 15

2

P
age 46



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on 

progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes a summary of national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local 

authority.

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a 

section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications. Click on the 

Grant Thornton logo to be directed to the website www.grant-thornton.co.uk .

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T   0117 3057897

M 07800456122

E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 305 7601

M 07900165346

E katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

P
age 47

http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Results of Interim Audit Work

4

Work performed Conclusions and recommendations

Internal audit We have completed a high level review of internal audit's overall arrangements. Our 

work has not identified any issues which we wish to bring to your attention.  

We have also reviewed internal audit's work on the Council's key financial systems to 

date. We have not identified any significant weaknesses impacting on our 

responsibilities.  

Overall, we have concluded that the internal audit 

service provides an independent and satisfactory 

service to the Council and Pension Fund and that 

internal audit work contributes to an effective 

internal control environment.

Our review of internal audit work has not 

identified any weaknesses which impact on our 

audit approach. 

Entity level controls We have obtained an understanding of the overall control environment relevant to the 

preparation of the financial statements including:

• Communication and enforcement of integrity and ethical values

• Commitment to competence

• Participation by those charged with governance

• Management's philosophy and operating style

• Organisational structure

• Assignment of authority and responsibility

• Human resource policies and practices

Our work has identified no material weaknesses 

which are likely to adversely impact on the 

Council and Pension Fund financial statements

Review of information 

technology controls

Our Technology Risk Specialist colleagues will be undertaking a review of IT controls 

for the 2017/18 audit. Discussions have begin with the Council in preparation for  the 

audit due to begin on the 4 April 2018.

We will report any findings from the IT review in 

our audit findings report. 

Journal entry controls We have reviewed the Council and Pension Fund journal entry policies and 
procedures as part of determining our journal entry testing strategy and have not 
identified any material weaknesses which are likely to adversely impact on the 
Council's control environment or financial statements. 

We are in the process of reviewing detailed journal entries to test whether entries are 
appropriately supported by evidence.

Our work to date has identified no material 

weaknesses which are likely to adversely impact 

on the Council and Pension Fund financial 

statements

P
age 48



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018 5

Work performed Conclusions and recommendations

Walkthrough testing We have completed walkthrough tests of the Council’s controls 

operating in the following areas where we consider that  there is a risk 

of material misstatement to the financial statements. 

- - property, plant and equipment valuations

- - operating expenditure

- - payroll

- - pension disclosures

We have also completed walkthroughs of the Pension Fund controls 

operating in the following areas.

- investments

- scheme contributions 

- benefit payments

Our work has not identified any weaknesses which impact on 

our audit approach. 

Early substantive testing We have undertaken early testing in a number of different audit areas, 
including 

- reviewing the instructions for the 201718 valuation programme 
- reviewing the opening balances brought forward in the ledger
- M1-9 expenditure transactions 
- M1-9 other revenue transactions 
- M1-9 Grant revenues 
- obtaining data for a analytical review of Payroll transactions. 
- controls testing for scheme contributions
- controls testing for benefit payments

Our work to date has identified no material weaknesses 

which are likely to adversely impact on the Council and 

Pension Fund financial statements

Other areas
• We will give a verbal update at the Audit and Governance Committee regarding the position of the Local Elector Objection and the closure of the 2016/17 audit

• We have been in regular discussions with finance officers regarding the preparation of the financial statements and to discuss technical updates

• Finance Officers attended our recent Chief Accountants Workshop held in our Bristol Office

• We are currently progressing with our value for money audit and we are reviewing the latest financial position for 2017/18, the budget for 2018/19 and the MTFP as well 

as the response to the Ofsted report. 

P
age 49



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Audit Deliverables

6

2017/18 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2017/18.

April 2017 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance 

Committee for the Council and Pension Fund setting out our proposed approach in order to 

give an opinion on the Council’s 2017-18 financial statements.

February 2018 Complete

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk 

assessment within our Progress Report.

March 2018 Complete

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Reports for the Council and Pension Fund will be reported to the July 

Audit and Governance Committee.

July 2018 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for 

money conclusion.

July 2018 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2018 Not yet due

2016/17 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Outstanding objection and Value for Money conclusion

We are still considering the objection and hoping to provide our provisional view to objectors 

and the Council soon.

April 2018 In progress

P
age 50



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 

emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 

cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 

wider NHS and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to 

the detailed report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find 

out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 

on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 

research publications in this update. We also include areas of 

potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 

with Audit and Governance Committee members, as well as any 

accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

7

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 

specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 51



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Financial sustainability of local authorities 2018

This National Audit Office report reviews financial 

sustainability across  Local Government and examines 

whether the MHCLG, along with other departments with 

responsibility for local services, understands the impact of 

funding reductions on the financial and service sustainability 

of local authorities.

The report concludes that current pattern of growing overspends on services and dwindling 

reserves exhibited by an increasing number of authorities is not sustainable over the medium 

term. The financial future for many authorities is less certain than in 2014, when the NAO 

last looked at financial sustainability. It also notes that the financial uncertainty created by 

delayed reform to the local government financial system risks longer-term value for money.

The NAO’s view is that the sector has done well to manage substantial funding reductions 

since 2010-11, but financial pressure has increased markedly since the 2014 review.. 

Services other than adult social care are continuing to face reducing funding despite 

anticipated increases in council tax. Local authorities face a range of new demand and cost 

pressures while their statutory obligations have not been reduced. Non-social-care budgets 

have already been reduced substantially, so many authorities have less room for manoeuvre 

in finding further savings. The scope for local discretion in service provision is also eroding 

even as local authorities strive to generate alternative income streams.

Key findings include:

• Financial resilience varies between authorities, with some having substantially lower 

reserves levels than others. Levels of total reserves in social care authorities as a whole 

are higher now than in 2010-11. However, there is variation in individual authorities’ 

ability to build up their reserves and differences in the rate at which they have begun to 

draw them down. Some 10.6% of single-tier and county councils would have the 

equivalent of less than three years’ worth of total reserves (earmarked and unallocated 

combined) left if they continued to use their reserves at the rate they did in 2016-17.

• A section 114 notice has been issued at one authority, which indicates that it is at risk of 

failing to balance its books in this financial year. In February 2018, the statutory financial 

officer for Northamptonshire County Council issued a section 114 notice, indicating that it 

was at risk of spending more in the financial year than the resources it has available, 

which would be unlawful.

• MHCLG’s work to assess the sector’s funding requirements as part of the 2015 Spending 

Review was better than the work it undertook for the 2013 Spending Review. The 

Department’s advice to ministers in 2015 drew on a more comprehensive evidence base, 

including data returns from 12 departments.

• The government has announced multiple short-term funding initiatives in recent years 

and does not have a long-term funding plan for local authorities. In 2016-17, the 

Department offered a four-year settlement to all authorities to enable better financial 

planning. However, there have been many changes to funding streams outside this core 

offer. The funding landscape following the 2015 Spending Review has been 

characterised by one-off and short-term funding initiatives. 

• There is also uncertainty over the long-term financial plan for the sector. The absolute 

scale of future funding is unknown until the completion of the next Spending Review. The 

government has confirmed its intention to implement the results of the Fair Funding 

Review in 2020-21 and to allow local authorities to retain 75% of business rates. 

However, the implications of these changes are not yet clear. 

• There is a lack of ongoing coordinated monitoring of the impact of funding reductions 

across the full range of local authority services.

8

P
age 52



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Public Sector Audit Appointments: Report on the 
results of auditors’ work 2016/17

This is the third report on the results of auditors’ work at local 

government bodies published by PSAA. It summarises the 

results of auditors’ work at 497 principal bodies and 9,752 

small bodies for 2016/17. The report covers the timeliness 

and quality of financial reporting, auditors’ local value for 

money work, and the extent to which auditors used their 

statutory reporting powers.

The timeliness and quality of financial reporting for 2016/17, as reported by auditors, 

remained broadly consistent with the previous year for both principal and small bodies. 

Compared with 2015/16, the number of principal bodies that received an unqualified audit 

opinion by 31 July showed an encouraging increase. 83 principal bodies (17 per cent) 

received an unqualified opinion on their accounts by the end of July compared with 49 (10 

per cent) for 2015/16. These bodies appear to be well positioned to meet the earlier statutory 

accounts publication timetable that will apply for 2017/18 accounts.

Less positively, the proportion of principal bodies where the auditor was unable to issue the 

opinion by 30 September increased compared to 2015/16. Auditors at 92 per cent of councils 

(331 out of 357) were able to issue the opinion on the accounts by 30 September 2017, 

compared to 96 per cent for the previous year. This is a disappointing development in the 

context of the challenging new reporting timetable from 2017/18. All police bodies, 29 out of 

30 fire and rescue authorities and all other local government bodies received their audit 

opinions by 30 September 2017.

The number of qualified conclusions on value for money arrangements has remained 

relatively constant at 7 per cent (30 councils, 2 fire and rescue authorities and 1 other local 

government body) compared to 8 per cent for 2015/16. The most common reasons for 

auditors issuing non-standard conclusions on the 2016/17 accounts were:

• the impact of issues identified in the reports of statutory inspectorates;

• corporate governance issues; and

• financial sustainability.

The latest results of auditors’ work on the financial year to 31 March 2017 show a solid 

position for the majority of principal local government bodies. Generally, high standards of 

financial reporting are being maintained despite the financial and service delivery challenges 

currently facing local government.

9

P
age 53

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Changes to the prudential framework of capital 
finance 
The Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 

has updated the Local Authority Investments Guidance and 

the Minimum Revenue following its publication of consultation 

responses on 2 February 2018.

A total of 213 consultation responses were received by the MHCLG by the 22 December 

2017 deadline from across local government. Following consideration of the responses the 

Government has:

• made some technical changes to the Investments Guidance and MRP Guidance

• amended proposals relating to useful economic lives of assets

• implemented the Investments Guidance for 2018-19, but allowed flexibility on when the 

additional disclosure first need to be presented to full Council

• deferred implementation of MRP Guidance to 2019-20 apart from the guidance 

“Changing methods for calculating MRP”, which applies from 1 April 2018.

Key changes are noted below.

Statutory Guidance on Local Authority Investments

Transparency and democratic accountability – the revised guidance retains the 

requirement for an Investment Strategy to be prepared at least annually and introduces 

some additional disclosures to improve transparency. However, as the changes to the 

CIPFA  Prudential Code include a new requirement for local authorities to prepare a Capital 

Strategy, the revised guidance allows the matters required to be disclosed in the Investment 

Strategy to be disclosed in the Capital Strategy.

Principle of contribution – the consultation sought views on the introduction of a new 

principle requiring local authorities to disclose the contribution that non-core investments 

make towards core functions. Authorities’ core objectives include ‘service delivery objectives 

and/or placemaking role.’ This clarification has been made to recognise the fact that local 

authorities have a key role in facilitating the long term regeneration and economic growth of 

their local areas and that they may want to hold long term investments to facilitate this.

Introduction of a concept of proportionality – the Government is concerned that some 

local authorities may become overly dependent on commercial income as a source of 

revenue for delivering statutory services. The consultation sought views on requiring local 

authorities to disclose their dependence on commercial income to deliver statutory services 

and the amount of borrowing that has been committed to generate that income. A majority of 

respondents supported the introduction of a concept of proportionality, recognising the 

importance that local authorities make decisions based on an understanding of the overall 

risk that they face.

Borrowing in advance of need – by bringing non-financial investments (held primarily or 

partially to generate a profit) within the scope of the Investments Guidance, the consultation 

proposals made it clear that borrowing to fund acquisition of non-financial assets solely to 

generate a profit is not prudential. The Investment Guidance requires local authorities who 

have borrowed in advance of need solely to generate a profit to explain why they have 

chosen to disregard statutory guidance.  It is also important to note that nothing in the 

Investment Guidance or the Prudential Code overrides statute, and local authorities will still 

need to consider whether any novel transaction is lawful by reference to legislation.

Minimum Revenue Provision Guidance

The consultation sought views on proposals to update the guidance relating to MRP to 

ensure local authorities are making prudent provision for the repayment of debt.

Meaning of a charge to the revenue account – the Government does not believe that 

crediting the revenue account is either prudent or within the spirit of the approach set out in 

the relevant Regulations. For this reason a charge to the account should not be a negative 

charge.

Impact of changing methods of calculating MRP – the Government does not expect any 

local authority to recalculate MRP charged in prior years due to the proposed changes in 

methodology. 

10

Introduction of a maximum economic life of assets – the 

consultation sought views on setting a maximum useful 

economic life of 50 years for freehold land and 40 years for 

other assets. The MRP Guidance will set a maximum life of 50 

years, but allow local authorities to exceed this where the 

related debt is PFI debt with a longer term than 50 years, or 

where a local authority has an opinion from an appropriately 

qualified person that an operational asset will deliver benefits 

for more than 50 years.

P
age 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

CIPFA publications - The Prudential Code and 
Treasury Management Code 

CIPFA have published an updated ‘Prudential Code for 

Capital Finance in Local Authorities’. Key developments 

include the introduction of more contextual reporting 

through the requirement to produce a capital strategy 

along with streamlined indicators. 

The framework established by the Prudential Code should support local strategic 

planning, local asset management planning and proper option appraisal. The 

objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within this clear framework, that the 

capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable.

Local authorities are required by regulation to have regard to the Prudential Code 

when carrying out their duties in England and Wales under Part 1 of the Local 

Government Act 2003, in Scotland under Part 7 of the Local Government in Scotland 

Act 2003, and in Northern Ireland under Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 

(Northern Ireland) 2011.

11

.

Since the Prudential Code was last updated 

in 2011, the landscape for public service 

delivery has changed significantly following 

the sustained period of reduced public 

spending and the developing localism 

agenda. It reflects the increasing diversity in 

the sector and new structures, whilst 

providing for streamlined reporting and 

indicators to encourage better understanding 

of local circumstances and improve decision 

making.

The introduction of a capital strategy allows 

individual local authorities to give greater 

weight to local circumstances and explain 

their approach to borrowing and investment.

The Code is available in hard copy and 

online.

CIPFA have also published  an updated Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 

and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes. The Code provides 

a framework for effective treasury management in public 

sector organisations. 

The Code defines treasury management as follows:

The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 

money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 

associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 

with those risks. 

It is primarily designed for the use of local authorities (including police and crime 

commissioners and fire authorities), providers of social housing, higher and further 

education institutions, and the NHS. Local authorities in England, Scotland and Wales 

are required to ‘have regard’ to the Code.

Since the last edition of the TM Code was published in 2011, the landscape for public 

service delivery has changed significantly following the sustained period of reduced 

public spending and the developing localism agenda.

There are significant treasury management portfolios within the public 

services, for example, as at 31 March 2016, UK local authorities had 

outstanding borrowing of £88bn and investments of £32bn

.The Code is available in hard copy and online.

P
age 55



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

The adult social care workforce in England

This National Audit Office report considers the Department of 

Health & Social Care’s role in overseeing the adult social care 

workforce and assesses whether the size and structure of the 

care workforce are adequate to meet users’ needs for care 

now, and in the future, in the face of financial challenges and 

a competitive labour market.  

The Department of Health and Social Care is not doing enough to support a sustainable 

social care workforce. The number of people working in care is not meeting the country’s 

growing care demands and unmet care needs are increasing, according to the report. While 

many people working in care find it rewarding, there is widespread agreement that workers 

feel undervalued and there are limited opportunities for career progression, particularly 

compared with similar roles in health. In 2016-17, around half of care workers were paid 

£7.50 per hour or below (the National Living Wage was £7.20 in 2016-17), equivalent to 

£14,625 annually. This, along with tough working conditions and a poor image, prevents 

workers from joining and remaining in the sector.

There are around 1.34 million jobs in the adult social care sector in England, across more 

than 20,300 organisations. The turnover rate of care staff has been increasing since 2012-13 

and in 2016-17 reached 27.8%. The vacancy rate in 2016-17 for jobs across social care was 

6.6%, which was well above the national average of 2.5%-2.7% However, demographic 

trends suggest that demand for care will continue to increase and people’s cares needs will 

continue to become more complex. To meet these challenges, the Department estimates 

that the workforce will need to grow by 2.6% every year until 2035.

The social care market is operating in challenging circumstances. Care providers, already 

under financial pressures, are struggling to recruit and retain workers and are incurring 

additional costs as a result. Local authorities spent 5.3% less on care in 2016-17 compared 

with 2010-11, and spending is expected to reduce further over the next two years due to 

continued government funding cuts and increased financial pressures on local authorities.  

Uncertainty over funding is limiting local authorities’ ability to plan future spending on care.

The Department cannot demonstrate that the sector is sustainably funded, which impacts 

workforce planning. Around 65% of independent providers’ income comes from local 

authority-arranged care. The vast majority of local authorities are paying fees to homecare 

providers that are below the recommended minimum price for care, putting providers in 

financial difficulties. Furthermore, local authorities are not paying the full cost for care home 

placements. If this continues, there is a risk providers will not continue to invest in areas 

where there are high proportions of people receiving local authority funded care.

The Department has no national strategy to address this workforce challenge and key 

commitments it has made to help make the sector more attractive, through enhanced 

training and career development, have not been followed through. Furthermore, the NAO 

has not found any evidence that the Department is overseeing workforce planning by local 

authorities and local health and care partnerships, which commission care, to help with the 

challenge. Without a national strategy to align to, few local areas have detailed plans for 

sustaining the care workforce.

The NAO has recommended that the Department produces a robust national workforce 

strategy with the support of the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

and that it encourages local and regional bodies to align their own plans to it. The 

Department also needs to invest more to enable commissioners to set appropriate fees for 

providers, so they can pay staff adequately and afford to offer career development and 

training opportunities.

12

P
age 56

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/The-adult-social-care-workforce-in-England.pdf


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Supply Chain Insights tool helps support supply 
chain assurance in public services

Grant Thornton UK LLP has launched a new insights and 

benchmarking platform to support supply chain assurance 

and competitor intelligence in public services. 

The Supply Chain Insights service is designed for use by financial directors and procurement 

professionals in the public sector, and market leaders in private sector suppliers to the public 

sector. It provides users with a detailed picture of contract value and spend with their supply 

chain members across the public sector. The analysis also provides a robust and granular 

view on the viability, sustainability, market position and coverage of their key suppliers and 

competitors.

The platform is built on aggregated data from 96 million invoices and covers £0.5 trillion of 

spending.  The data is supplemented with financial standing data and indicators to give a 

fully rounded view. The service is supported by a dedicated team of analysts and is available 

to access directly as an on-line platform.

Phillip Woolley, Partner, Grant Thornton UK LLP, said: 

"The fall-out from the recent failure of Carillion has highlighted the urgent need for robust and 

ongoing supply chain monitoring and assurance.  Supply Chain Insights provides a clear 

picture of your suppliers’ activities across the sector, allowing you to understand risks, 

capacity and track-record.  We think it’s an indispensable resource in today’s supplier 

market." 

The tool enables you to immediately:

• access over 96 million transactions that are continually added to

• segment invoices by:

• –– organisation and category

• –– service provider

• –– date at a monthly level

• benchmark your spend against your peers

• identify:

• –– organisations buying similar services

• –– differences in pricing

• –– the leading supplier

• see how important each buyer is to a supplier

• benchmark public sector organisations’ spend on a consistent basis

• see how much public sector organisations spend with different suppliers

Supply Chain Insights forms part of the Grant Thornton Public Sector Insight Studio portfolio 

of analytics platforms.

Click on Supply Chain Insights for more information.

13

P
age 57

http://supplychaininsights.grantthornton.co.uk/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Gloucestershire County Council | March 2018

Grant Thornton website links

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/commercial-healthcheck-in-local-authorities/

http://www.cfoinsights.co.uk/

http://supplychaininsights.grantthornton.co.uk/

PSAA website links

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/

MHCLG website links

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/capital-finance-guidance-on-local-government-investments-second-edition

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/capital-finance-guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision-third-edition

CIPFA website link

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book

National Audit Office link

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/

14

Links

P
age 58

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/commercial-healthcheck-in-local-authorities/
http://www.cfoinsights.co.uk/
http://supplychaininsights.grantthornton.co.uk/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/capital-finance-guidance-on-local-government-investments-second-edition
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/capital-finance-guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision-third-edition
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Auditing Standards – Communication with the 

Audit Committee 

Gloucestershire County Council & Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
Audit year ending 31 March 2018 
 

Last updated 31 March 2018  

 

 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Introduction 1 

Fraud Risk Assessment 2 

Law and Regulation 8 

Going Concern  10 

Related Parties 13 

Accounting Estimates 15 
 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Accounting Estimates 18 
 

Contents 

Page 62



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 1 

 

The purpose of this report is to ensure there is effective two-way communication 
between the Council's Audit Committee, who are 'those charged with governance' 
and the external auditor. 

As your external auditors for both the Council and the Pension Fund we have a 
responsibility under professional auditing standards to ensure there is effective 
communication with the Audit Committee. This means developing a good working 
relationship with Committee members, while maintaining our independence and 
objectivity. If this relationship works well it helps us obtain information relevant to 
our audit and helps Audit Committee members to fulfil their financial reporting 
responsibilities. The overall outcome is to reduce the risk of material misstatement. 

In planning and performing our audit of the Council's and the Pension Fund's 
financial statements we need to understand how the Audit Committee, supported by 
the Council's management, meets its responsibilities in the following areas. 

 Fraud 

 Law and regulation 

 Going Concern 

 Related parties 

 Accounting for estimates 
 

This report summarises the Audit Committee, management's and the external 
auditor's responsibilities in each of these areas, as explained in the International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs).  Our primary responsibility is to 
consider the risk of material misstatement. 

Each section of the report includes a series of questions that management have 
responded to. Responses cover arrangements for both the Council and Pension 
Fund.  

We would like to ask the Audit Committee to consider these responses and confirm 
that it is satisfied with the arrangements in place. 

Introduction 

Page 63



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 2 

 

The ISAs define fraud as: 

"An intentional act by one or more individuals among management, those charged 
with governance, employees, or third parties, involving the use of deception to 
obtain an unjust or illegal advantage." 

[ISA (UK&I) 240, paragraph 11] 

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud is with the Audit Committee 
and the Council's management. To do this: 

 officers need to ensure there is a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and 
deterrence, with a commitment to honest and ethical behaviour; and 

 the Audit Committee oversight needs to include the consideration of the 
potential for the override of controls and inappropriate influence over the 
financial reporting process. 
 

As your auditors our overall responsibility is for obtaining reasonable assurance that 
the Council's financial statements are free from material misstatement due to either 
fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit, which means considering the potential for the intentional manipulation of the 
financial statements. 

We are also required to carry out a fraud risk assessment to inform our audit 
approach.  This includes considering the following: 

 how management assesses the risk of material misstatement in the financial 
statements due to fraud 

 officers' response to assessed fraud risk, including any identified specific risks 

 investigations into data matches identified through the National Fraud Initiative 
and subsequent outcomes 

 how officers communicate the processes for assessing and responding to fraud 
risk to the Audit Committee 

 how officers communicate its views on ethical behaviour to the Audit Committee 

 how the Audit Committee exercises oversight of officers' fraud risk assessment 
and response processes and the internal controls to mitigate these risks 

 what knowledge the Audit Committee has of actual, alleged or suspected fraud. 

 

Table 1 below sets out how officers have responded to our fraud risk assessment. 

. 

 

Fraud Risk Assessment 

Page 64



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 3 

Table 1: Fraud Risk Assessment 

 

Question Management response 

1.  What is management’s assessment of the risk of 
material misstatement in both the Council's and 
Pension Fund financial statements due to fraud? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
-Is this consistent with the feedback from your risk 
management processes? 

Low residual risk due to current controls 
and likelihood assessment considering 
past history and Internal Audit (IA) 
reports. 
 
The Council’s financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with CIPFA’s 
Code of Practice and any divergence 
from the Code is clearly identified within 
the accounts. 

Changes in government funding and 
business rates scheme will continue to 
be reflected in the statements. 
 

Yes 
 
Corporate Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy and associated 
toolkits and guidance clearly states 
financial and fraud risks are key 
categories of risk to be considered when 
delivering outcomes. 
 
The quarterly corporate performance 
reports to Cabinet bring together 
monitoring information on performance, 
finance and risk for the authority. 
 
Director of Finance owns two strategic 
financial risks on the Council’s Strategic 
Risk register which are monitored and 
reported on quarterly. 
 
The Pension Fund risk register is 
regularly reviewed by the Pension 
Committee and local Pension Board. 

2.  Are you aware of any instances of fraud, either 
within the Council as a whole or within specific 
departments since 1 April 2017? 

Yes, these are reported to the Head of 
Paid Service, Chief Financial Officer 
and Monitoring Officer on a monthly 
basis. 
 
In addition all are reported within the 
internal audit monitoring reports to the 
Audit and Governance Committee which 
are available on the GCC website. 
 

Page 65



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 4 

Question Management response 

3.  Do you suspect fraud may be occurring, either 
within the Council or within specific departments? 
-  Have you identified any specific fraud risks? 
 
 
 
- Do you have any concerns there are areas that 

are at risk of fraud? 
 
 
-  Are there particular locations within the Council 

where fraud is more likely to occur? 

14 referrals to IA within 2017/18 all of 
which were reviewed and/or 
investigated. 
 

Regular updates on fraud/irregularities 
provided to Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer. 
 

Quarterly update reports highlighting 
key outcomes to Audit and Governance 
Committee. 
 

Fraud Risk assessment – Inherent risks 
include payroll, procurement, treasury 
management, pension payments, 
access to cash and third party 
payments. Emerging risks identified 
within Direct Payments. This area has 
been reviewed by Adults, Children, and 
IA. Areas of risks identified will be 
included where necessary within the 
Internal Audit plan for 2018/19. 
  

Financial risk mitigated via good internal 
financial controls/ annual internal audit 
review of key financial systems. 
 

Insurance – Fidelity Guarantee policy 
which provides fraud cover for all GCC 
employees plus additional cover for 
those employees deemed to be a high 
risk to the council from a financial 
perspective. 

4.  Are you satisfied that the overall control 
environment, including: 

 
 

-   the process for reviewing the system of internal 
control;   

-  internal controls, including segregation of 
duties; exist and work effectively? 

-  If not where are the risk areas? 
- What other controls are in place to help 

prevent, deter or detect fraud?  

Yes the 2017/18 Chief Internal Auditor’s 
annual opinion on the internal control 
environment is satisfactory.  

Please refer to the Annual Governance 
Statement, the revised Local Code of 
Corporate Governance (which includes 
a self-assessment against the 7 key 
principles of good governance) plus the 
enhanced assurance gathering 
framework/process, Annual Report on 
IA activity and the Annual Report on 
Risk Management Activity. This includes 
assurances on good governance from 
Service Heads as well as Directors, 
Lead Cabinet Member review and Head 
of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer oversight and 
challenge. 

Page 66



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 5 

Question Management response 

Annual Report on IA activity and the 
Annual Report on Risk Management 
Activity. 

Effective External and Internal Audit.  
 

The Council revised its Anti Fraud and 
Corruption Policy Statement and 
Strategy, Anti Bribery and Anti Money 
Laundering Policies during 2016/17 and 
disseminated in accordance with an 
approved communications plan, mostly 
during 2017/18. The Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy will be updated in 
2018/19 to reflect new legislation which 
came into force in 2017, together with 
the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy. 
The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy is 
due for review in 2019/20. 
 
A fraud risk assessment is undertaken 
by Internal Audit (IA) to direct IA 
resources as part of the risk based 
internal audit planning. 
 
Fraud risk is one of the key categories 
of risk within the Council’s risk 
management framework. 
 
Member of National Anti Fraud Network 
(NAFN). The Council is regularly notified 
of fraud attempts aimed at other 
members and subsequently the 
appropriate service areas are made 
aware of these fraud risks, such as the 
Business Service Centre, Strategic 
Finance and schools via Schoolsnet. 
 
IA is a member of peer groups such as 
Midland Counties Chief Auditors Fraud 
Group and County Chief Internal 
Auditors Group to share good practice 
etc. 
 
Participants in the National Fraud 
initiative (NFI). 
 
Dedicated Counter Fraud specialists 
within Internal Audit (professionally 
qualified). 
 
 

Page 67



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 6 

Question Management response 

Joint working with NHS Counter Fraud 
Service for joint funding cases. 
 
Membership of Gloucestershire’s Fraud 
Hub. 
 
Staff fraud awareness briefings. 
 

5. How do you communicate to employees about 
your views on business practices and ethical 
behaviour? 

 - How do you encourage staff to report their 
concerns about fraud? 

-  What concerns are staff expected to report 
about fraud?  

The whistle blowing policy within the 
Employee Code of Conduct was 
reviewed by the Monitoring Officer 
during 2017/18, following which a 
communications plan is to be rolled out 
to staff, including interactive awareness 
training. This communications plan may 
carry through into 2018/19. Internal 
Audit and other key stakeholders were 
given the opportunity to make 
suggestions for amendment at the same 
time.  

 

Sections of the code of conduct 
continued to be highlighted to staff 
within 2017/18 by a global email with a 
link to an article within the bi-monthly 
produced newsletter, ’Talk Smart’.  
 

In addition, the AGS assurance 
gathering process requests 
management assurances that staff are 
aware of the required ethical conduct 
behaviours. 
 
All potential concerns re 
fraud/irregularities are required to be 
notified under the Council’s confidential 
reporting procedure ‘Whistleblowing’ 
 
The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer are 
made aware and fully briefed on all such 
activity. 

6.  From a fraud and corruption perspective, what are 
considered to be high-risk posts? 
-  How are the risks relating to these posts 

identified, assessed and managed? 

Qualified finance and ICT staff fill the 
high risk posts, especially those with 
certification responsibilities.  These are 
managed as part of general 
management arrangements. 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 7 

Question Management response 

Fidelity Guarantee Insurance Policy 
protects the council against employee 
fraud risks. The Insurer requires 
confirmation of the effectiveness of 
employee recruitment checks and 
financial systems and processes. Also, 
increased levels of cover are in place in 
respect of higher risk officers. This 
information is collated annually by 
Insurance Services for renewal 
purposes. 
 

7. Are you aware of any related party relationships or 
transactions within the Council's or Pension Fund 
accounts that could give rise to instances of 
fraud? 
-  How do you mitigate the risks associated with 

fraud related to related party relationships and 
transactions? 

No. Full disclosure of related party 
relationships is obtained annually from 
all members and senior officers as per 
the requirements of the relevant Codes 
of Conduct 
 
All Contractors working with the Council 
are required to have appropriate levels 
of insurance cover to protect the Council 
from financial loss. 
 

8.  What arrangements are in place to report fraud 
issues to Audit Committee? 

Quarterly Internal Audit reports provided 
to the Audit and Governance Committee 
which include outcomes relating to fraud 
/ irregularity. 
 
Opinions on the effectiveness of risk 
management arrangements are 
provided by IA on each internal audit 
activity. 
 
Annual report on Risk Management 
activity provided to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Included within 
the annual report is the annual 
transparency report on fraudulent 
activity. 
 

Corporate performance and risk reports 
provided to Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 
 

Regular updates to the Head of Paid 
Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer on all such activity. 
 

AGS assurance gathering process 
requests management assurances that 
risk (including fraud risk) is fully 
considered when delivering 

Page 69



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 8 

Question Management response 

outcomes/objectives. 

9. Have any reports been made under the Bribery 
Act 

No 

10. Are you aware of any significant transaction 
outside the normal course of business? 

No 

 

  

Page 70



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 9 

Auditing standards (ISA 250) require us to consider the impact that law and 
regulation and litigation may have on the Council's financial statements.  The 
factors that may result in particular risks of material misstatement due to fraud or 
error are: 

 the operational regulatory framework - this covers the legislation that governs 
the operations of the Council 

 the financial reporting framework - according to the requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the Code of Accounting for Local Authorities in 
England and relevant Directions 

 taxation considerations - for example compliance with Value Added Tax and 
Income Tax regulations 

 government policies that otherwise impact on the Council's business 

 other external factors 

 litigation and claims against the Council. 
 

Where we become aware of information about a possible instance of non-
compliance we need to gain an understanding of it to evaluate the possible effect 
on the financial statements. 

The Auditing Standards (ISAs) also require us to make enquiries of management 
and the Audit Committee about the arrangements in place to comply with law and 
regulation. To help with this, management have responded to the following 
questions. 

Table 2:  Law and Regulation 

 

Question Management response 

1.  How does management gain assurance that all 
relevant laws and regulations have been 
complied with? 

Internal Audit (Risk Based Internal 
Auditing) compliance with legislation 
reviews. 
 
Management assurance via the 
performance/risk management 
monitoring and reporting 
arrangements. 
 

Assurances received for, and set out 
in, the AGS. 
 
Regular attendance at technical 
updates from CIPFA and external 
auditors to ensure all changes to 
standards are noted and acted on. 
 

Law and Regulation 

Page 71



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 10 

Question Management response 

 
Reports from the Monitoring Officer 
where applicable. 
 
Regular Statutory Officers i.e. 
CEO/MO and CFO meetings. 
 
Legal support is available to all 
Council departments. 
 

2.  How is the Audit Committee provided with 
assurance that all relevant laws and regulations 
have been complied with? 

Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Internal and External Audit reports. 
 
Risk Management reports. 
 
Reports from the Monitoring Officer 
as applicable. 
 
Audited Statement of Accounts 
 

3. Have there been any instances of 
noncompliance with law and regulation since 1 
April 2016? 

 

The Council does have negligence 
claims however the AGS assurance 
gathering process specifically 
requests that non compliance with 
the law is highlighted. 
 

4. Is there any actual or potential litigation or 
claims that would affect the Council's or Pension 
Fund's financial statements? 

The Council does have negligence 
claims, however, Insurance services 
commission an actuarial review of 
the council’s risk profile (as a 
minimum triennially). However, this 
may be carried out more frequently if 
the Council’s risk profile alters 
significantly which in turn influences 
the level of funds required to pay 
claims. 
 
The council’s insurance programme 
is based on the Council’s risk profile 
and reviewed and updated 
accordingly with MARSH, our 
insurance brokers annually. 
 

6. Have any of the Council's service providers 
reported any items of fraud, non-compliance 
with laws and regulations or uncorrected 
misstatements which would affect the financial 
statements? 

None that we are aware of.   
Quarterly Internal Audit reports 
provided to the Audit and 
Governance Committee which 
include outcomes relating to fraud / 
irregularity. 

Page 72



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 11 

Question Management response 

 
These would not affect the financial 
statements. 

7. Have there been any examinations, 
investigations or inquiries by any licensing or 
authorising bodies or the 

    tax and customs authorities? 
 

None that we are aware of. 

Page 73



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 12 

Going concern is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements.  
Under the going concern assumption, a council is viewed as continuing in operation 
for the foreseeable future with no necessity of liquidation or ceasing trading.  
Accordingly, a council’s assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that assets 
will be realised and liabilities discharged in the normal course of business.  A key 
consideration of going concern is that the Council has the cash resources and 
reserves to meet its obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable future. 

The Auditing Standards (ISAs) also require us to make enquiries of management 
and the Audit Committee about the going concern assumption. To help with this, 
management have responded to the following questions. 

Table 3 – Going concern 

Question 

Management response 

1.  How does management gain assurance that the 
entity is a going concern for the Council and the 
Pension Fund? 

The Council’s MTFS covers 
the three years 2018/19 to 
2020/21.  An integral part of 
the Council’s MTFS and 
budget approval framework is 
to consider the Council’s 
financial strategy, financial 
assumptions, and financial 
risks. 
 
The Strategic Finance 
Director’s advice is that the 
reserve levels are adequate, 
the financial standing of the 
Council is sound, and the 
2018/19 budget is robust and 
achievable. 
 
Regular budget monitoring 
reports are reported to 
Cabinet and Scrutiny. 
 
Detailed cash flow monitoring 
is undertaken within Finance. 
Aged debt reports are 
produced and circulated to 
appropriate staff for action. 
 
An actuarial valuation of the 
Pension Fund including a 
review of employer 

Going concern 

Page 74



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 13 

Table 3 – Going concern 

Question 

Management response 

contributions takes place 
every 3 years to ensure 
funding levels are 
appropriate. 
 

2.  Are the financial assumptions (e.g., future levels 
of income and expenditure) consistent with the 
Council's Business Plan and Pension Fund 
projections and the financial information 
provided to the Council throughout the year? 
Are there any current adverse financial 
indicators including negative cash flow? 

An integral part of the 
Council’s MTFS and budget 
approval framework is to 
consider the Council’s 
financial strategy, financial 
assumptions, and financial 
risks. 
 
Robust budget monitoring and 
outturn forecasts are regularly 
undertaken throughout the 
year and reported to Cabinet 
and Scrutiny. 
 
The MTFS and budget 
framework provides the 
Strategic Finance Director 
with the assurance that 
reserve levels are adequate; 
and the financial standing of 
the Council is sound, with a 
budget that is robust and 
achievable.   
 
Yes the Pension Fund’s 
Funding Strategy Statement 
is in line with the assumptions 
and projections used by the 
actuary. 
 

There are no current adverse 
financial indicators 
 

3. Are the implications of statutory or policy 
changes appropriately reflected in the Business 
Plans, financial forecasts and report on going 
concern for both the Council and Pension 
Fund? 

Yes.   
 
Any changes to standards will 
be reflected in the MTFS 
and/or the regular financial 
reports to Cabinet and 
Scrutiny.  
 
Briefing documents would be 
produced for the Audit and 
Governance Committee if 
relevant. 

Page 75



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 14 

Table 3 – Going concern 

Question 

Management response 

The LGPS scheme changes 
applicable from 2014 were 
reflected in the assumptions 
used by the actuary in the 
2016 Triennial Valuation of 
the Pension Fund 

4. Does the Council have sufficient staff in post, 
with the appropriate skills and experience, 
particularly at senior manager level, to ensure 
the delivery of the Council’s and Pension Fund 
objectives? 
If not, what action is being taken to obtain those 
skills? 

The Council’s “new operating 
model” is well established and 
appropriate senior 
management arrangements 
ensure sufficient senior 
staffing resource, with 
appropriate skills, are 
targeted towards priority 
areas following staff turnover.   
 
The continuing evolution of 
finance function and structure 
reflects the changes in the 
way financial support is 
provided within GCC, with 
appropriately skilled staffing 
resources targeted towards 
business critical areas. 
 
Staffing levels for the Pension 
Fund have been reviewed 
and have been increased to 
help meet the additional 
administrative requirements of 
the 2014 scheme. Staffing 
Levels will continue to be kept 
under review. The CIPFA 
Knowledge & Skill framework 
for the Pension Fund is used 
and the relevant staff are 
required to receive 
appropriate training.  
 

5. Have there been any significant issues raised 
with the Audit Committee during the year which 
could cast doubts on the assumptions made? 
(Examples include adverse comments raised by 
internal and external audit regarding financial 
performance or significant weaknesses in 
systems of financial control). 

 
No 

Page 76



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 15 

 

For local government bodies, the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom (the Code) requires compliance with IAS 24: Related party 
disclosures. The Code identifies the following as related parties to local government 
bodies: 

 entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or 
are controlled by the Council (i.e. subsidiaries) 

 associates and joint ventures 

 an entity that has an interest in the Council that gives it significant influence over 
the Council 

 key officers, and close members of the family of key officers 

 post-employment benefit plan (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the 
Council, or of any entity that is a related party of the Council. 
 

The Code notes that, in considering materiality, regard should be had to the 
definition of materiality, which requires materiality to be judged from the viewpoint of 
both the Council and the related party. 

Accounting standards (ISA 550) requires us to review your procedures for 
identifying related party transactions and obtaining an understanding of the controls 
that you have established to identify such transactions. We will carry out testing to 
ensure that the related party transaction disclosures made in the financial 
statements are complete and accurate. 

Table 3: Related Parties 

 

Question Management response 

1.  Who are the Council's and Pension Fund's 
related parties? 

GCC’s Related Parties include 
County Council Members and 
Senior Officers. GFirst, Police, 
Health Bodies where joint 
working arrangements exist. 
Amey Highways Contractor and 
Waste Contractor. 
 
Re the Pension Fund, staff 
advising the Pension Committee 
have post employment benefits 
in the Pension Fund. 
 
 
 
 

Related Parties 

Page 77



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 16 

Question Management response 

2.  What are the controls in place to identify, 
account for, and disclose, related party 
transactions and relationships? 

For GCC, annual declarations.  
At year end a detailed review is 
undertaken for all service areas 
to identify significant related 
parties, including an assessment 
of any entities that could be 
significantly influenced by the 
council. 
 
Details of key staff are provided 
in the Annual Accounts and the 
Pension fund’s Annual Report 
 
 
 

  

  

Page 78



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 17 

Local Government bodies need to apply appropriate estimates in the preparation of 
their financial statements. ISA (UK&I) 540 sets out requirements for auditing 
accounting estimates. The objective is to gain evidence that the accounting 
estimates are reasonable and the related disclosures are adequate. 

Under this standard we have to identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement for accounting estimates by understanding how the Council identifies 
the transactions, events and conditions that may give rise to the need for an 
accounting estimate. 

Accounting estimates are used when it is not possible to measure precisely a figure 
in the accounts. We need to be aware of all estimates that the Council are using as 
part of their accounts preparation; these are detailed in Appendix 1 to this report. 

The audit procedures we conduct on the accounting estimate will demonstrate that: 

 the estimate is reasonable; and 

 estimates have been calculated consistently with other accounting estimates 
within the financial statements. 

  

Accounting Estimates 

Page 79



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 18 

 

 

Table 5 

 

Estimate Method/model used 

to make the estimate 

Controls used to 

identify estimates 

Whether Management 

have used an expert 

Underlying assumptions:  

-  Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty 

 -  Consideration of 

alternative estimates 

 

Has there been 

a change in 

accounting 

method in year? 

Appendix 1 Accounting Estimates 

P
age 80



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 19 

Estimate Method/model used 

to make the estimate 

Controls used to 

identify estimates 

Whether Management 

have used an expert 

Underlying assumptions:  

-  Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty 

 -  Consideration of 

alternative estimates 

 

Has there been 

a change in 

accounting 

method in year? 

Council - Property 
plant & 

equipment (PPE) 
valuations 

For the 2017/18 
accounts valuations 
will be made by 
Internal Valuers in 
line with RICS 
guidance. 
A revaluation of 
assets has 
traditionally been 
carried out on a 5 
year cyclical basis, 
however to comply 
with CIPFA’s Code 
of Practice this 
cycle is being 
changed to 2 years 
to ensure the rolling 
programme values 
categories of assets 
within year. 
 
Assets not valued 
during the year are 
the subject of 
review to ensure 
realistic values are 
in the accounts, 
within the new two 
year rolling 
programme. 

Finance team 
instructs Valuers of 
the areas and 
categories of the 
program to be 
valued and any 
conditions that may 
impact on that 
valuation. 

Valuations are 
made by Internal 
Valuers, with 
appropriate 
professional 
qualifications.  A 
local economic 
review is provided 
by external valuers. 

Valuations are made in-
line with RICS guidance 
with reliance on experts. 

No 

P
age 81



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 20 

Estimate Method/model used 

to make the estimate 

Controls used to 

identify estimates 

Whether Management 

have used an expert 

Underlying assumptions:  

-  Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty 

 -  Consideration of 

alternative estimates 

 

Has there been 

a change in 

accounting 

method in year? 

 The Council’s 
Internal Valuer is 
asked to consider 
whether there has 
been any 
impairments of 
assets in year. This 
is a year-end 
assessment for 
impairment. 
 

Valuers review 
assets held and 
discuss with finance 
staff any known 
events in year which 
may have impacted 
on the value. 

   

P
age 82



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 21 

Estimate Method/model used 

to make the estimate 

Controls used to 

identify estimates 

Whether Management 

have used an expert 

Underlying assumptions:  

-  Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty 

 -  Consideration of 

alternative estimates 

 

Has there been 

a change in 

accounting 

method in year? 

Council - Estimated 
remaining useful 
economic life (UEL) 
of PPE & 
Depreciation 
 
 

The remaining UEL 
of an asset is 
calculated by the 
Internal Valuer 
during the valuation 
rolling programme 
following the RICS 
guidance. 
Depreciation is then 
calculated on a 
straight line basis in 
line with IAS 16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Council uses 
the information 
provided by the 
Internal Valuer for 
UEL of assets and 
then uses the 
standard straight 
line depreciation 
formula suggested 
in ISA 16 

Valuations are 
made by the 
Internal Valuer. 

The method makes some 
assumptions about asset 
lives and how asset are 
being used, which by 
their nature contain a 
degree of uncertainty 
because of the long 
period of time being 
considered. 

No 

P
age 83



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 22 

Estimate Method/model used 

to make the estimate 

Controls used to 

identify estimates 

Whether Management 

have used an expert 

Underlying assumptions:  

-  Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty 

 -  Consideration of 

alternative estimates 

 

Has there been 

a change in 

accounting 

method in year? 

Council - Pension 
(IAS 19) 

Reliance on 
information provided 
by actuary about 
assumptions on 
population and 
future economic 
growth. 

Members and 
contribution rates 
are known and 
shared with actuary. 
Actuary uses 
population and 
economic data to 
make estimates of 
future liabilities and 
assets 

Pension Actuary There is a degree of 
estimation uncertainty as 
projection of assets and 
liabilities are over a very 
long term. However 
actuary uses most up to 
date information to make 
their assumptions. No 
other alternative 
estimation techniques 
have been identified. 

No 

P
age 84



 

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 23 

Estimate Method/model used 

to make the estimate 

Controls used to 

identify estimates 

Whether Management 

have used an expert 

Underlying assumptions:  

-  Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty 

 -  Consideration of 

alternative estimates 

 

Has there been 

a change in 

accounting 

method in year? 

Pension Fund – 
Investment returns  

Securities to be 
valued on a Fair 
Value Basis 
therefore assets, 
where there is an 
active and readily 
available market 
price, are valued at 
the bid (selling) 
price and liabilities 
on an offer (buying) 
price basis. Where 
assets do not 
actively trade 
through established 
exchange 
mechanisms a price 
is obtained from the 
manager of the 
investment asset.  
 

Estimates are 
based on known 
investments held at 
the year end.  

Reliance on the 
information provided 
by investment 
managers 

There is an inherent risk 
in calculating fair value of 
investments at a point in 
time, however the SORP 
sets out the approach 
and the estimates are 
made by the 
management experts 

No 

P
age 85



 

 

 

 

 
 

 www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 © 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 
 

"Grant Thornton" means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership. 
 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd ('Grant Thornton 
International'). Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership.  
Services are delivered by the member firms independently. 
 

This publication has been prepared only as a guide. No responsibility can be accepted by us for loss 
occasioned to any person acting or refraining from acting as a result of any material in this publication. 

P
age 86



Audit and Governance Committee

Date: 6th April 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit’s Risk and Control Assurance framework
Internal Audit Plan 2018/2019

Purpose of Report: To provide the Committee with a summary of the proposed 2018/2019 
Risk Based Internal Audit Plan as required by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS) 2017.

Recommendations: That the Committee:
 Notes that the Internal Audit Plan for 2018/19 makes adequate 

provision for the risks arising from organisational change; and

 Approve the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan. 

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer – Head of Audit Risk Assurance Shared Service and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services. Tel: 01452 
328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker – Director: Strategic Finance 
Tel no: 01452 328469.
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Risk Based Internal Audit Plan (Risk and 
Control Assurance Programme) will impact on the statutory 
requirement to provide the Council with an annual independent audit 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s control environment 
comprising risk management, control and governance.

Page 87

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Internal Audit Plan
2018 - 2019

Page 89



Internal Audit Plan 2018-2019

1

Background

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that a 
relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance”.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises that the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 2017 as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards define the 
way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertake its functions.

The standards also require that an opinion is given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s control environment comprising risk management, control and governance, which is 
informed by the work undertaken by the Service.

Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

What is Internal Auditing?

The role of the internal auditor is to provide independent, objective assurance to management that 
key risks are being managed effectively. To do this, the internal auditor will evaluate the quality of 
risk management processes, systems of internal control and corporate governance frameworks, 
across all parts of an organisation, and to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of these 
arrangements. As well as providing assurance, an internal auditor’s knowledge of the management 
of risk enables them to act as a consultant and provide support for improvement in an organisation's 
procedures. For example, at the development stage of a major new system where the internal 
auditor can help management to ensure that risks are clearly identified and appropriate controls put 
in place to manage them. 

Why is assurance important? 

By reporting to senior management that important risks have been evaluated, and highlighting 
where improvements are necessary, the internal auditor helps senior management to demonstrate 
that they are managing the organisation effectively on behalf of their stakeholders. Hence, internal 
auditors, along with senior management and the external auditors are a critical part of the 
governance arrangements of our organisation, our work significantly contributing to the statutory 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 

Development of the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan

To enable the above, the Chief Internal Auditor is required to produce an Annual Risk Based Internal 
Audit Plan to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity. The proposed activity should be 
consistent with the organisation’s priorities and objectives and taking into account the organisation’s 
risk management framework, including risk appetite levels set by management and internal audit’s 
own judgement of risks. 

Page 90



Internal Audit Plan 2018-2019

2

How did we develop the plan? - Risk Based Internal Audit Planning (RBIAP)

To ensure our internal audit resources continue to be focussed accordingly, it is essential that we 
understand our clients’ needs, which means building relationships with our key stakeholders, 
including other assurance providers, in order to gain crucial insight and ongoing ‘intelligence’ into the 
strategic and operational change agendas within our organisation. 

This insight is not only identified at the initial development stages of the plan but dialogue continues 
throughout the financial year(s) which increases the ability for the internal audit service to adapt 
more closely to meet the assurance needs of the Council, particularly during periods of significant 
change. Our plan therefore needs to be dynamic and should be flexible to meet these needs. 

How did we achieve the above?

To ensure that an effective plan is developed, each Principal Auditor has been nominated as the 
‘Client’s Lead Auditor’ supporting at least one of the Directors.  A wide ranging consultation process 
took place with senior management across the Council to establish priorities and agree the format 
and timetabling of ongoing dialogue. This ongoing dialogue between senior management and the 
‘Client Lead’ Auditor is formulated dependent upon the change agenda in the area, but is at least 
quarterly. 

In addition to these senior management meetings, similar consultation was held with the Chairman 
of the Audit and Governance Committee, External Auditors and the Finance Managers. The 
proposed activity from all sources was collated and matched against the internal audit resources 
available and prioritised accordingly. The proposals, following challenge, have been approved by the 
Corporate Management Team (CoMT) and the Director: Strategic Finance. 

A flexible audit plan - Risk and Control Assurance Programme

The audit plan is stated in terms of estimated days input to the Council of 1625 audit days, which is 
comparable to last year. By continuing to apply risk based internal audit planning principles this level 
of input, with the ability to commission internal audit resources from current audit framework 
agreements as required, is considered acceptable to provide the assurance the Council needs. The 
Chief Internal Auditor will however, continue to reassess audit resources against the Council’s 
priorities and risks and will amend the plan throughout the year based on in year risk / need / 
demand, reporting any key changes to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Overview of Internal Audit’s Risk and Control Assurance Programme

In order to provide a high level overview of the proposed risk and control assurance programme the 
charts below highlight the allocation of audit resources per:

 Functional service areas (clusters); and
 Category of review.

Page 91



Internal Audit Plan 2018-2019

3

Page 92



Internal Audit Plan 2018-2019

4

The key points to highlight within the proposals are:

 There is a proportional split, based on risk, between each of the functional service areas to 
enable the provision of an annual audit opinion, however more focus has been directed to 
children and families operating practices;

 Continued focus on ICT risks and counter fraud activity, which includes the use of Data 
Analytics to help support more efficient and effective internal audit practices;

 Continued emphasis on providing assurance that the Council’s key strategic and operational 
risks are being effectively managed; 

 Focussed assurance activity on key national legislative changes e.g. General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR);

 Considering national high profile risk exposures e.g. Equal Pay; and 

 Taking into consideration other assurance providers.

The detail supporting this overview is attached at Appendix 1 which shows:

 Audit activity per service area;

 Name of the audit activity;

 Reason for the audit i.e. as a result of risk based internal audit planning (RBIAP) and link to 
the Council’s Strategic Risk Register, statutory requirement, grant certification, etc;

 Outline scope of the review. (please note that a detailed terms of reference is agreed with 
the client prior to the commencement of every audit to ensure audit activity is continually 
focused on the key risks and is undertaken within agreed time periods, to ensure our service 
adds value to the Council); and

 The priority of the audit i.e. Priorities 1 and 2. The aim is to focus on priority 1 audits, with the 
priority 2 audits being reassessed in the eventuality of any new emerging risk areas 
highlighted where assurances may be required, or where additional fraud investigations / 
irregularities materialise.

Page 93



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19 Appendix 1

5

Council Wide

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Data Analytics Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The Council is seeing an increase in the digitisation of their operations, resulting in a growth 
of data across all business functions.  To align with this objective, Internal Audit is currently 
developing a data analytics strategy to be implemented during 2018/2019. Data Analytics is 
proving to be a useful internal audit tool as councils become more reliant on electronic data, 
as data analytics enables a vast amount of data to be analysed when selecting testing 
samples, also utilising IT to discover new capabilities and unlock key information to help 
identify and reduce inefficiencies and control weaknesses, eliminate waste, fraud and 
abuse, and improve productivity.

Priority 1

Core Council 

Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS)

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Asset 
Management and 
Property 
Services (AMPS) 
Contracts

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

Property Services procure and manage a number of contracts for the authority as a whole 
such as: Catering (Schools and Shire Hall); cleaning and caretaking; ground maintenance; 
free school meals; key holders; waste collection from GCC properties; and the print contract. 

Each year Internal Audit will review one or more of these contracts looking at the 
procurement and/or the contract management arrangements. Catering was reviewed in 
2017/18. This audit will focus on the Cleaning and Caretaking contract.

Priority 1

P
age 94



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

6

Business Service Centre (BSC)

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

PO Box 
Addresses

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

Recent data analytical work identified that Gloucestershire County Council has over 800+ 
companies whose only contact addresses is a PO Box number.

Discussions with the BSC have confirmed that no specific/additional checks are undertaken 
on the validity of businesses using a PO Box address. Whilst it is acknowledged that PO 
Box addresses are used by companies (often as a way of diverting post to the correct team 
within larger organisations) it is possible that the use of PO Box addresses may be being 
used by fraudsters to give the appearance of a genuine company.

This bespoke piece of work will:

 Look to review the validity of the PO Box addresses currently recorded on SAP;

 Inform the counter fraud team and the BSC of any irregularities identified; and

 Make recommendations on the minimum level of checks to be completed carried out 
before setting a business.

Priority 1

P
age 95



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

7

Finance

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Bank 
Reconciliations

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The accurate and timely processing of bank reconciliations is a fundamental control process 
to ensure the integrity of the transactions in the accounting system.  There are four main 
bank accounts, namely:

 ‘A’ account - used for vendor payments;
 ‘C’ account - used for payroll payments;
 County Fund (receipts); and
 Pension Fund bank account - used for pension receipts and payments.

This audit will examine the reconciliation processes that are currently in operation in respect 
of the ‘A’ and ‘C’ accounts to verify their accuracy, completeness, frequency and regularity.

Priority 1

Capital 
Programme

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The Council’s Capital Programme over the next five years 2017/18-2020/21 within the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy totals £504 million.  It is therefore vital that the programme 
is effectively managed from prioritisation of capital bids, approval to inception, through to 
completion.

This review will seek to provide assurance that the Council has a robust governance 
framework in place for management of the Capital Programme and is compliant with good 
practice requirements.  

Priority 1

P
age 96



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

8

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Journals and 
Virements

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

As part of Internal Audit’s review of key financial controls, a review of the journal process will 
be undertaken.  This audit will include selecting a sample of journal entries to test 
compliance with the journal authorisation process (Accounting Instruction 18).  In addition, 
the audit will also review the compliance with the Council’s virement policy (Accounting 
Instruction 19).

Priority 1

Retrospective 
Orders 

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

Limited Assurance 
Follow Up

Retrospective orders are occurring more frequently across Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) than expected, with approximately 10,000 being produced in SAP on an annual basis 
with an approximate value of £35 million. Inappropriate use of retrospective orders increases 
the risk to the Council of duplicate/fraudulent orders and payments, disputes and legal 
consequences, ineffective budget management and the non-achievement of Value for 
Money. 

The Council’s Financial Regulations and Accounting Instruction 1(AI No.1) require that all 
orders should be placed in advance of receipt of the relevant good/service, unless the 
expenditure type is stated within the agreed exception list or the expenditure is part of a 
recurring contract or purchased through petty cash or via a purchase card.

A sample of retrospective orders reviewed by Internal Audit in 2017 identified a level of 92% 
non compliance with AI No.1 resulting in a limited assurance for both risk identification 
maturity and control environment. 

This follow-up audit will review the progress made with the agreed recommendations and 
through sample testing ascertain whether current level compliance with AI No.1 has 
improved.

Priority 1

P
age 97



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

9

Information Management 

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

General Data 
Protection 
Regulation 
(GDPR) 
Compliance

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) is a regulation 
by which the European Parliament, the Council of the European Union and the European 
Commission intend to strengthen and unify data protection for all individuals within the 
European Union (EU). 

When the GDPR takes effect, it will replace the Data Protection Directive (officially Directive 
95/46/EC)[2] of 1995. The regulation was adopted on 27 April 2016. It becomes enforceable 
from 25 May 2018 after a two-year transition period and, unlike a directive, it does not 
require national governments to pass any enabling legislation, and is thus directly binding 
and applicable

The aim of this audit would be to review whether the Council has an effective framework in 
place for ensuring that personal information gathered is only used for the purpose for which 
it was originally intended.

Priority 1

 

P
age 98



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

10

HR

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Approval of 
Payments for 
Agency Staff 

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Limited Assurance 
Follow Up

Agency staff are engaged by the Council through an organisation which acts as a broker to 
liaise with recruitment agencies rather than GCC dealing direct with agencies.  The contract 
to supply agency workers was retendered in 2016/17 and was taken over by the new 
provider, De Poel, in October 2016.  Expenditure is in excess of £4m per annum and is 
mainly related to social care.

The system is such that managers should approve employee’s timesheets on a weekly 
basis however, should they fail to do this then the system will auto approve the timesheets 
to enable the individual agencies to pay their staff. 

This audit will review the progress made against the recommendations in the 2017 audit, 
which resulted in a limited assurance opinion.

Priority 1

P
age 99



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

11

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Equal Pay Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Equality Act 2010 gives women (and men) a right to equal pay for equal work. It 
replaces previous legislation, including the Equal Pay Act 1970, the Sex Discrimination Act 
1975, and the equality provisions of the Pensions Act 1995.  The terms of the Equality Act 
2010 relating to equal pay are known as the ‘equality of terms provisions’.

Equal pay applies not only to salary, but to all contractual terms of employment, such as 
bonuses, holiday entitlement, company cars, pension contributions and other benefits. For 
listed authorities with 150 or more employees there is a specific requirement to publish 
information relating to the protected characteristics of the authority’s employees. 

The review will deliver data analytics on GCC payroll and HR information to identify any 
equal pay anomalies/trends and feedback results to the BSC and/or HR for further review 
and action. 

Priority 1

IR35 Off-payroll 
working through 
an intermediary

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

IR35 is tax legislation that is designed to combat tax avoidance by workers supplying their 
services to clients via an intermediary, such as a limited company, but who would be an 
employee if the intermediary was not used. Such workers are referred to as 'disguised 
employees' by Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC).

The Council is responsible for deciding if off-payroll working rules apply when procuring 
services and if the rules do apply they must deduct tax and Class 1 National Insurance 
Contributions and report them the HMRC.

This review will seek to determine whether the council has effective arrangements in place 
to ensure that it conforms to these regulatory requirements.

Priority 1

P
age 100



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

12

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Safer 
Recruitment

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

Safer Recruitment is the safeguarding and protection of children, young people and 
vulnerable adults during the recruitment and selection process. All organisations which 
employ staff or volunteers to work with children, young people and vulnerable adults have a 
duty to safeguard and promote their welfare. 

The guidance applies to all adults who have contact with children, young people and 
vulnerable adults through their work whether in a paid or voluntary capacity. It applies to 
permanent, temporary and agency staff and to those recruited from overseas. It also applies 
to staff who do not have direct responsibility for children, but who will have contact with 
children within the organisation and will be seen as safe and trustworthy and/or have access 
to confidential and sensitive information e.g. administrative staff, receptionists, caretakers, 
maintenance workers.

The purpose of safer recruitment is to help deter, reject or identify potential staff that might 
abuse children or are otherwise unsuitable to working with them by carrying out all 
necessary pre-employment checks.

This audit would look to provide assurance that the safer recruitment procedures are being 
followed.

Priority 1

P
age 101



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

13

ICT to include audits provided by ICT external auditors

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

ICT Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The ICT audits will be identified following the ICT audit needs assessment. The assessment 
will be compiled by the Internal Audit Service ICT audit specialists and will consider input 
from both Council officers and External Audit.

Priority 1

P
age 102



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

14

Pensions

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Pensions 
(GDPR)

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) is a 
regulation by which the European Parliament, the Council of the European Union and the 
European Commission intend to strengthen and unify data protection for all individuals 
within the European Union (EU). 

When the GDPR takes effect, it will replace the Data Protection Directive (officially 
Directive 95/46/EC)[2] of 1995. The regulation was adopted on 27 April 2016. It becomes 
enforceable from 25 May 2018 after a two-year transition period and, unlike a directive, it 
does not require national governments to pass any enabling legislation, and is thus 
directly binding and applicable.

The audit will review whether the Pension Service is compliant with the LGA guidance on 
LGPS Funds adherence to GDPR requirements. 

Priority 1

Pensions (ICT) Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The ICT audits will be identified following the ICT audit needs assessment. The assessment 
will be compiled by the Internal Audit Service ICT audit specialists and will consider input 
from both Council officers and External Audit. Pension information security and cyber 
security review will be considered as part of this process. 

Priority 1

P
age 103



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

15

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Receipt and 
Accounting for 
Contributions

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

Approximately £100m is received into the Pension Fund on an annual basis for employers 
(£84m) and employees (£17m) pension contributions. Due to the high value of the 
contributions it is important that all of the contributions are received in a timely manner 
and that an efficient reconciliation process is undertaken to ensure that all the expected 
contributions are actually received and appropriately coded.  

This audit will have two key objectives:

 A probity review to ensure that all expected contributions are actually received in a 
timely manner; and

 A systems review to ensure that the processing and reconciliation of the pension 
contributions is as efficient as possible.

Priority 1

P
age 104



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

16

Adults 

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Adults Single 
Programme

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Adults Single Programme aims to improve outcomes and quality of Adult Social Care 
delivery (maximising independence for Gloucestershire residents), together with releasing 
financial efficiencies. The focus of the work programme is informed from the ongoing work 
being undertaken by the management consultants and has six key themes. All projects will 
have a savings target against them.

This review will seek to determine whether there are effective budget monitoring 
arrangements in place to track the progress of the identified savings targets.

Priority 1

Best Value Policy Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Local authorities have a duty to make best value decisions. The council seeks to operate 
within its financial means and to maximise the use of available resources so that meeting 
the needs and preferences of individuals is fairly balanced against meeting those of the local 
population generally. Demographic trends suggest that the demand for social care will 
continue to increase so it is essential that resources are used sustainably and allocated 
fairly.

This review will seek to determine whether there is a robust control framework in place for 
ensuring that the best possible value for money is obtained, whilst ensuring that assessed 
needs are met, risks managed and agreed outcomes are achieved .

Priority 1

Brokerage Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The County Council will assess an individual’s needs for care and support against national 
criteria. Once the individual’s needs are determined, it may be agreed that the Council will 
make the necessary arrangements for the service user’s care support. 

This review will seek to determine if there are robust systems and processes in place for 
brokering care support and that these are operating effectively.

Priority 1

P
age 105



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

17

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Deprivation of 
Liberty 
Safeguards 
(DoLS)

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Article 5 of the Human Rights Act states that 'everyone has the right to liberty and security 
of person. No one shall be deprived of his or her liberty [unless] in accordance with a 
procedure prescribed in law'. The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards is the procedure 
prescribed in law when it is necessary to deprive of their liberty a resident or patient who 
lacks capacity to consent to their care and treatment in order to keep them safe from 
harm.

This review will seek to determine whether council has adequate arrangements in place 
for managing/authorising DoLS.  

Priority 1

Direct Payments 
– Payment Cards

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Every service user who is assessed as being eligible for support receives an allocation of 
funding; this is called a personal budget. Should the service user choose to manage all or 
part of their care arrangements the Council pays all or a proportion of the personal budget to 
the service user, this is then called direct payments.

Direct payments and personal budgets are central to implementing the government’s 
personalisation and self directed support policies; giving social care service users more 
independence, choice and control over how their support needs are met.

The Regulations require direct payments to be routinely reviewed at least once every 12 
months to make sure that the arrangements are meeting the service users needs and that 
funds have been appropriately managed.

The Council has recently introduced a payment card system for the management and 
monitoring of direct payments. 

This review will seek to determine whether the new systems and processes for monitoring 
direct payments under this new arrangement are operating effectively.

Priority 1P
age 106



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

18

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Electronic Call 
Monitoring 

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Limited Assurance 
Follow Up

Electronic call monitoring is a method of recording the date, time and amount of time spent 
with a person or persons receiving social care. It also allows for care delivery information to 
be provided in real-time and can aid the streamlining of financial processes, removing much 
of the administrative burden and expense of timesheet management and billing.

During 2015/16 the council introduced the use of an Electronic Call Monitoring system within 
supported living settings, with a view to further roll out of electronic call monitoring under the 
new contract for the provision of domiciliary care services.  

During 2016/2017 Internal Audit undertook a review of the effectiveness of the Council’s 
new arrangements for monitoring contract compliance for the delivery of care in supported 
living settings using the ECM system. The findings emanating from the review resulted in a 
limited assurance opinion being given in respect of the control environment.

This review will seek to determine whether the recommendations emanating from the 
2016/17 Internal Audit have now been fully implemented, and that there are also adequate 
arrangements in place for monitoring contractual compliance in respect of domiciliary care 
services.  

Priority 1

P
age 107



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

19

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Gloucestershire 
Adult 
Safeguarding 
Board – Audit 
Sub Group

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Consultancy

The work of the Audit Sub-Group is one of the key elements in the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB) Quality Assurance Framework, which is designed to:

 Provide a means of assuring the GSAB that effective structures are in place to 
improve the outcomes and experience of safeguarding for adults with care and 
support needs at risk of abuse or neglect; and 

 Provide the GSAB with the information it needs to identify potential risks and 
assurance that actions are being taken to mitigate those risks and improve services. 

One of the Audit Sub-Group’s responsibilities is to complete an agreed multi agency annual 
programme of planned audits in response to emerging themes or areas of concern - 
identified by GSAB, its Management Committee or the Audit Group (in agreement with 
GSAB).

This consultancy review will seek to determine whether there is a robust framework in place 
for ensuring the effective identification, assessment and delivery of the multi agency annual 
programme of planned audits.

Priority 1

P
age 108



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

20

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Gloucestershire 
Care Partnership

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Consultancy

The Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) is a special purpose vehicle, the shareholders 
of which are the Orders of St John Care Trust (OSJCT) and the Bedfordshire Pilgrims 
Housing Association (BPHA). 

The arrangement is made up of two coterminous interdependent elements in the form of a 
commercial agreement and a service contract for the day-to-day provision of care. These 
relationships are covered by a 35-year contract.

In terms of its commercial significance, under the Council’s corporate framework for 
managing contracts it is categorised as being a Platinum contract, i.e. high in terms of 
business criticality and contract spend.  It is therefore paramount that this contractual 
relationship is effectively managed to ensure that quality, service and cost outcomes are 
being met or exceeded.

Internal Audit will provide risk and control advice to management during 2018/19 as the 
future of these contractual arrangements are reviewed.

Priority 1

Market 
Management

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

By relying on third parties, local government exposes itself to business resilience and 
reputational risks. There have been some relatively recent heavily published supplier 
failures within the adult residential social care market and, as Grenfell has demonstrated, 
ultimate responsibility cannot be delegated.

This review will seek to determine whether the council has adequate arrangements in place 
to manage/reduce supplier risk within adult social care and ensure that there are effective 
contingency arrangements should provider failure occur.

Priority 1

P
age 109



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

21

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Mental Capacity 
Assessments

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) provides a statutory and quality framework to 
empower and protect some of the most vulnerable people in society.  It makes it clear who 
can take decisions, in which situations, and how they should go about this in respect of 
people who lack capacity to make particular decisions for themselves.  It also enables any 
member of the community to plan for the time when they may lack capacity.

Internal Audit will provide risk and control advice to the project to assist the development of 
an assurance framework for ensuring that quality MCA2 assessments are being undertaken 
in line with internal and external regulations.

Priority 1

NHS Accessible 
Information 
Standards

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Accessible Information Standard (AIS) was introduced by NHS England in 2015 to 
ensure that NHS Services and providers of publicly funded adult social care routinely 
identify and meet the communication and information support needs of people accessing 
their services, and those of their carers (and parents) where appropriate. 

The AIS is mandatory for all providers across the NHS and publicly funded adult social care 
services. This includes care homes, nursing homes and day care as well as providers of 
adult social care from the voluntary and community or private sectors.

This review will seek to determine whether the council has adequate arrangements in place 
to ensure that it is compliant with the five mandatory AIS requirements across Adult Social 
Care Services.

Priority 1

P
age 110



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

22

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Standards of 
Proficiency for 
Social Workers

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Standards of Proficiency for social workers set out what a social worker in England 
should know, understand and be able to do when they complete their social work training so 
they can register with the Health and Care Professional Council. The standards set out clear 
expectations of social workers knowledge and abilities when they start practicing; and social 
workers must continue to meet the standards.

This review will seek to determine whether the council has effective governance 
arrangements in place to manage and monitor compliance against the practice standards.

Priority 1

Winter Planning 
– Discharge 
Beds

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The NHS is under unprecedented demand, and the cold weather can bring added pressure, 
so it is vital that there are robust local plans in place to meet the year round demands.

For most people, hospital treatment is successful and they are able to return home. 
However, some need to be transferred to other forms of care. Effective discharges in these 
cases require joined-up working otherwise delays in transfer of care can occur.

This audit will review whether there are effective arrangements in place for winter planning 
and that these beds are being utilised, as intended, and to their optimum in line with the 
agreed processes.

Priority 1

P
age 111



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

23

Children and Families 

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Case Load 
Management

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Following the recent OFSTED inspection, GCC has recruited additional social workers in 
order to reduce the number of cases being managed by social workers at any one time.  
Ideally, each social worker should have no more than 18 cases.  Recent evidence has 
shown that some social workers still have in excess of 21 cases.

This audit will review a random sample of social workers and the cases that they are 
managing across the Localities.  The audit will seek to provide assurance that the cases 
are being stepped down, escalated or closed as necessary in a timely manner and that the 
failure to do this is not contributing to any excessive number of cases being managed by 
social workers.

Priority 1

ContrOCC Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

ContrOCC is an electronic payment system that was implemented in November 2015 for 
managing contract and payment information in Children’s social services, e.g. calculating 
payments to all in-house foster carers, Short-Breaks, Special Guardianship Orders, 
Adoption Allowances, Section 17 payments, Direct payments, Taxis, etc.

The benefits include providing improvements to the efficiency of payment processes, 
allowing the LA to build up a full picture of the service costs for a client; the impact on the 
budget commitment is calculated and displayed to the user at the point of authorisation; and 
the link through to payments processing in SAP is seamless, meaning that payments can be 
processed automatically.

This audit will review the effectiveness of the administration of the system (the management 
of staff sickness, holidays and staff changes, and payment run checks), how information is 
input and the controls that are in place to reduce human error; the system’s ability to provide 
timely and accurate payments to carers; and clear and useful management reporting.

Priority 1

P
age 112



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

24

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Missing Children Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

‘Missing’ is defined as anyone whose whereabouts cannot be established and where the 
circumstances are out of character or the context suggests the person may be the subject of 
crime or at risk of harm to themselves or another.

Children and young people go missing for a variety of reasons.  The job of the authorities is 
to record and investigate missing person reports in order to work to prevent children and 
young people from being harmed / exploited.

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Board (GSCB) provides a multi-agency 
framework to ensure that all agencies in the county work together to safeguard children.

In January 2014, the Department for Education released new statutory guidance on children 
who run away or go missing from home or care. Local authorities are now required to offer 
young people reported missing an independent return interview (someone not involved in 
caring for the young person).

This audit will review GCC’s compliance to the missing children protocol to ensure that all 
the requirements are being met, e.g. that the data is entered on the IT systems, that return 
interviews are being undertaken and that there is sufficient engagement where required.

Priority 1

P
age 113



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

25

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Nursery 
Education 
Funding – Audit 
Process

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Nursery Education Funding (NEF) is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant and is 
based on the Early Years census.  The budget for NEF for 2, 3 and 4 year olds for 2018//19 
is £31m.

Providers must have signed Gloucestershire County Council's Agreement for Early Years 
Funded Free Entitlement for 2, 3 & 4 year olds and for inclusion to the Directory of Early 
Years Providers to be able to offer a funded free place to parents.

There are certain criteria that have to be met before the parents will be eligible for this 
funding and ‘proof of eligibility’ has to be shown to the provider.

Providers make claims to the County Council based on the children’s actual attendance but 
this cannot be verified prior to payment being made.  The Council has a system of audit in 
place whereby spot checks are carried out at the providers’ premises to validate the 
accuracy of their claims. 

This audit will review the effectiveness of the systems in place for undertaking the spot 
check visits to Nursery providers to ensure that payments are being made in the correct 
amount and in respect of children actually attending.

Priority 1

P
age 114



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

26

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Nursery 
Education 
Funding – Hourly 
Rate

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Consultancy

All children between 3 & 4 in England get 570 free hours per year, often taken as 15 hours a 
week for 38 weeks of the year, but this can be decided by the families. This can also be 
made available to 2 year olds if they meet the eligibility criteria. Nursery placements are 
decided between the private nurseries and the parents, with the parents set to pay any 
hours over the initial 15. 

As part of this, Gloucestershire County Council currently pay nurseries the following rates 
for each child:

 2 year-olds hourly rate: £4.91

 3 and 4-year-olds hourly rate: £3.90

If nurseries accept the placement of a child for any free hours they are not allowed to charge 
the parent a top up to their hourly charge out rate. 

Internal Audit have been asked to provide independent assurance on the decision making 
process for the calculation of the hourly rate paid to nurseries for providing child care.

Priority 1

P
age 115



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

27

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Police and 
Criminal 
Evidence Act 
1984 (PACE) 
Protocols

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Consultancy

PACE and the PACE codes of practice establish the powers of the police to combat crimes 
while protecting the rights of the public. The PACE codes of practice cover stop and search; 
arrest; detention; investigation; identification; and interviewing detainees.

PACE impacts on the County Council where children and young people are detained by the 
police and therefore must be moved to Local Authority accommodation. A protocol between 
the Council, the Police and other service providers operates.

The current protocol is under review. Internal Audit will provide on-going consultative advice 
in respect of the revised PACE protocol and governance arrangements (including 
performance management and monitoring) to ensure that PACE responsibilities for children 
within the county are defined and met by the relevant parties.

Priority 1

P
age 116



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

28

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Safeguarding 
Quality 
Assurance and 
Performance 
Framework

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Quality Assurance and Performance Framework identify a multifaceted and systematic 
approach that is taken in relation to performance.  There are a range of overarching 
qualitative and quantitative measures relevant to safeguarding which are monitored. 

The framework identifies a range of quality assurance mechanisms and performance data 
that is made available for scrutiny and challenge.  Auditing is an intrinsic part of the quality 
assurance process and the purpose is to retrospectively examine the quality of practice 
which then informs the plan for improvement.  Case audits are also an essential element of 
quality assurance.  The Quality Assurance and Performance Framework is a key driver for 
improving services.

This audit will review the effectiveness of the Quality Assurance and Performance 
Framework to ensure that it is robust, being complied with, operating as intended and that 
any actions identified are followed through to completion in a timely manner.

Priority 1

P
age 117



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

29

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Section 20 
Agreements

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Limited Assurance 
Follow Up

Section 20 agreements (of the Children Act) are voluntary arrangements between the local 
authority and the parents where they cannot provide their children with suitable 
accommodation or care (temporarily or permanently).  However, the parental responsibility 
remains with the parents until permanence arrangements are agreed in court, e.g. adoption, 
Special Guardianship Orders etc.  There is concern about the misuse and abuse of Section 
20 agreements where they are allowed to continue for far too long.

GCC has reviewed its Section 20 agreements (which can cause a rise in cases going into 
care proceedings as well as children being returned to their families) and put arrangements 
in place to ensure that they are more effectively managed. 

In 2017/18 Internal Audit undertook a review of the processes in place to provide assurance 
that they are operating as intended. The outcome of the audit was that limited assurance 
opinions were given for both risk management and the control environment.  As such a 
follow up review will be undertaken to ascertain the progress made in respect of the 
recommendations made, fully considering the outcomes of the recent OFSTED review.

Priority 1

P
age 118



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

30

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Special 
Educational 
Needs (SEN) 
Procurement of 
Transport – Non 
Direct 
Purchasing 
System

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) has introduced a new Direct Purchasing System for 
procuring ad-hoc transport for children with Special Educational Needs (SEN).  The new 
booking system can be accessed via Staffnet /Taxis. However, Social Workers could also 
bypass this new system by booking transport for children with providers that haven’t been 
pre-approved by the Council and use their local budgets to pay for the services (as opposed 
to procuring the transport through the ITU).

This audit will identify all invoices that have been paid to transport providers from local 
budgets (non-ITU) and compare them to the list of approved providers to provide assurance 
that the new Direct Purchasing System is not being bypassed and that transport is only 
being provided by approved providers.

Priority 1

Unregulated 
Placements and 
Packages of 
Support

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Children in care can be placed in foster placements whilst awaiting more permanent 
fostering or adoption arrangements.  The external agency budget was audited in 2009/10 
and 2015/16 and remains a high risk budget due to the constant cost pressures from a 
demand-led service. The budget for external agency placements for 2018/19 will be £7m.

Unregulated children in care placements are not be regulated under the Care Standards Act 
2000 and as a result will not be inspected by Ofsted.  The scope of this audit will be 
restricted to the operational procedures for providing packages of support and for placing 
children in unregulated placements to ensure that they are properly approved, have been 
quality assured and are not subject to drift.

Priority 1

P
age 119



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

31

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Youth Service – 
Care Leaving 
Service

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

A care leaver is defined as a person aged 25 or under, who has been looked after by a local 
authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14; and who was looked after by the local 
authority at school-leaving age or after that date.  Such care could be in foster care, 
residential care (mainly children's homes), or other arrangements outside the immediate or 
extended family.

The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 specify that a pathway plan must be 
prepared as soon as possible after the assessment of needs and must be recorded in 
writing.  The local authority must review the pathway plan and any changes must be 
recorded in writing.

This audit will review a sample of care leavers to ensure that appropriate plans are in place, 
that they have a clear pathway mapped out and that the plans are being reviewed and 
amended as necessary.

Priority 1

P
age 120



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

32

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Section 17 spend 
including No 
Recourse to 
Public Funds 
(NRPF)

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Children and Families teams, Referral and Assessment teams and Children in Care teams 
can provide support for families by using the Section 17 budget where the families would be 
eligible for this. If a person with no recourse to public funds (NRPF) becomes destitute they 
might turn to their local social services department for support.  In most cases social 
services departments will conduct an assessment of an individual's needs and if it is 
determined that the person is eligible for support then the local authority is required to meet 
those needs, which may include provision of accommodation and subsistence. 

Local authorities are facing increasing demands for services with rising costs of service 
provision.  This is an area that has been overspent in successive years.  The budget for 
2017/18 was £188k and it was forecast to be overspent in excess of £300k.

The audit will review the processes in place within the Localities for providing services from 
the Section 17 budget (including NRPF) to ensure that practices are consistent, that funding 
is only provided when necessary (utilising access to benefit payments where appropriate) 
and that services are procured in the most efficient manner.

Priority 2

P
age 121



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

33

Education and Commissioning

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Alternative 
Provision 
Schools (APS)

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Alternative Provision Schools (APS) have the same delegated powers and duties as 
maintained schools and are no longer a central service provided by the Local Authority – i.e. 
are independent providers and local authority maintained schools in their own right. 

There are three Alternative Provision Schools in Gloucestershire (Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury, Gloucester and Forest and Stroud and Cotswold).  In the last two years these 
schools have become independent providers and are now Local Authority maintained 
schools in their own right.  They are in receipt of base funding, top-up funding per pupil plus 
additional funding for procuring provision through other providers.

The LA commissions a set number of places for pupils that are excluded from mainstream 
education. This audit will review the financial management and governance processes in 
place at one of the APSs to provide assurance that the funds are being spent appropriately 
on the pupils and for the purposes intended.

Priority 1

P
age 122



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

34

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Education 
Commissioning - 
Specialist

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Consultancy

Placements can be made within Gloucestershire maintained schools, independent or non 
maintained special schools, or out of county. Places are commissioned either as a block or 
individually (where there is an urgent requirement based on service user needs). The 
commissioning approach used should be completed in line with defined Council protocol 
and requirements, to ensure that the needs of the service user are met while achieving VFM 
for the Council. 

This consultancy engagement will work alongside the Education Commissioning team to 
ensure that there is a defined commissioning approach, placements will be commissioned in 
line with Council requirements and guidance, the selection of placement will be appropriate 
(based on supporting audit trail), in line with the service user’s needs and currently held 
contracts, placement decisions are formal, robust, transparent and consistent, VFM is 
considered and achieved (where possible) within the placement approach; and an 
appropriate governance framework (including performance management and monitoring) is 
in place.

Priority 1

Education 
Service – Bank of 
days to be held 
for specific areas 
within the High 
Needs Block

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

The Education service faced large funding cuts from 2017/18 onwards and as a result 
underwent a significant restructure within 2017/18.

The Head of Education has requested that a bank of audit days is allocated for audit work 
within the High Needs Block in 2018/19. Specific area(s) to be determined within each 
quarter, based on risk and liaison with the Head of Education. 

Priority 1

P
age 123



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

35

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Local Authority 
Schools

S151 Officer to 
support the 
statement of 
assurance

Gloucestershire County Council’s budget includes the Dedicated Schools Grant 2018/19 of 
£347.459m for Schools.  This is the total budget delegated to schools before any 
recoupment of academy budgets.   

The Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) has been available for schools to use from 
September 2011. The SFVS has been designed by the Department for Education in 
conjunction with schools to assist them in managing their finances and to give assurance 
that they have secure financial management in place. Governing bodies have formal 
responsibility for the financial management of their schools, and so the standard is primarily 
aimed at governors. LA maintained schools are required to complete the SFVS once a year. 
There is a requirement that the Chief Financial Officer (S151) signs off an annual statement 
which states:

For the period 20xx – 20yy, I confirm that I have in place a system of audit for schools which 
gives me adequate assurance over their standards of financial management and the 
regularity and propriety of their spending.  

To enable the above, a sample of schools will be selected following a risk assessment and 
discussion with key officers. Internal Audit will review the effectiveness of the financial 
systems and controls in operation at these selected schools and will take into account the 
requirements of the SFVS. Once all the audits are complete, a summary of common findings 
will also be made available to all schools as learning points.

This allocation also includes follow ups of schools where irregularities have been identified 
during 17/18.

Priority 1

P
age 124



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

36

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Personal Travel 
Allowances 
(PTA)

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Consultancy

Allowances can be paid to parents or guardians to fund travel to school for students who are 
entitled to funded transport due to the distance required to travel to the nearest appropriate 
school. They allow for parents or guardians to make their own arrangements about how their 
child will get to and from school each day. They also take into consideration other child care 
needs if there are other children within the family. This review will provide consultancy 
advice in relation to the award of PTAs and other exceptional arrangements for home to 
school transport (e.g. awards of funding to schools); contractual arrangements over PTAs; 
and monitoring of PTAs (reconciliation and reclaiming of funds).

Priority 2

Schools 
Whistleblowing

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

School employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to the 
public and to support Governors and fellow employees with impartiality. The highest 
standard of probity must apply and employees must report any suspected unlawfulness, 
mal-administration, impropriety or breach of procedure of which they are aware to their 
Head Teacher or Senior County Council Officer.

Schools are required to have their own whistleblowing policy which states how whistle-
blowers are to report incidences; with staff having the knowledge of these procedures 
should the need to use them arise.

This audit will review the whistleblowing arrangements in the Council’s maintained schools, 
ensuring appropriate policies are in place.

Priority 2

P
age 125



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

37

Communities and Infrastructure

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Fleet 
Management

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Gloucestershire County Council operates a fleet of vehicles to help deliver its aims and 
objectives. This is approximately split between:

 126 vehicles operated by Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS); and

 90 vehicles operated by other services.

The servicing / maintenance of these vehicles are undertaken at the Tri-service workshops. 
This audit will evaluate the effectiveness of the arrangements established by GCC to ensure 
its vehicles continue to operate in an effective and safe manner.

Priority 1

Growth Deal – 
Project Delivery

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

In June 2011, the Secretary of State granted Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) status to 
Gfirst Ltd. The government has made various funding streams available (e.g. Growing 
Places £8.4m, Local Growth Deal £77m 2016/2021) where the LEP will be heavily involved 
in the decision making process as to how the money is subsequently spent. 

All of the funding is paid to GCC in the first instance as the Accountable Body and due to the 
high risk to the Council from this role it is important that the governance arrangements within 
Gfirst Ltd are robust. 

This audit will review a sample of projects that have received funding under the Growth Deal 
to ensure the funding has been used in accordance with the approved business case and 
that GCC’s governance role as the Accountable Body is effectively being discharged.

Priority 1

P
age 126



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

38

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Growth Deal – 
Risk 
Management and 
Escalation 
Process by the 
LEP Board

Identified as part of 
Risk Based 
Internal Audit 
Planning (RBIAP)

In June 2011, the Secretary of State granted Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) status to 
Gfirst Ltd. The government has made various funding streams available (e.g. Growing 
Places £8.4m, Local Growth Deal £77m 2016/2021) where the LEP will be heavily involved 
in the decision making process as to how the money is subsequently spent. All of the 
funding is paid to GCC in the first instance as the Accountable Body and due to the high risk 
to the Council from this role it is important that the governance arrangements within Gfirst 
Ltd are robust. This audit will review the effectiveness of the risk management arrangements 
and risk escalation processes established by the LEP Board.

Priority 1

Highways 
Structural 
Maintenance - 
Contract 
Management

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

As part of a £150m investment into the county’s roads over the next five years, the Council 
has announced proposals to break down the county’s current highway contract into three 
areas:

 highways terms maintenance;

 highways structural maintenance (resurfacing works); and 

 highways professional services contract.

The first of the contracts to be awarded is to deliver the highways structural maintenance 
which will become operational in advance of the current arrangements finishing in April 2019 
and is anticipated will deliver resurfacing works to the value of circa £24m over a two year 
period.  This audit will review the arrangements established by the Council to maximise 
delivery under the new operating model and gauge the effectiveness of new process 
mapping introduced by the service, to progress an individual scheme efficiently from start to 
finish.

Priority 1

P
age 127



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

39

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Highways Term 
Maintenance 
Contract – 
Review of 
Procurement

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

As part of a £150m investment into the county’s roads over the next five years, the Council 
has announced proposals to break down the county’s current highway contract into three 
areas:

 highways terms maintenance;

 highways structural maintenance (resurfacing works); and 

 highways professional services contract.

The Council is in the process of awarding a contract to deliver the highways term- 
maintenance when the current arrangements finish in April 2019. 

This audit will review the procurement of this contract to provide assurance that the process 
will stand up to scrutiny and officers have completed the procurement in compliance with the 
Council’s Contract Standing Orders and legislation.

Priority 1

Household 
Recycling 
Centres

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

There are five Household Recycling Centres (HRC) located within Gloucestershire for use 
by members of the public. In August 2016, the Council awarded a five year contract (value 
circa. £11m) to Ubico Limited to deliver this service on its behalf following the decision by 
the existing provider not to agree to extend the contract. 

This audit will review the effectiveness of the contract management arrangements 
established by the service to oversee this contract and to provide assurance that the 
payments made to the provider are in line with the contractual terms and conditions.

Priority 1

P
age 128



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

40

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Joint Waste 
Partnership – 
Funding 
Arrangements

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee has been formed under Section 101 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 to oversee recycling, waste collection and street cleansing 
services for four district and borough councils and to deliver waste treatment and disposal 
for the County.

The partnership has an annual budget circa £40m and comprises the following authorities:

 Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC);

 Cotswold District Council (CDC);

 Forest of Dean District Council (FoDDC);

 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC); and

 Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC).

This audit will review the funding arrangements of the partnership, to ensure that there is 
transparency of budget setting and monitoring arrangements (overall and on a partner 
basis) that is in line with agreement requirements.

Priority 1

P
age 129



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

41

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Procurement of 
Short Term 
Transport 
Arrangements 
For Social Care 
Users

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

The Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) has introduced a new Direct Purchasing System for 
procuring ad-hoc transport for use by vulnerable adults and children. Officers wishing to 
procure transport arrangements (periods for less than two weeks) and to be arranged at 
short notice for the can commission this via Staffnet/Taxis. If the requirements are to 
continue beyond two weeks the officer commissioning the service should then subsequently 
complete a more detailed request form to enable the Integrated Transport Unit to make the 
arrangements which are usually procured at a reduced rate due to the increased security of 
work to the operator. 

This audit will review the commissioning of contracts for less than two weeks to provide 
assurance that (if required), longer contractual arrangements are established in a timely 
manner and that short term contracts are not being rolled over.

Priority 1

Libraries - Self 
Service Radio 
Frequency 
Identification

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

Gloucestershire Libraries use radio Frequency Identification (RFID) technology in order to 
provide customer self service and elements of automated stock management. There are 
currently 54 self service kiosks installed in 30 of the 31 council-run libraries which are used 
for over 2 million self service transactions per year handling the issue, renewal and return of 
items, plus the payment of fines using coins and notes. In 2018/19, the majority of these 
kiosks will be upgraded and will include the facility for payment of fines using contactless 
credit/debit cards. This audit will review how the project has been managed and whether the 
expected benefits of the upgrade have been achieved.

Priority 2

Risk 
Management 
Framework 
(GFRS)

Identified as part of 
Risk Based Internal 
Audit Planning 
(RBIAP)

This audit will review arrangements in place within the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service to manage risk information within the service in support of the organisation’s 
community and firefighter safety agenda.  It will also consider the wider relevant 
arrangements in place with GCC.

Priority 2

P
age 130



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

42

Internal Audit Certification 

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Internal Audit 
Certification

Grant Certification There are 18 grant returns that will require Internal Audit sign-off in 2018/19:  14 for 
Communities, 3 for Adults and 1 for Children.  The total value of the grants is £45 million 
and the sign-off will be undertaken throughout the course of the year in order to meet the 
requirements of the individual grant determinations.

Priority 1

Counter Fraud Activity

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Cabinet Office
National Fraud 
Initiative (NFI)

To support the 
Annual 
Governance 
Statement

To continue to co-ordinate activity as part of the NFI (a national data matching exercise that 
compares data/records) and to facilitate  the investigation of data matching reports produced 
by the Cabinet Office, comparing records held within the authority for payroll, pensions, care 
home residents, insurance, creditors, blue badges and concessionary fares with records 
held by a wide range of public bodies, including records held by the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP), Immigration Office and Metropolitan Police, ensuring that these 
matches are investigated promptly and thoroughly, and results reported accordingly.
 

Priority 1

P
age 131



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

43

Audit Reason for Audit Outline Scope Priority

Fraud 
Investigation / 
Detection 

To support the 
Annual 
Governance 
Statement 

To continue to develop and implement the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
arrangements based on latest good practice. 

This also includes an allocation for increasing the profile and awareness of anti–fraud, 
conducting pro-active anti-fraud reviews, undertaking investigations, assessing the Council’s 
response to the Home Office pilots on the threat serious and organised crime poses to 
publicly procured services in Local Authorities (LAs) and how to respond to that threat, and 
administering the Council’s Confidential Reporting Hotline. 

This allocation is also to comply with Local Government Transparency Code 2015 regarding 
fraud reporting.

Priority 1

Fraud Risk 
Management

To support the 
Annual 
Governance 
Statement

The CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre has issued guidance on actions to be taken to ‘Manage 
the Risk of Fraud and Corruption’ within an organisation. 

This allocation is to continue to self assess against the criteria set out in the guidance in 
order to direct/prioritise our counter fraud audit resources/activity accordingly.  

Priority 1

P
age 132



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19 Appendix 1

44

Management Activity to Support the Audit Opinion

Activity Reason for Activity Outline Scope Priority

Annual 
Governance 
Statement (AGS)

Statutory 
Requirement

This allocation is to lead on the development and implementation of the governance 
assurance framework and to produce the 2018/19 Annual Governance Statement and Local 
Code of Corporate Governance. 

In addition, Internal Audit review the effectiveness of the management of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) on an annual basis to provide assurance over the 
governance and administration of pension funds, and pension fund investment 
management, which feeds into the AGS.

Priority 1

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee / 
Member / Officer 
and CFO 
Reporting

Management 
activity to support 
the audit opinion 

This allocation covers Member and Officer reporting procedures, mainly to the Audit and 
Governance Committee and CoMT, plan formulation and monitoring, and regular reporting 
to and meeting with, the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee and the Director of 
Strategic Finance.  

Priority 1

Carry Forwards Audit Activity 
outstanding

This allocation provides for the completion of various 2017/2018 audits which require 
finalising.

Priority 1

External Audit 
Liaison

Management 
activity to support 
the audit opinion

The External Auditor and the Chief Internal Auditor regularly meet to discuss plans and audit 
findings, to ensure that a “managed audit” approach is followed in relation to the provision of 
internal and external audit services. 

Priority 1

External Working 
Groups 

Activity to support 
the audit opinion

Attendance / work in relation to the Local Authorities Chief Auditors Network (LACAN) 
(National Group), Midland Counties and Districts Chief Internal Auditors Group, and the 
Fraud and ICT Groups to enable networking and to share good practice.

Priority 1

P
age 133



Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

45

Activity Reason for Activity Outline Scope Priority

Provision of 
Internal Control / 
General Advice

To support an 
effective control 
environment

This allocation allows auditors to facilitate the provision of risk and control advice which is 
regularly requested by officers within the authority, including maintained school based staff.

Priority 1

Quality 
Assurance and 
Improvement 
Programme 
(QAIP)
Includes the 
annual review of 
the effectiveness 
of Internal Audit 
and the external 
assessment 

Statutory 
Requirement

To support the 
AGS

The Accounts and Audit  Regulations 2015 states that Internal Audit should conform to 
‘proper practices’ and it is advised that proper practice for internal audit is currently set out in 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017. 

This allocation is to undertake the required annual self assessment and when required, 
commission and deliver an external quality assessment, against the standards. 

Priority 1

Internal Working 
Groups

Activity to support 
the audit opinion

Internal Audit is frequently asked to nominate representatives for working groups to advise 
on risk and control. 

Priority 2

Recommendation 
Monitoring

Activity to support 
the audit opinion

Whilst it is management’s responsibility to manage the risks associated with their 
outcomes/objectives, this allocation enables Internal Audit to monitor management’s 
progress with the implementation of high priority recommendations.

Priority 2

P
age 134



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 6th April 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit activity progress report 2017/2018

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken during the period January to March 
2018.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2017/2018 
Internal Audit Plan; and

2. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance Shared Service and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services 
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Jo Walker: Director - Strategic Finance 
Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2017/2018

Page 137



(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan, including the assurance 
opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period January to March 2018; 
and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 138



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2017/18 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. Appendix 1 also 
includes the summary of special investigations/counter fraud activity to date. 

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2017/2018, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage 
those risks and the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are 
shown below. 

Assurance 
levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment client/customer/partners, and staff.  
All key risks are accurately reported and monitored in line 
with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff. However some key 
risks are not being accurately reported and monitored in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied but with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting 
and monitoring of the key risks in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy, the service 
area has not demonstrated a satisfactory awareness 
of the risks relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control

Page 139



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2017 to March 2018.

Page 140



Appendix 1

4

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activities record that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period January to March 2018, no limited assurance opinions on control have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2017/18 Internal Audit Plan. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity record that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these.

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period January to March 2018 Internal Audit made, in total, 6 recommendations 
to improve the control environment, 2 of these being high priority recommendations (100% of 
these being accepted by management) and 4 being medium priority recommendations 
(100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period January to March 2018, no limited assurance opinions on risk have been 
provided on completed audits from the 2017/18 Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Shared Service Senior Risk Management 
Advisor will be provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk 
management support. 

Page 141



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period January to March 2018

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Communities 

Audit Activity: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) Business 
Continuity Management (BCM)

Background
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requires all local authorities to have Business Continuity 
Management (BCM) arrangements in place.  Emergency services, such as the Fire and 
Rescue Service, are classed as Category 1 responders under the Act and as part of their 
civil protection duties are required to put in place BCM arrangements to ensure that, as far 
as possible, the critical elements of the service can continue to be operated in the event of 
unexpected disruption such as power loss, flooded premises or high staff absence.

Scope
The scope of the audit was to evaluate the effectiveness of the BCM arrangements within 
GFRS, including a review of the BCM plans in place, to ensure they are appropriate, realistic 
and up-to-date.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
The Civil Protection Team is under the responsibility of the Chief Fire Officer and Operations 
Director for Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and coordinates BCM for the Council.

An overarching GFRS corporate BCM plan was in the process of being written at the time of 
this audit.  There are 14 individual BCM plans in place for GFRS which, at the time of the 
audit, were all dated either 2013 or 2014.  There is guidance and a BCM plan template 
available on Staffnet and the guidance states that plans should be reviewed at least annually 
and contact details every six months. However, none of the plans had been reviewed since 
2013/2014, although at the time of the audit a process had been put in place to ensure that 
they all have a nominated owner and are being reviewed. A spreadsheet is maintained 
showing plan owner, date of review and any testing undertaken,

Three high risk / critical service areas BCM plans were selected for further review and 
discussions held with the nominated plan owners. The plans reviewed related to staff 
resilience, loss of or disruption to the computer network or system and loss of or disruption 
to the control room.

Page 142



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

The plan owners for the control room and computer systems advised that the plans are 
regularly tested i.e. control room every six to seven weeks and computer systems daily, 
however there was no evidence seen at the audit to substantiate this.

In respect of staffing resilience, there is no programme of testing in place but the plan owner 
advised that the plan is, in effect, tested when there is industrial action and the last time this 
happened was in 2015. Evidence could not be found that any of the other plans have been 
tested recently.

Internal Audit was advised that there is no process in place to provide senior management 
with an update in respect of business continuity arrangements.

Conclusion
The three plans selected for audit review were for critical areas of the service.  Whilst there 
was no evidence recorded of testing undertaken, the plan owners were all confident that the 
plans and processes in place are still appropriate and they would be able to respond to 
disruption of their particular area.

Business continuity is of paramount importance and senior management should be made 
aware that plans had not been reviewed or tested for a number of years.  They should 
ensure that there is a programme in place to ensure all plans are reviewed on an annual 
basis and some form of testing is undertaken.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
above issues identified.

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Recoupment

Background
Children with Special Educational Needs (SEN) can be placed in mainstream or special 
schools out of county in order to meet their care needs (e.g. if appropriate provision is not 
available in-county). Where this occurs:

 GCC still has responsibility to pay for the cost of the out of county education and are 
invoiced for this by the other local authorities (OLAs); and  

 OLAs also place children with SEN within Gloucestershire schools, which generate 
income for GCC. However this is currently at a lower volume, when compared to 
Gloucestershire’s out of county placements. 

Page 143



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

At the time of audit completion, the volume of placements out of county for Children and 
Young People with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) was 67 compared to 43 
placements from OLAs within Gloucestershire.

Scope
The audit reviewed the systems and procedures in place for recoupment (both from OLAs 
and to OLAs) to provide assurance that all income due is realised and that costs incurred are 
valid and accurate.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory 

Key Findings
The process of recoupment of costs between local authorities in respect of children with 
SEN that are educated outside the county in which they live is governed by Statutory 
Instrument (SI) 492 2013. The document describes the status of the children for which local 
authorities providing the SEN education (the Providing Authority) can recoup their costs from 
the local authority whose area in which the child resides (the Home Authority).

SI 492 also states that recoupment claims made by providing authorities should: 

 Be made in writing;

 Specify the person for whom payment is claimed (the service recipient) and the 
amount claimed;

 Be submitted to the authority where the child resides within 12 months from the end of 
the financial year in which the provision of education took place; and

 Be agreed with the Providing Authority prior to payment (e.g. costs should be 
confirmed upfront where possible). 

GCC acts as both a Providing and Home Authority. Audit review confirmed that GCC’s 
charges levied as a Providing Authority and paid as a Home Authority are in accordance with 
the requirements of the SI. 

Audit review and sample testing of ten 2017/18 recoupment cases confirmed further areas of 
good practice applied by the Council, including (but not exclusive to):

 Adequate documentary audit trail was available to support all audit sampled 
recoupment cases;

 Detailed records of charges levied and paid were retained by the officer responsible for 
recoupment within Children’s Services;

Page 144



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

 The charging rates for SEN provision are calculated by GCC’s Strategic Finance team 
and these have been correctly applied to the audit sampled cases; and

 The recoupment operational budget was found to be regularly and appropriately 
monitored and reconciled to the general ledger.

The audit also identified observations where there is opportunity for the Council to 
strengthen recoupment controls: 

 The current recoupment process is reliant on one key officer (the Principal Finance 
Officer (SEN)) and relevant business continuity arrangements (including documented 
procedure notes and training of a wider resource pool) should be strengthened; 

 The annual recoupment budget of £591,600 has been overspent by an average of 
£100,000 for both 2016/17 and 2017/18 – there is opportunity for management to 
reassess and update the annual revenue budget to ensure it is reasonable and 
reflective of service estimates; and  

 Audit sample testing noted delays in agreeing costs with other authorities and 
processing amendments to provision for a small number of cases.  

Audit sample testing observed that some invoices received from OLAs include the full name 
of the SEN child, which is not compliant with data protection good practice. Verbal 
assurance (confirmed by audit walkthrough) has been provided by the Head of SEND that 
the Council redacts the inappropriate data from the invoice prior to processing it further and 
also instructs the OLA to request that the non compliance does not re-occur.

Conclusion
Based on the audit review and testing outcomes, satisfactory assurance can be provided on 
both the recoupment risk identification maturity and control environment. Management 
consideration and implementation of the three medium priority audit recommendations 
raised within this report would further strengthen the recoupment control environment and 
management of identified risks.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the Internal Audit recommendation made in 
respect of the above issues identified.

Page 145



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Compliance with Corporate Debt Policy

Background
Within 2017/18, the Council has reviewed and re-engineered the corporate debt recovery 
approach. This has been completed to consider and action changes in statutory legislation; 
and to ensure an appropriate debt process with the goal to improve debt recovery efficiency 
and recovery levels. The updated Corporate Debt Policy was recently revised in January 
2018, following a pilot scheme. 

The total debt outstanding as at 31st December 2017 was £7.36m. This balance included 
£4.64m of debt less than six months old and £2.72m of debt over six months old. The bad 
debt provision as at 31st December 2017 totalled £1.11m. 

It is the responsibility of service area budget holders and budget managers to continue to be 
responsible for monitoring individual debtor balances and use the procedures in the 
Corporate Debt Policy to optimise the collection of income.

Scope
The agreed audit scope was to provide the Council with assurance on compliance with the 
revised Corporate Debt Policy, focusing on the debts process within service areas (including 
but not exclusive to Adult Services and the Business Service Centre) and including 
consideration of the policy circumstances where Legal Services’ involvement in debt 
recovery arrangements is required. 

The audit approach considered the following areas: 

 Review of the updated Corporate Debt Policy, to ensure it is sufficiently robust and 
includes necessary key controls to enable appropriate debt recovery;

 Sample testing debtor arrears balances across service areas, to assess the 
arrangements for the collection of debt in compliance with the Corporate Debt Policy;

 Verification that budget holders are being proactive in the optimisation of the debt 
arrears recovery process;

 Review of the debt write offs completed for 2017/18, to confirm they are in line with the 
Corporate Debt Policy criteria and have been appropriately authorised in line with 
Financial Regulations;

 Sample testing of the procedure and controls for debtors which have been referred to 
Legal Services and the actions subsequently taken;

Page 146



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

 Inspection of the debt recovery process and controls for service user payment status, 
using credit checks to assess financial standing to settle debtor arrears; and

 Review of the frequency and reporting arrangements for collection of debt to budget 
holders, management and Members.

Risk Assurance – Substantial 

Control Assurance – Substantial 

Key Findings
The audit scope control objectives were assessed and tested by Internal Audit.  The various 
sections of the policy were specifically tested for the debt process (e.g. debt recovery and 
involvement of Legal Services) with the objective to see evidence of policy compliance. Audit 
testing included both commercial debt and non commercial debt. Internal Audit review 
results confirmed that the procedures and instructions per the revised Corporate Debt Policy 
were appropriately followed for the tested audit sample.  

The pilot scheme appointment of the Credit Controller in Strategic Finance and the 
workshops for service area staff, have both raised the awareness of the roles and 
responsibilities regards debt levels and debt recovery. 

The impact of the pilot scheme has also favourably reduced the age profile and overall 
financial value of Gloucestershire County Council’s outstanding debt. For example as at 31st 
January 2017 the total debt outstanding was £12.1m, compared to £7.36m as at 31st 
December 2017. It is noted that commercial debt reduction is the major contributor to the 
balance change. 

The need to incrementally monitor and manage the debt collection process is notably 
recognised within Strategic Finance, with the Finance Manager (Lead for SAP) instrumental 
in establishing a robust reporting process at month end for debtors outstanding which is 
available to officers with income responsibilities (e.g. budget holders).

Enquiries with the Finance Manager (Lead for SAP) confirmed that any further/proposed 
Corporate Debt Policy revision would be consulted on appropriately.  

Conclusion
Audit review of the Council’s debtor control environment as at January 2018 found 
appropriate and effective controls to be in place at the point of audit, in compliance with the 
updated Corporate Debt Policy. No improvement areas were identified by the internal audit. 

Management Actions
Not applicable. No audit recommendations were made. 

Page 147



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

Service Area: Communities

Audit Activity: Invoice Verification – Integrated Transport Unit

Background
GCC has a statutory duty to provide home to school transport for “entitled” students i.e. 
those travelling over two miles to their nearest school if under eight years old or those 
travelling over three miles if eight years old or over, together with a number of exceptions as 
defined by policy, which will generally relate to children with Special Educational Needs 
(SEN). Individual contracts are awarded by the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU), except in the 
cases where parents are paid an allowance to transport their children to school. The ITU is 
responsible for checking and processing the invoices payable for schools’ transport with 
approximately 750 invoices processed each month.

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to:

 Ensure any previous agreed actions to improve the control environment have been 
completed where applicable;

 Review the procurement process in awarding contracts;

 Establish whether there are robust controls in the 'checking' process and undertake a 
sample of testing to substantiate this and consider the cost effectiveness and 
sustainability; and

 Review expenditure against the budget and establish if effective monitoring 
arrangements are in place.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key findings
 Previous recommendations from the 2015 audit review have been considered by the 

relevant service areas with controls now in place to further strengthen the control 
environment for the invoice verification process. 

 The procurement arrangements for awarding school transport contracts have a 
detailed process to encourage fair competition and intelligent bidding by suppliers in 
line with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The ITU have a consistent approach 
in evaluating bids objectively against set criteria and standards to demonstrate value 
for money principles in awarding the winning contract while still taking into 
consideration the quality and compliance requirements of the service. 

Page 148



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

This includes uploading the tender bid winners to the Public Register and Public 
Finder, as required by transparency legislation, to allow for external scrutiny and 
challenge where required.

 Updates to Capita One (the Council’s Educational Management System) are 
monitored via control sheets to ensure that the system holds the correct information for 
the invoice verification process. Error reports are completed monthly to identify and 
rectify errors within the system that could impact the invoice verification process.

 The ITU have robust and thorough systems and processes to verify the accuracy of 
invoices received and processed for payment for contractor invoices and Parent Travel 
Expenses. This is highlighted by the savings spreadsheets held by the Transport 
Officers which identify the savings made through the verification process. However, 
Personal Travel Allowances (PTAs) are not as robustly checked each month, with a 
reconciliation mostly occurring only at the end of the school year. PTAs are now the 
preferred method of funding for individuals with specific transport requirements. 

 Difficulties in obtaining attendance information from independent schools and colleges 
in a timely manner are resulting in invoices being processed without the completion of 
the full checking process. However, the ITU is continuing to liaise with these schools 
and colleges to try to resolve this and provides them with a template to encourage a 
response.

 Internal Audit sampled four batch payments, two each from April 2017 and July 2017. 
In total 85 payments were examined, made up of contractor invoices (63), parent 
mileage claims (11) and PTAs (11). Only one discrepancy was noted relating to the 
number of passengers claimed for by a transport provider which could have resulted in 
GCC potentially having underpaid for a service. Invoices in all four batches showed 
clear evidence that they had been checked and signed off by an appropriate officer. 
Internal Audit also checked 18 retainers claimed by transport providers and paid by 
GCC, all of which 18 had been approved and recorded appropriately.

 Budget monitoring arrangements for schools transport is extensive and detailed 
allowing for scrutiny and challenge of expenditure across all payment methods. It 
enables analysis of each route used to transport students including changes to 
passenger numbers which can lead to identifying inefficiencies in the current contracts 
that can be adjusted where necessary to benefit from savings.

Conclusion
Thorough systems are in place to verify the invoices for school transport within the ITU with 
budget monitoring arrangements allowing for scrutiny and challenge throughout the process. 
However, with the increasing popularity of PTAs, all responsible teams need to ensure that 
appropriate arrangements are in place to identify any inefficiency, and that necessary 
adjustments are made when required. A review of PTAs is included within the Internal Audit 
plan for 2018/19.

Page 149



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the internal audit improvement actions made.

Summary of consulting activity, grant certification and/or support delivered 
where no opinions are provided

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Transforming Care (Capital) Grant 2017-18

Background
The Department of Health’s Transforming Care programme provides capital funding for 
adaptations to housing to support the transfer of people from in-patient to community-based 
settings. In this respect the capital allocation received by the Council was £200,000.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor were required to return to the Department of 
Health a declaration by 30th June 2015 in the following terms:

“To the best of my knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in my opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the 
Transforming Care (Capital) Grant Determination No.31/2457 have been complied with.”

As expenditure was delayed the same statement needed to be made with regard to the 
2017/18 financial year.

The audit objective was to provide assurance that the conditions attached to the 
Transforming Care (Capital) Grant Determination 2014/15: No 31/2457 had been complied 
with.

Key findings
 The Council received notification by email on 17th December 2014 that its grant bid 

had been successful;

 The £200,000 funding allocation was received by the Council on 20th January 2015;

 No expenditure was recorded by the Council between 2014/15 and 2016/17;

 The Department of Health confirmed in June 2016 that the Council may use the grant 
funding to reimburse a provider for services delivered; and

 A single payment of £200,000 was completed in June 2017 to the agreed provider for 
services previously delivered, detailed in the invoice received by GCC.

Page 150



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

Conclusion
The £200,000 grant allocation has been spent in 2017/18 in one single payment on the 
agreed purpose, in line with the grant determination and no management actions were 
required.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant 

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced a Financial 
Framework for local authorities. This document makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is 
the subject of self-declaration, and therefore the purpose of this audit was to provide 
assurance that the Families First grant conditions and criteria had been met by the families 
to support the PBR grant claim.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  

Key findings
As at 30th October 2017 there were 278 PBR claims prepared for submission on 31st 
October 2017. The claims reviewed related to the period April 2017 to October 2017. 

Internal Audit testing was completed on 20 claims (7.19% of the population) to ensure 
appropriate coverage of the eligibility criteria and the six localities. Internal Audit testing 
confirmed:

 The PBR claims in the sample met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families Grant; 
and

 There were effective systems and processes for how families and their eligibility 
markers i.e. education/crime/anti-social behaviour; progress to work; and continuous 
employment (and off out-of-work benefits) were being collated and verified.  

Page 151



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

Conclusion
The Internal Audit identified that effective systems and processes are in place for how 
families, their eligibility markers and related outcomes are being collated and verified.  Audit 
testing confirmed the validity of the claims for the sampled cases.

Management Actions
Not applicable. No recommendations were made.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Local Authority Major Project Grant (Elmbridge)

Background
In 2016/17 Gloucestershire County Council received confirmation from the Department for 
Transport (DfT) that £6,654,616 of grant funding was being awarded for the capital project of 
works to be undertaken on the Elmbridge Roundabout Improvement Scheme.

This review was undertaken to ensure that the Local Authority Major Project Grant was only 
used for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used for in accordance with regulations 
made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

Scope
The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor were required to sign and return to DfT a 
declaration, within six months after the completion date (22nd September 2017) of the 
project, in the following terms: 

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to Local 
Authority Major Project Grant Determination 2016-17 No31/2782 have been complied with”.

Key findings
The Council received funding of £6,654,616 in 2016/17 under the Local Authority Major 
Project Grant.

The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant show that at the year-end 
£4,398,885.08 had been spent by GCC in relation to the Local Authority Major Project Grant 
for 2016/17. The remaining balance of £2,255,730.92 was carried forward to 2017/18. 
Internal Audit reviewed 9 out of 75 (12%) lines of expenditure totalling £2,035,726.35 (46%) 
of the total expenditure for 2016/17 and confirmed that expenditure is in accordance with the 
relevant grant conditions.

Page 152



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

The capital expenditure for Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance is monitored by 
the Capital Accountant who has confirmed that this relates fully to the purchase of capital 
items and the capitalisation of the project managers’ time, and was accounted for as such in 
the Council’s financial system.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
assurance was obtained that the conditions of the grant determination were fulfilled and as 
such the declaration could be signed and submitted to the DfT and no management actions 
were required.

Service Area:  Children and Families

Audit Activity (Consultancy): Police and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) in 
respect of children

Background
PACE and the PACE codes of practice establish the powers of the police to combat crimes 
while protecting the rights of the public. The PACE codes of practice cover stop and search, 
arrest, detention, investigation, identification and interviewing detainees and also includes 
the criteria for every child and mentally vulnerable adult detained or questioned by the police 
to have an effective appropriate adult. 

PACE impacts on the County Council were children and young people are detained by the 
police and therefore must be moved to Local Authority accommodation.   A protocol is in 
place between the County Council, the Police and other service providers regards PACE 
and the approach used for children within the county.

The planned audit to review the operation of the Joint Protocol for the Transfer of Young 
People from Police Custody to Local Accommodation was deferred as the protocol adopted 
in April 2016, was in the early stages of review and revision.

Throughout the year Internal Audit has provided consultancy advice in respect of the revision 
of the protocol. The advice offered has focused on the governance arrangements particularly 
clarity over roles and the delivery assurance arrangements.

Conclusion
Provision for further Internal Audit consultancy advice, in respect of the implementation of 
the revised protocol, has been included in the 2018/19 internal audit plan.

Page 153



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

Service Area: Communities

Audit Activity: Cinderford Spine Road – Adjudication Payment

Background
The construction of a spine road will connect the B4227 and the A4136 and unlock the 
area’s development potential to facilitate mixed use development over the next 15 years 
circa £100m. The project was initially managed by the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA) who undertook the procurement activity and oversaw the design consultants. In July 
2015 Cabinet agreed that the Council would take over the responsibility as Employer for the 
construction of the Northern Quarter Spine Road – phase 1 subject to funding, successful 
planning permission and satisfactory contractual arrangements being in place. 

Scope
In June 2017, following a protracted dispute between the contractor and the Council over the 
valuation of Compensation Event (no.13) the contractor (under the terms and conditions of 
the NEC3 contract) applied for an adjudicator to be appointed. Internal Audit was requested 
by the Statutory Officers Group to review the circumstances around the dispute, the 
adjudication and its authorisation, officer delegations and how decisions are recorded.  

Key findings
Background:

 The Council was aware of the likely difficulties and risks to of deliver this scheme, 
which were highlighted in the report presented to Cabinet on 22nd July 2015. 

 By entering the Deed of Novation the Council accepted all future risks and effectively 
agreed to release the HCA from any future liability with the schemes design. 

 The information provided by HCA to potential contractors during the tender process 
was insufficient to identify the scale of the potential risks and for this to be priced 
accordingly.  

Appointment of Adjudicator:

 The NEC3 contract dispute resolution Option W2 allows provision for either party to 
refer the matter for Adjudication. Adjudication in construction contracts is are binding 
unless this is revised by arbitration or litigation.

 On 6th June 2017 the Contractor made an application for an Adjudicator to be 
appointed to review the dispute and confirm the value of Compensation Event 013.  

Page 154



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

Scheme of Delegation:

 A scheme of delegation is in place for authorising capital virements and the vast 
majority are approved under delegated powers by officers attending the Capital 
Programme meetings.

 Directors should ensure that variations in capital scheme estimates during the course 
of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that scheme or service. 
The original budget for Phase 1 was £4.44m compared to the final costs of £6.8m. 

 Strategic Finance was kept appraised of the increasing costs on this scheme with a 
provision of £2.4m being raised at year-end i.e. 31st March 2017. 

Recording of Decisions:

 Regular briefings were provided to the Cabinet Member – Highways and Flood on the 
emerging issues / risks (including the Contractor’s decision to seek recourse to 
adjudication).

 All virements and changes to the capital programme must either be supported by 
approved minutes of the Capital Control Team.

Decisions taken in relation to the Adjudication:

 Following the Adjudicator’s decision the Contractor summited an application for 
payment to the Council reflecting the increased valuation of works to 27th July 2017 
together with their latest invoice. This invoice was paid within seven days as 
instructed. 

Conclusions
The adjudication process was followed in accordance with the contractual arrangements and 
specifically Option Clause Z16: Dispute Resolution Procedure.  However, from a wider 
governance perspective there were two learning points highlighted:

 The decision not to progress the process to litigation should have been formally 
recorded under the Scheme of Delegation. 

 That an appropriate level of detail is included within the Financial Monitoring Reports 
submitted to Cabinet when recommending the allocation of new funds (in excess of 
£500k) to a Capital scheme. 

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit has received 14 new referrals in 2017/18, and 
also continued to work on 9 cases from previous years. Three of the brought forward cases 
have now been completed in 2017/18, two of which have previously been reported to Audit 
and Governance Committee. 

Page 155



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

The latest case closed involved unauthorised expenditure on a Children’s Direct Payment 
(DP) account. Following analysis of the DP expenditure and discussions with the family, the 
money spent that was outside of the remit of the DP has now been recovered which was in 
the region of £400.

Referrals in 2017/18

Of the 14 cases received in 2017/18 eight have been closed, and a further four are nearing 
completion. Five of these have previously been reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

Of the other three closed cases, one related to petty cash at a satellite unit that could not be 
accounted for (£707). Investigations undertaken by Internal Audit were not able to 
conclusively establish whether the missing cash was the result of theft by a member of staff 
or the poor recording and management of the petty cash account. Internal Audit issued a 
report containing five recommendations to improve cash handling processes going forward 
all of which have been accepted by management. 

The second closed case involved concerns of staff timekeeping i.e. not working the hours for 
which they were being paid. This member of staff is no longer employed by the Council. 

The final case closed was in respect of an allegation that a childcare nursery had over 
claimed National Education Funding from the Council. A detailed investigation was 
undertaken, including interviews with nursery staff, resulting in the Council recovering 
£31,614. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2017/18 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (3); Children and Families (5); Adults and Children and 
Families (2); and Council Wide (4). 

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a biennial data 
matching exercise administered by the Cabinet Office. The data sets required were 
submitted through the web portal in October 2016 and data match reports have been 
received and mostly reviewed.

Internal Audit has previously reported a case of undeclared income which has resulted in a 
service user becoming a self funder and a recovery of just under £31k, plus overpayment of 
pensions amounting to the around £40k. 

Page 156



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Council Wide Staff Travel Documentation Medium Deferred In 18/19 plan as part of data analytics/fraud days 
allocation

Council Wide Supporting Transformational Change High Cancelled Support no longer required due to Ofsted 
monitoring the improvement plan

Council Wide Compliance with Transparency Agenda High Audit in Progress
Council Wide Staff Expenses Claims High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Core Council - HR Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Core Council - HR Recruitment and Promotion Limited Assurance Follow Up High Audit in Progress
Core Council - HR Settlement Agreements High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018
Core Council - HR Retirement Schemes High Audit in Progress
Core Council - ICT Sopra Steria Improvement Plan High Audit in Progress
Core Council - ICT IT Disaster Recovery High Audit in Progress
Core Council - ICT Non Approved ICT Provision High Audit in Progress
Core Council - ICT Cyber Security (SAP) - Follow Up High Audit in Progress
Core Council - ICT Data Storage - Follow Up High Audit in Progress
Core Council - ICT Website Security (including Library Website Payments) Medium Audit in Progress
Core Council - AMPS Contractor Partnering Framework Agreement: Major Construction Works High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Core Council - AMPS Property Services Contracts High Deferred Carried forward to 18/19 plan
Core Council - AMPS Dynamic Purchasing System - (Asset Management and Property Services 

(AMPS)
High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018

Core Council - Legal Services External Legal Services Medium Cancelled Medium priority audit
Core Council - BSC Duplicate Payments - Fiscal Technology High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Core Council - BSC Payroll - Accuracy of Payments High Audit in Progress
Core Council - BSC Vendor Master Data High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018
Strategic Finance Budget Setting High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Strategic Finance Special Payments made through Bankers' Automated Clearing Services 

(BACS)
Medium Cancelled Medium priority audit

Strategic Finance Traded Services High Cancelled Changes in Management, no longer required
Strategic Finance Treasury Management High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 26/01/2018
Strategic Finance Compliance with debt policy High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 06/04/2018
Adults Annual Care Assessment Process (re-assessment reviews) High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Adults Contract Management Arrangements Adults and Public Health High Cancelled Changed to Gloucestershire Care Partnership 

review in 18/19
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - All Ages All Disabilities High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 06/10/2017 Please note split opinion on control (see report)
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - Older People (OP) High Deferred Carried forward to 18/19 plan
Adults Financial Assessment and Benefits Team Limited Assurance Follow Up High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Adults Brokerage - Disabilities High Deferred Carried forward to 18/19 plan
Adults Brokerage - Older People High Deferred Carried forward to 18/19 plan
Adults Client Contributions - Limited Assurance Follow-Up High Audit in Progress
Adults ContrOCC - Adults High Cancelled Considered as part of RBIA plan 18/19 ICT Needs 

Assessment
Adults Deaths and Discharges - Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018
Adults Direct Payments (Adults) High Audit in Progress
Adults Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Healthcare - Procurement High Audit in Progress
Adults Mental Health Services High Planned
Adults Standards of Proficiency for Social Workers High Consultancy Reported in 2017/18 annual report
Adults Support Planning - Older People Personal Care High Cancelled To be considered within scope of the Best Value 

Policy review planned for 18/19
Children & Families ContrOCC (Children's) High Cancelled In 18/19 plan with updated audit scope
Children & Families Review of Contract Monitoring of Schools Catering Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Children & Families Section 17 - Children's Act Spend (non-Auriga) Medium Cancelled Changed to Section 17 Spend including No 

Recourse to Public Spend in 18/19 plan
Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 06/10/2017
Children & Families Recoupment Medium Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/04/2018
Children & Families Alternative Provision School (APS) High Audit in Progress Ofsted review highlighted requires improvement.  

Priority rating changed from medium to high.

Children & Families Children in Care – Intensive Service Development Project Medium Consultancy Reported in 2017/18 annual report
Children & Families Education Service High Cancelled Audit scope to be defined following service 

restructure. To be included in 2018/19 plan.
Children & Families PACE (Police and Criminal Evidence Act) Protocol High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/04/2018

Page 1 of 2

P
age 157



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Children & Families Schools High Audit in Progress Outcomes relating to schools audited reported in 
2017/18 annual report

Children & Families Special Educational Needs (SEN) Education only placement High Cancelled Audit scope to be defined following service 
restructure. To be included in 2018/19 plan.

Children & Families Special Educational Needs (SEN) Joint Social Care and Education Funded 
Placement

High Planned

Children & Families Supporting People – Contract Management and Governance High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018
Children & Families Troubled Families Grant I High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/04/2018 Reported in 2017/18 annual report
Children & Families Troubled Families Grant II High Planned
Children & Families Liquid Logic - Follow Up High Audit in Progress
Children & Families Direct Payments (Childrens) Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Communities Administration Hub - Follow Up High Planned Terms of Reference issued
Communities Public Transport Contracts - Decision Making Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned Terms of Reference issued
Communities Street Works High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017
Communities Transforming Care Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 26/01/2018
Communities Community Capacity Grants High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Community Transport Medium Cancelled Medium priority audit
Communities Disabled Facilities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Fire and Rescue Authorities Grants High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Fleet Management High Deferred Carried forward to 18/19 plan
Communities GfirstLep – Managing Conflicts of Interest High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 26/01/2018
Communities Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) – Health and Safety High Audit in Progress
Communities Highways and Transportation Services Contract High Cancelled Due to significant contract changes audit scope re-

defined and included within 18/19 plan
Communities Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Invoice verification - Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 06/04/2018
Communities Local Authority Major Project Grant (Elmbridge) High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/04/2018
Communities Local Growth Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Local Transport Capital Block Funding High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Pothole Action Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Cinderford Spine Road Adjudication Payment High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/04/2018 New Activity
Communities Section 106 Agreements – Bond Policy High Audit in Progress
Communities Section 38 and 278 Agreements High Audit in Progress
Communities Social Care (Capital) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017
Communities Transforming Care Grant 2016/17 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017 New Activity
Communities Transforming Care Grant 2017/18 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/04/2018
Communities GFRS Business Continuity Management High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/04/2018
Pensions Pension Payments High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Pensions Pensions Cash Payments High Draft Report Issued
Pensions Information and Cyber Security - Pensions High Cancelled New audit scope covering these areas included in 

18/19 plan
Pensions Admitted Bodies High Audit in Progress
Pensions BSC Pensions High Audit in Progress

Management of LGPS High Planned Outcomes to be reported within Annual 
Governance Statement

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan
Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Page 2 of 2

P
age 158



1

Report to the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2018 on the 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Electronic Call Monitoring – All Ages all 
Disabilities

Presenting Officer: Mary Morgan, Lead Commissioner for Older People

Summary of Audit Area 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) currently spends circa £24m per year 
on Learning Disability (LD) community based care support services. Prior to 
the introduction of electronic call monitoring (ECM), the Council was not 
easily able to substantiate the support hours provided and was therefore 
potentially paying for commissioned hours rather than the actual hours 
provided.

ECM is a system that records the attendance of support staff at a Service 
User’s (SUs) home using a landline telephone or simple alternatives such as 
using a mobile where a landline is not available or support takes place 
outside of the home. ECM allows for care delivery information to be provided 
in real-time and can aid the streamlining of financial processes, removing 
much of the administrative burden and expense of timesheet management 
and billing, alongside strengthening the contract monitoring agreements and 
offering additional safeguards for both SUs and staff.

The LD Commissioning team identified that over a three-year period, with a 
maximum spend of around £340,000 (managed from existing resources), the 
introduction of an ECM system could expect to yield the Council a net saving 
of between £1.75m to £2.55m across the LD community based care and 
support sector, supporting the drive for efficiency savings under the Council’s 
Meeting the Challenge 2 (MtC2) programme.

Page 159

Agenda Item 9



2

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The objectives of the audit were to:

1. Evaluate the effectiveness of the monitoring arrangements to ensure 
contract compliance i.e. delivery of commissioned hours and establish 
how any under provisions of support are managed and reported; 

2. Establish the frequency with which the reports available from the CCL! 
system are run and evaluate whether they are sufficiently detailed and 
accurate to meet the needs of the service; and

3. Review the process for identifying the savings achieved to-date together 
with the projected future savings. Ascertain how these figures are being 
reported as part of the MtC2 programme.

Risks

 Poor/inaccurate, or lack of contract management information;

 Contact deliverables are not being met, impacting on the Council’s 
strategic objectives and vulnerable members of the community;

 MTC2 efficiency saving targets are not realised;

 Safeguarding issues; and
 

 Damage to the Council’s reputation.

Page 160



3

Key Findings

The audit identified a number of improvement actions, these were:

 The review highlighted that implementation of ECM had not been without 
its teething problems. Some of the finance related tasks undertaken by the 
newly formed ECM team had turned out to be more resource intensive 
than originally anticipated. The arising issues have impacted upon 
Strategic Finance (SF) in respect of their ability to meet financial reporting 
deadlines. In addition, the current level of resource within the ECM team, 
have impeded the Service area’s ability to respond to financial queries on a 
timely basis and fulfil their roles and responsibilities for contract 
management/monitoring arrangements. 

 These issues placed additional pressure upon staff within SF and the ECM 
team during the 2015/16 closedown of accounts, and to avoid a recurrence 
of the financial reporting issues encountered, the ECM team and SF have 
been working together to improve and strengthen the working practices 
and processes regarding the recording and reporting of financial 
information, including MtC2 savings. However, whilst there have been 
improvements with the quality of information provided, SF still have 
concerns over the time taken by the ECM team to respond to some of the 
more ad hoc financial queries.

 Whilst it is commendable that the anticipated minimum 2015/16-2016/17 
MtC2 saving targets of £1.75m has been met/exceeded by £03.5m, due to 
the current lack of contract management/monitoring arrangements, the 
performance information that is available from the ECM system was not 
being fully utilised to aid the Council’s management of internal service 
areas, the marketplace and to help mitigate the inherent risks that could 
impact upon the Council fulfilling its statutory duties.

The savings that have been achieved to-date are as a direct result of an 
overall under provision of commissioned support hours. It is not known 
what impact this may or may not have on the SUs as this was outside the 
scope of this review.   

The ability to provide a timely response to financial queries remains 
challenging and the contract management and monitoring arrangements 
for provider compliance with the terms and conditions of ECM alongside 
other inter-related activities has been impeded with only ad hoc monitoring 
reports being run to resolve specific issues.  

Sample testing undertaken by Internal Audit evidenced poor provider 
compliance with the use of the ECM system and whilst this may be due to 
the infancy of operating the ECM system, this may also be an indicator of 
fraudulent activity.  

Page 161



4

 Internal Audit established that whilst at the project stage, adequate risk 
management arrangements were in place. However the audit identified that 
the risk register has not been updated/revised following the transition of 
ECM into business as usual.

 A piece of work should now be undertaken to identify the associated key 
inherent risks and proportionate mitigating actions that should be taken to 
effectively manage these to an acceptable level. 

As a result of the findings identified, four high priority recommendations were 
raised, all aimed at strengthening the control environment, and placing the focus 
upon the need for management to review the level of staff resource required to 
fulfil the contract management and monitoring activities and risk management 
arrangements, to ensure that these are adequate to meet the requirements of the 
Council’s Contract Management Framework and Risk Management Strategy. 

Page 162



5

Action taken as at the end of December 2017 and/or proposed

Recommendation 1

Management should develop the risk management arrangements for ECM in line 
with the Council’s Risk Management Strategy. Going forward, the risk register 
should be maintained on an on-going basis and key risks associated with delivery 
priorities escalated accordingly.

Response prepared December 2017

We have worked with the Council’s Senior Risk Management Advisor on the Risk 
Register for ‘Business as Usual’.  This has been updated to reflect the current 
situation and will be updated on a quarterly basis going forward with the relevant 
escalation as required.

Updated response March 2018

This action has now been completed by the ECM officers.

Recommendation 2

Management should review whether the current staff resource is sufficient to 
effectively undertake the associated financial administrative tasks required to 
enable the effective processing of ECM payments, monitoring of MtC2 savings, 
alongside the additional contract monitoring role that provides for a level of 
assurance over providers’ compliance against the contractual terms and 
conditions of ECM; delivery of commissioned support and other intelligence that 
may alert the Council to key issues such as potential safeguarding alerts, 
fraud/irregularities and the condition of the marketplace. 

The review of resource requirements should give consideration to the respective 
post holder’s roles and responsibilities and if appropriate, job descriptions should 
be amended accordingly.

Response prepared December 2017

There has been recruitment to the ECM Team of an additional ECM Officer for 
Disabilities; this post was effective from November 2017.  This additional resource 
will enable the team to ensure effective monitoring of the system to maximise 
savings but also to enable the identification of any safeguarding issues in a timely 
manner.

When each new team member has joined we have spent time going through local 
induction process to ensure they are fully aware of their role and responsibilities. 
There are weekly team meetings where there is the opportunity to discuss specific 
situations.  In addition to this we will be looking at the escalation process early in 
the new year to ensure the team are fully aware of when to escalate to the 
Commissioning Officers.

Page 163



6

Updated response March 2018

Due to resourcing issues, work in this area has not progressed as quickly as 
originally anticipated. The system continues to be under utilised to aid the 
management of internal service areas – there are some issues around being able 
to draw down regular and reliable reports to tell us where commissioned hours 
are consistently under-delivered which is impacting on the ability to examine this 
from the point of view of risk or use the information to trigger reduction of 
packages. However, we are working to address these issues by June 2018.   

Recommendation 3

Monitoring providers’ compliance against the contractual terms and conditions of 
ECM alongside the delivery of commissioned support hours should be 
incorporated into business as usual. 

Response prepared December 2017

Protocols will be put in place to share, as appropriate, data/intelligence that is 
gathered as part of the monitoring arrangements with the respective Contract 
Manager/Senior Responsible Officer and other key stakeholders such as: 
Commissioners, Operations, Quality, Brokerage, Safeguarding and Internal Audit, 
should fraud or an irregularity be suspected.

The additional resource will ensure we are able to facilitate effective compliance 
and follow up to escalate issues where appropriate in a timely manner , send 
appropriate reports to Commissioning, Operations Teams etc. to ensure they are 
aware of any issues that require follow up and detailing market analysis 
information.  It will also enable the swift response to ad hoc enquiries from our 
Quality Team for specific provider information.

In addition, it will also enable the team management to escalate any potential 
fraud/irregularity/delivery issues identified to the relevant tier of management 
within the organisation via the Council’s approved protocols.

Updated response March 2018

This action is on-going and work has commenced now the team is fully 
established.

Recommendation 4

The ECM team should ensure that all financial related queries (whether from the 
provider or Strategic Finance) are resolved in a timely manner, to keep the 
number of creditors to a minimum and allow for the accurate reporting of the MtC2 
savings. 

Page 164



7

Response prepared December 2017

Any queries that cannot be dealt with promptly by the ECM Officer should be 
escalated to the Commissioning Officer and/or the Outcome Manager to expedite 
the resolution process.

When all ECM Officers are in post in January 2018, we will be looking to identify a 
number of key areas where clear guidance is required, on the internal escalation 
process.  This will ensure that ECM Officers can easily identify the point at which 
Commissioning Officer intervention is required.  This action should be completed 
by end of January 2018. 

Updated response March 2018

With a full complement of staff who now each take an “account management” 
approach this has improve. Officers reconcile data for the same providers each 
period they will be able to pick up on issues and irregularities but extensive work 
on compliance has not yet been undertaken.  

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date:  r Agenda No:

Title of Report: Anti Money Laundering Regulations & Guidance

Context Under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (amended by the Criminal 
Finances Act 2017), Money Laundering Regulations 2017 and 
Terrorism Act 2000 the Council is required to establish internal 
procedures in order to prevent the use of our services for money 
laundering. 

The Internal Audit department have worked with Finance to generate 
an Anti Money Laundering Policy to raise awareness within the 
organisation of the responsibilities of all employees as well as providing 
guidance on how concerns should be raised (see appendix A attached). 

The previous policy was approved by Audit and Governance 
Committee on 20th January 2017. The revised policy has been updated 
to take account of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 and the Money 
Laundering Regulations 2017.

Purpose of Report: To keep the Audit and Governance Committee updated on the 
Council’s responsibility with regards to Money Laundering as well 
inform the Committee on the procedures and processes that have been 
put in place in order to meet legislative requirements.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

 reviews and approves the updated Anti Money Laundering 
Policy 

 agrees policy is reviewed by the Audit and Governance 
Committee on an annual basis.

Officer Contact: Paul Blacker; Head of Financial Management: Strategic Finance. Tel: 
01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks  Potential for criminal proceedings against individuals if they are 
aware of money laundering activity and fail to disclose. 

 Financial and reputational risk to Council if money laundering 
activities occur. 

Page 167

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Anti-Money Laundering Policy

Introduction
The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002  (amended by the Criminal Finances Act 2017), 
Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information of the Payer) 
Regulations 2017 and the Terrorism Act 2000 place obligations on the Council and its 
employees with respect to suspected money laundering. These obligations impact on certain 
areas of local authority business and require local authorities to establish internal procedures 
to prevent the use of their services for money laundering. This Policy sets out how any 
concerns should be raised.

Whilst the majority of money laundering activity in the UK falls outside of the public sector, 
vigilance by employees of the Council can help identify those who are or may be perpetrating 
crimes relating to the financing of terrorism and money laundering.

Scope of the Policy
This Policy applies to all employees of the Council and aims to maintain the high standards 
of conduct which currently exist within the Council by preventing criminal activity through 
money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed (for example 
the reporting of suspicions of money laundering activity) to enable the Council to comply with 
its legal obligations.

Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead to 
disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt with in 
accordance with the County Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedure.

What is Money Laundering?
Money laundering is the generic term used to describe the process by which criminals 
disguise the original ownership and control of the proceeds of criminal conduct by making 
such proceeds appear to have derived from a legitimate source. In other words, the process 
of changing ‘bad’ money into ‘good’ money in order to hide the fact that the money originated 
from criminal activity. Formally, the following acts constitute money laundering:
 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it from the 

UK (section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002); or
 Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or suspect 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of 
another person (section 328);

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329); or
 Becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from the 

jurisdiction, transfer to nominees or any other retention or control of terrorist property 
(section 18 of the Terrorism Act 2000).

These are the primary money laundering offences and thus prohibited acts under the 
legislation. There are also two secondary offences: failure to disclose any of the primary 
offences and tipping off. Tipping off is where someone informs a person or people who are, 
or are suspected of being involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the 
likelihood of their being investigated or prejudicing an investigation.

Page 169



2

Potentially any member of staff could be implicated by the money laundering provisions if 
they suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way and/or do 
nothing about it.

Failure to disclose (section 330)
A person commits an offence if each of the following three conditions are satisfied;
 they know or have reasonable grounds to suspect that another person is engaged in 

money laundering;
 the information or knowledge in which they have grounds for suspicion is received in the 

course of business in the regulated sector; and
 the required disclosure is not made as soon as is practicable after the information 

comes to them.

A person does not commit an offence under this section if:
 there is a reasonable excuse for not disclosing this information or other matter;
 they provide professional legal advice and the information came to them in privileged 

circumstances; and
 they do not know or suspect money laundering, or have not been provided with such 

training as specified by the Secretary of State.

Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is Iow, it is extremely important 
that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities: serious criminal 
sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation.

What are the Obligations on the Council?
Organisations conducting "relevant business" must:
 appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer ("MLRO") to receive disclosures from 

employees of money laundering activity (their own or anyone else's);
 implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering;
 maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; and
 maintain record keeping procedures.

Not all of the council's business is "relevant" for the purposes of the legislation. It is mainly 
the accountancy and audit services carried out by the financial service functions within the 
council and the financial, company and property transactions undertaken by Legal Services. 
However, the safest way to ensure compliance with the law is to apply it to all areas of work 
undertaken by the Council; therefore, all staff are required to comply with the reporting 
procedure set out in the Disclosure Procedure section below.

Page 170



3

The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)
The officer nominated to receive disclosures about money laundering activity within the 
council is the Head of Financial Management. Contact details are provided below:

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management 
Shire Hall
Westgate Street 
Gloucester
GL1 2TG

Email: paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01452 328999 (direct line)

In the absence of the MLRO, any member of the Strategic Finance Management Team is 
authorised to deputise.

Disclosure Procedure
Cash Payments:
No payment to the council will be accepted in cash (including notes, coins or travellers 
cheques in any currency) if it exceeds £5,000. Cash payments in excess of £10,000 received 
in more than one transaction within a twelve month period must also be treated as 
suspicious.

Even if the cash value is less than £5,000 and there is suspicion that the monies are from 
proceeds of crime then it should still be reported to the MLRO.

Any officer involved in a transaction of this kind should ensure that the person(s) provide 
satisfactory evidence of their personal identity.

Reporting to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer

Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking/has taken place, or 
become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to a prohibited act under 
the legislation, you must disclose this as soon as practicable to the MLRO.

Your disclosure should be made to the MLRO using the pro-forma report form on Staffnet 
Money Laundering page. The report must include as much detail as possible.

The employee must follow any subsequent directions from the MLRO or deputy and must not 
make any further enquiries themselves into the matter. Additionally, they must not take any 
further steps in the transaction without authorisation from the MLRO or deputy.

The employee must not disclose or otherwise indicate their suspicions to the person(s) 
suspected of money laundering otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of "tipping off”. 
They must not discuss the matter with others or note on a file that a report has been made to 
the MLRO in case this results in the suspect becoming aware of the suspicion, through a 
request to see their file. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a confidential 
manner.

Page 171

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


20

Full details of the people involved (including you, if relevant), e.g. name, date of birth, 
address, company names, directorships, phone numbers, etc. will be required. If you are 
concerned that your involvement in the transaction would amount to a prohibited act under 
sections 327 - 329 of the 2002 Act1, then your report must include all relevant details, as you 
will need consent from the National Crime Agency (NCA) via the MLRO, to take any further 
part in the transaction - this is the case even if the client gives instructions for the matter to 
proceed before such consent is given.

You should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is required and clarify 
whether there are any deadlines for giving such consent e.g. a completion date or court 
deadline;

Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions he may give 
you. You must not make any further enquiries into the matter yourself: any necessary 
investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Simply report your suspicions to the MLRO who 
will refer the matter on to the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA) if appropriate. All 
members of staff will be required to co-operate with the MLRO and the authorities during any 
subsequent money laundering investigation.

Client Identification Procedure (Customer Due Diligence)
Where the Council is carrying out relevant business (e.g. accountancy, audit and certain 
legal services) it must apply customer due diligence measures:

a) when you establish a business relationship
b) when you carry out an ‘occasional transaction’ worth €15,000 (approximately

£10,000) or more
c) when you suspect money laundering or terrorist financing
d) when you have doubts about a customer’s identification information that you 

obtained previously

e) when it’s necessary for existing customers - for example if their circumstances 
change

A business relationship is one that you enter into with a customer where both of you expect 
that the relationship will be ongoing. It can be a formal or an informal arrangement.

When a new business relationship is established the Council needs to obtain information on:

 the purpose of the relationship

 the intended nature of the relationship - for example where funds will come 
from, the purpose of transactions, and so on.

The type of information that you need to obtain may include:

 details of your customer’s business or employment

 the  source  and  origin  of  funds  that  the  customer  will  be  using  in  the 
relationship

 copies of recent and current financial statements

 details of the relationships between signatories and any underlying beneficial 
owners

 the expected level and type of activity that will take place in the relationship.

1 

Page 172



21

Please note that unlike the reporting procedure, the client identification procedure is 
restricted to those operating relevant business, i.e. Financial Services and Legal 
Services.

In the above circumstances, staff in the relevant unit of the Council must obtain satisfactory 
evidence of the identity of the prospective client, as soon as practicable after instructions are 
received (unless evidence of the client has already been obtained). This applies to existing 
clients, as well as new ones, but identification evidence is not required for matters entered 
into prior to 1 March 2004.

Once instructions to provide relevant business have been received, and it has been 
established that any of paragraphs (a) to (e) apply, evidence of identity should be obtained.

With instructions from new clients, or further instructions from a client not well known to you, 
you may wish to seek additional evidence of the identity of key individuals in the organisation 
and of the organisation itself.

In all cases, the evidence should be retained for at least five years from the end of the 
business relationship or transaction(s).

If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset of the matter then the 
business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further.

Record Keeping Procedures
The MLRO should retain records of all referrals made to them and of any action taken. The 
precise nature of these records is not set out in law but should be capable of providing an 
audit trail during any subsequent investigation.

All records should be retained for at least five years. This is so that they may be used as 
evidence in any subsequent investigation by the authorities into money laundering.

Guidance and Training
In support of this policy, the council will:
 make staff aware of the requirements and obligations under the anti-money laundering 

policy legislation; and
 provide training to those most likely to encounter money laundering.

Conclusion
The legislative requirements concerning anti-money laundering procedures are lengthy and 
complex. This Policy has been written to support the Council to meet the legal requirements 
in a way which is proportionate to the very low risk to the Council of contravening the 
legislation.

Should you have any concerns whatsoever regarding any transactions then you should 
contact the MLRO.

Page 173



22

Further Information
Further information relating to the anti-money laundering policy can be found at the following 
links:
 National Crime Agency (NCA)
 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information of the Payer) 

Regulations 2017 
 Terrorism Act 2002 
 CIPFA Guidance on Money Laundering
 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
 Criminal Finance Act 2017 Act 2017
 Money Laundering Disclosure Form – (Staffnet)
 Guidance for MLRO – (Staffnet)

Page 174

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/crime-threats/money-laundering
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/11/pdfs/ukpga_20000011_en.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/members/members-in-practice/anti-money-laundering
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/22/pdfs/ukpga_20170022_en.pdf
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/219002/money-laundering-appendix-1.pdf
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/policies-procedures-and-forms/financial-guides-and-manuals/finance-guide/general-finance-guide/money-laundering/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/


1

Audit and Governance Committee

Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation

Date: 6 April 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation

Purpose of Report To consider a draft response to the consultation by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life.

Recommendations: (1) To agree a response to the consultation by the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life; and

(2) To ask the Monitoring Officer to make any 
amendments, following consultation with the 
Group Leaders, before submitting by 18 May 
2018.
 

Officer(s) Contact: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge and 
Monitoring Officer, jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328472

Key Risks:
To forgo the opportunity to respond to the consultation. 

Page 175

Agenda Item 11

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Review of Local Government Ethical Standards: Stakeholder Consultation 

Context

1. The Committee on Standards in Public Life is undertaking a review of local 
government ethical standards. Robust standards arrangements are needed to 
safeguard local democracy, maintain high standards of conduct, and to protect 
ethical practice in local government.

2. As part of this review, the Committee is holding a public stakeholder consultation. 
The consultation is open from 12:00 on Monday 29 January 2018 and closes at 
17:00 on Friday 18 May 2018. Anyone with an interest may make a submission. The 
Committee welcomes submissions from members of the public. 

3. However, the consultation is aimed particularly at the following stakeholders, both 
individually and corporately:

● Local authorities and standards committees;
● Local authority members (for example, Parish Councillors, District Councillors);
● Local authority officials (for example, Monitoring Officers);
● Think tanks with an interest or expertise in local government;
● Academics with interest or expertise in local government; and
● Representative bodies or groups related to local government.

4. As the Audit and Governance Committee have overall responsibility for Member 
Standards, it would be helpful to get Member input into the draft response. It will then 
be shared with Group Leaders before it is submitted by the deadline of 18 May 2018.

Terms of reference for the review

5. The terms of reference for the review are to:

1) Examine the structures, processes and practices in local government in England 
for:

a. Maintaining codes of conduct for local councillors;
b. Investigating alleged breaches fairly and with due process;
c. Enforcing codes and imposing sanctions for misconduct;
d. Declaring interests and managing conflicts of interest; and
e. Whistleblowing.

2) Assess whether the existing structures, processes and practices are conducive to 
high standards of conduct in local government;

3) Make any recommendations for how they can be improved; and
4) Note any evidence of intimidation of councillors, and make recommendations for 

any measures that could be put in place to prevent and address such intimidation.

6. The review will consider all levels of local government in England, including town and 
parish councils, principal authorities, combined authorities (including Metro Mayors) 
and the Greater London Authority (including the Mayor of London).

Page 176



3

7. Local government ethical standards are a devolved issue. The Committee’s remit 
does not enable it to consider ethical standards issues in devolved nations in the UK 
except with the agreement of the relevant devolved administrations. However, we 
welcome any evidence relating to local government ethical standards in the devolved 
nations of the UK, particularly examples of best practice, for comparative purposes.

8. Submissions will be published online alongside the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life’s final report, with any contact information (for example, email addresses) 
removed.

9. The Committee will publish anonymised submissions (where the name of the 
respondent and any references to named individuals or local authorities are 
removed) where a respondent makes a reasonable request to do so. 

Consultation questions

10. The Committee invites responses to the following consultation questions. Please 
note that not all questions will be relevant to all respondents and that submissions do 
not need to respond to every question. Whilst we understand submissions may be 
grounded in personal experience, please note that the review is not an opportunity to 
have specific grievances considered.

a. Are the existing structures, processes and practices in place working to ensure high 
standards of conduct by local councillors? If not, please say why.

Proposed reply: The arrangements are suitable for minor or moderate breaches of 
standards which can be resolved informally, usually by way of training or an apology. 

b. What, if any, are the most significant gaps in the current ethical standards regime for 
local government?

Proposed reply: The current arrangements leave a significant gap between criminal 
behaviour and everything else. The arrangements do not allow local authorities to 
address persistent or recurrent unacceptable behaviour. There is a reliance on 
political groups to take remedial action which is not always appropriate or available, 
for example where an independent Member is concerned. The ultimate sanction of 
the ballot box can take up to 4 years to take effect. 

Codes of conduct

c. Are local authority adopted codes of conduct for councillors clear and easily 
understood? Do the codes cover an appropriate range of behaviours? What 
examples of good practice, including induction processes, exist?

Proposed reply: The current system allows individual local authorities to determine 
their local codes. Whilst this brings the advantages of flexibility in local standards, it 
can create confusion for those councillors who are elected across two or three tiers 
of local government (county, district/borough and or town/parish councils). For 
example “triple-hatters” will need to operate to three separate codes of conduct. It 
also causes confusion for complainants.

Page 177



4

In terms of good practice, in Gloucestershire CC, the Monitoring Officer had an 
individual conversation about the Code, the requirements and declarations of interest 
with all 53 elected Members after the May 2017 elections, including returning 
Members. This was supplemented by induction workshops covering vital information 
for Members which will be repeated annually.

d. A local authority has a statutory duty to ensure that its adopted code of conduct for 
councillors is consistent with the Seven Principles of Public Life and that it includes 
appropriate provision (as decided by the local authority) for registering and declaring 
councillors’ interests. Are these requirements appropriate as they stand? If not, 
please say why.

Proposed reply: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are generally clear, although 
clarifications have been required in terms of dispensation, e.g setting Council Tax.  
Personal and other interests are less clear, particularly where Members elected 
before 2011 were used to other definitions of interest (pecuniary, non-pecuniary, 
personal, sensitive etc). Some Members will err on the side of caution, others won’t.

Investigations and decisions on allegations

e. Are allegations of councillor misconduct investigated and decided fairly and with due 
process?

(i) What processes do local authorities have in place for investigating and deciding 
upon allegations? Do these processes meet requirements for due process? 
Should any additional safeguards be put in place to ensure due process?

Proposed reply: The processes and arrangements allow for due process to be 
followed. One of the most controversial issues is whether hearings should be held in 
private or public. It is left to individual authorities to determine. At least one case went 
to Judicial Review to resolve which is time consuming and expensive.  More clarity 
would be helpful here.

(ii) Is the current requirement that the views of an Independent Person must be 
sought and taken into account before deciding on an allegation sufficient to 
ensure the objectivity and fairness of the decision process? Should this 
requirement be strengthened? If so, how?

Proposed reply: The Independent Persons have been very effective. They can and 
do give independent advice, unfettered by any formal links to the council. Because 
the roles are voluntary and unremunerated, we rely on our ability to attract and retain 
suitable volunteers and for them to want to continue with the role.  

(iii) Monitoring Officers are often involved in the process of investigating and deciding 
upon code breaches. Could Monitoring Officers be subject to conflicts of interest 
or undue pressure when doing so? How could Monitoring Officers be protected 
from this risk?

Proposed reply: Monitoring Officers have legal responsibilities in respect of matters of 
concern regarding any legal, ethical standards, probity, or propriety issues that are 
likely to (or do) arise. They must do this without fear or favour. There may be 
instances where they have a conflict of interest, for example, if they are part of the 

Page 178



5

allegation. In these cases, there is also a nominated Deputy Monitoring Officer who 
could step in or a Monitoring Officer from another authority could be asked to take 
the lead.  The employment protections on MOs (and the other Statutory Officer posts 
of Head of Paid Service and S151Officer) have recently been revoked.  Evidence 
was provided at the time to DCLG about the benefit of the protections and the risks of 
them being removed. The Committee may wish to revisit this evidence in the context 
of this consultation.

Sanctions

f. Are existing sanctions for councillor misconduct sufficient?

(i) What sanctions do local authorities use when councillors are found to have 
breached the code of conduct? Are these sanctions sufficient to deter breaches 
and, where relevant, to enforce compliance?

(ii) Should local authorities be given the ability to use additional sanctions? If so, 
what should these be?

Proposed reply: the main sanctions are training or an apology or some removal of 
facilities. These are sufficient for minor breaches. The sanctions probably do not 
deter breaches. Bad publicity probably does, although for some it is seen as a ‘badge 
of honour’.

Proposed reply: additional sanctions need to be proportionate to the breach.

Declaring interests and conflicts of interest

g. Are existing arrangements to declare councillors’ interests and manage conflicts of 
interest satisfactory? If not please say why.

(i) A local councillor is under a legal duty to register any pecuniary interests (or 
those of their spouse or partner), and cannot participate in discussion or votes 
that engage a disclosable pecuniary interest, nor take any further steps in relation 
to that matter, although local authorities can grant dispensations under certain 
circumstances. Are these statutory duties appropriate as they stand?

Proposed reply: GCC has not granted any dispensations. The responsibility has been 
given to our Audit and Governance Committee.

(ii) What arrangements do local authorities have in place to declare councillors’ 
interests, and manage conflicts of interest that go beyond the statutory 
requirements? Are these satisfactory? If not, please say why.

Proposed reply: the only area where Gloucestershire County Council goes beyond 
statutory requirements is in respect of planning committee, where bias is a specific 
issue. Members of planning committee are trained annually on the issue of common 
law of bias and the difference between bias and the statutory requirements i.e. that 
bias interests go beyond that of just the member and their spouse. Members are also 
advised to seek clarification on any potential issue of bias prior to any planning 
committee meeting. 

Page 179



6

Whistleblowing

h. What arrangements are in place for whistleblowing, by the public, councillors, and 
officials? Are these satisfactory?

Proposed reply: Yes. Gloucestershire CC has recently reviewed its whistleblowing 
arrangements with the help of Public Concern at Work, the national Whistleblowing 
Charity. 

Improving standards

i. What steps could local authorities take to improve local government ethical 
standards?

j. What steps could central government take to improve local government ethical 
standards?

Proposed reply: Local authorities are best placed to provide training and awareness 
for their Members. There should be a requirement for all councillors to attend 
standards training. This might need external input if the behavioural issues are 
cultural or widespread. It is important that Monitoring Officers can share learning from 
practices and breaches elsewhere and draw on legal expertise where appropriate. 

Proposed reply: Central government should consider the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life’s report and any recommendations from this consultation, particularly in 
respect of sanctions, and whether hearings should be held in public or private.

Intimidation of local councillors

k. What is the nature, scale, and extent of intimidation towards local councillors?

(i) What measures could be put in place to prevent and address this intimidation?

Proposed response: Social media has made this more likely and more visible.  We 
provide guidance on personal safety, including reporting to police, but in all but the 
most serious cases, they will struggle to have the capacity to respond.

Any other comments?

The Audit and Governance Committee is invited to offer any other comments or 
suggestions.

 

Page 180



Audit and Governance Committee 6 April 2018

Agenda Item: Freedom of Information Act 2000 and Data Protection Act 1998 report 
and statistics, January – December 2017.

Summary

This report advises Members of the impact of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOI) and 
the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) (and related legislation) on the council during 2017.

Key Points

 2037 requests received in 2017 in comparison with 2276 in 2016, but the complexity of 
cases continues to increase.

 We now operate a more efficient and effective process when dealing with NHS 
requests, therefore these are no longer included in the request figures for 2017. 
However, during 2017 this equated to 180 requests.

 The percentage of requests responded to within the statutory timescales in 2017 is 
89%.  Additional investment in the Information Management Service and 
improvements made throughout the year have increased the percentage of requests 
responded to in time by 11% (In 2016 the percentage of requests responded to on 
time was 78%).

Recommendations

That the report be noted.

Page 181

Agenda Item 12



1.   Proportion of Requests Meeting Statutory Deadlines

In 2017 the council answered 89% of requests within the statutory deadline.  Chart 1 
shows the monthly response rates and how they compare with the target of 85% on time. 
A combination of the improvement work that continued throughout 2017 and the 
additional resources allocated to managing requests, has helped ensure the required rate 
of performance was maintained.. 

Chart 1: 2017 Percentage of requests responded on time (includes all FOI and SAR 
cases closed during 2017)

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec
50

55

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

2. Detailed Background Information

Requests for Information
Table 1 shows the requests received in total each year from 2014 – 2017 and the continued 
increase in numbers received. 

Table 1: Requests received 2014-2017

2014 2015 2016 2017
Number received 1892 2195 2276 2037
Percentage 
increase from 
previous year

7.8% 16% 4.0% 11%

Chart 2 shows that in 2017, 2037 requests were received, compared with 2276 in 2016.  
(This means the council received an average of 169.75 requests per month). Although it 
appears the numbers have dropped, in practice the numbers remain steady. We believe the 
change in number is due to two factors:

1. We have made a number of changes to the way we report this year to ensure the 
figures are as accurate as possible and to avoid any possible duplication.   For 

Page 182



example, internal reviews were previously logged as a new case, but these are 
now reflected as a continuation of the case (21 internal reviews were received in 
2017). 

2. NHS requests are no longer included in our request figures (180 requests were 
received in 2017). 

In addition to managing requests and the provision of advice to council colleagues, the 
service continued to provide advice on requests to schools as part of the council’s Traded 
Service.

Chart 2: Requests received 2005-2017

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

1st Half
2nd Half

Table 2 shows the variation in the number of requests by requester type. Requests from 
private individuals still remain the overall majority at 60.23% (this is a drop of 3% from 2016). 

Requests have been received about a wide variety of topics including:

 Adult and Children’s social care and safeguarding

Page 183



 School admissions
 Planning application for a business park and football stadium next to junction 13 of the 

M5 near Stroud
 Road maintenance, safety on the roads, transport and parking charges
 ICT and Communications
 Public health services
 Staffing numbers and structure
 Council spend, funding, budgets, pensions and compensation claims
 Trading Standards
 Fire and Rescue
 Libraries

Table 2: Distribution of requests by requester type, comparison of 2016 and 2017 

Requester Type Count 2016 % Count 2017 %

Member of public/individual 1416 62.20 1235  60.23

Company or commercial 
organisation 293 12.85 281 13.79

Press or media 227 9.97 261 12.81

Charity 43 1.88 57 2.80

Student 24 1.05 35 1.72

Campaign group 37 1.62 34 1.67

Political organisation 19 0.83 32 1.57

NHS 110 4.83 20 0.98

Public Authority 25 1.09 20 0.98

Legal organisation 23 1.01 19 0.93

Academic organisation 18 0.79 17 0.83

MP 18 0.79 10 0.49

Councillor 16 0.70 9 0.44

Union 7 0.30 6 0.29

Page 184



Table 3: Distribution of requests by cluster level

Cluster   2016 
Totals

Percentage in 
2016

2017 
Totals

Percentage in 
2017

Children’s and families
Includes: Children’s Social Care, Children’s 
Safeguarding, Schools, Education & Learning 
and Fostering and Adoption

707 31.06% 674 33.08%

Communities
Includes: PLACE,  Gloucester Fire and Rescue 
Service  and Trading Standards 

610 26.80% 516 25.33%

Adults
Includes: Adult Social Care, Adult Safeguarding, 
Learning Disabilities, Joint Commissioning and 
Public Health

582 25.57% 369 18.11%

Core Council
Includes: Finance, Pensions, Property Services
Human Resources, Business Service Centre, 
Communications, Corporate Complaints and  
Information Management

261 11.46% 324 15.90%

District
Includes all requests where the Information is 
held by District Councils.

116 5.09% 154 7.56%

3. Refusal of Requests

The top five exemptions used were:

 s12 - Cost of compliance exceeds appropriate limit
 s21 - Information accessible to the applicant by other means
 s22 - Information intended for future publication
 s40 - Personal information
 s43 - Commercial Interests  

The top two EIR (Environmental Information Regulations) exceptions used were:
 EIR 12(3) – Personal data
 EIR 12 5(e) – The confidentiality of commercial or industrial information where such 

confidentiality is provided by law to protect a legitimate economic interest

Table 4 shows that there has been a 19% increase in refusals when compared with 2016.

Table 4: Refusal of requests, compared with 2016
2016 2017

Refused in part 188 occasions 231 occasions
Refused in whole 84 occasions 95 occasions

Page 185



4. Time Spent on Answering Requests

The input required to manage and prepare responses to requests spans all areas of the 
council, therefore an estimate has been made of the time taken. Based on experience the 
following average times to measure the completion of requests are used:

 Average request: 6 hours
 Sensitive request: 20 hours
 Internal review: 25 hours
 ICO review: 35 hours

The average time spent managing requests has increased from last year, which reflects the 
complexity of the cases received.

5. Freedom of Information Internal Reviews and Complaints

16 requests for internal reviews were received in 2017; a 39% reduction compared with the 
28 requests for internal reviews received in 2016.
The outcomes were as follows:

 9 were upheld in part; 
 4 were not upheld;
 3 were upheld in full

1 case was escalated to the Information Commissioner (ICO) in 2017, as follows:
 Requesting a copy of the value for money report produced by EY for Cabinet on 11 

November 2015 (which relates to the Javelin Park Incinerator contract)
 The ICO decision is pending

The Information Management Service continues to spend an increasing amount of time 
managing reviews and complaints relating to requests (compared with previous years). 
Although the numbers are lower, this is demonstrative of the increasing complexity. 

6.  Data Protection

The council received 567 requests under the Data Protection Act in 2017.  This is a 5% 
decrease when compared with the 598 requests received in the previous year, although the 
number of subject access requests continues to increase, the police requests have 
decreased.

Gloucestershire County Council has a responsibility under the Data Protection Act 1998 
(DPA) to ensure appropriate and proportionate security of the personal data held and used 
(7th Principle).  The Information Management Service continues to monitor information 
security breaches and put in place appropriate measures to help prevent breaches from 
occurring.  

Page 186



7.  Data Protection (Subject Access) Internal Reviews and Complaints

 4 internal reviews/complaints were received and investigated in 2017: 
 1 was upheld in full;
 2 were upheld in part;
 1 was not upheld. 

1 case was escalated to the Information Commissioner (ICO) during 2017:  

 Relating to the council failing to respond to a request within the statutory forty day 
timeframe. 

 The ICO was satisfied that the council had responded to the request within the 
statutory timeframe and implemented new procedures to ensure that the process 
is clearer for requesters. The ICO did not take any further action, but has kept 
the concerns raised on file and will revisit them if they receive further 
complaints of this nature against the council. This helps the ICO over time to 
build up a picture of the council’s information rights practices.

8. Customer Feedback

Although we invite feedback on every response it is not obligatory to complete it. 
Two comments were received in 2017, one requester was delighted with the both the service 
received and information that had been provided, whilst the other was a little disappointed 
with the information received.

Authors: Teresa Wilmshurst, Information Requests Manager 
     Jenny Grodzicka, Information Management Service Manager

                 
Owner: Jenny Grodzicka, Information Management Service Manager

6 April 2018

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNUAL REPORT OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

1. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/17 
The Committee approved and signed the 2016/17 Annual Statement of Accounts for 
Gloucestershire County Council and the Pension Fund.  It was noted that the Authority 
had a statutory duty to produce the accounts in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice.  The report provided a summary of the work undertaken during the audit of the 
Council’s accounts. The Committee considered and approved the Letter of 
Representation which confirmed that the Council had undertaken proper responsibility 
in relation to its financial activities. The Committee also received the Treasury 
Management Annual Report.

2. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND THE LOCAL CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 2016/17
The Council is required under the Accounts and Audit regulations to produce an Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) which is a public statement, detailing how the Council 
directs and controls its resources. The AGS was published alongside the Annual 
Statement of Accounts. 

The Council had adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent 
with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government’. The Code is a public statement of the Council's commitment to 
these principles.  The code underpins and evidences the statements made within the 
AGS and was reviewed and updated annually.

The Committee considered and approved the Council’s 2016/2017 Annual Governance 
Statement and Local Code of Corporate Governance 2016/2017. The Committee also 
reviewed the progress made by management to address the significant issues identified 
in the 2016/17 Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan;

3. EXTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS
The Committee considered external audit reports on Gloucestershire County Council 
and the Pensions Fund. In response to findings within the reports members asked 
officers to act on those recommendations and to report back to the Committee on the 
progress made in addressing them. Members of the Committee have received regular 
updates on Grant Thornton’s programme of activity relating to the Council in addition to 
briefings on the external environment.

4. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORTS 2017/2018
The Committee has continued to monitor the work of Internal Audit and has been 
provided with an evaluation of the effectiveness of Internal Audit and has noted that the 
service complies with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017. The 
Committee therefore takes assurance that the internal audit practices meet the required 
standards and continued reliance can be placed on the internal audit arrangements 
operating within the Council.  

The plan ensures that internal audit resources are prioritised towards those systems, 
processes and areas which are considered to be deemed high risk, or which contribute 
most to the achievement of the council’s corporate objectives.  The Committee 
continues to monitor the delivery of the annual Internal Audit Plan through regular 
update reports presented by the Head of Audit Risk Assurance.  

Page 189

Agenda Item 13



The Head of Audit Risk Assurance provided a satisfactory opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Council’s internal control environment. The summarised internal audit activity 
upon which that opinion was based, provide the Committee with reasonable assurance 
that there is a generally sound system of internal control in place at the council.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT & STRATEGY 2018 - 2021
The Committee’s role was to monitor the effectiveness of the Council governance 
arrangements, including risk management.   During the year the Committee had 
considered and approved the new Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy 
2018 – 2021 and the associated risk assurance framework and received an annual 
report on risk management activity which provided the actions taken by the Council to 
identify and address strategic and operational risks.

6. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ANNUAL REPORT 
The report drew attention to the significant number of requests received by the council. 
It was noted there had been a continued increase in the complexity of requests the 
Council received, together with a slight drop in requests, from 2037 requests received in 
2017 compared with 2276 received in 2016.     

7. ANNUAL REPORT ON COMPLAINTS
The committee received a report detailing the Council’s arrangements for handling 
complaints including   the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO)’s Annual Review. The 
Gloucestershire County Councils revised Complaints Policy was accepted. The 
committee noted that in 2016/17 the LGO received 70 complaints about the County 
Council, 10 of which were upheld.  

8. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 
The Committee were consulted and submitted comments to Jane Burns, Director of 
Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer, which had now been included in the 
new policy.     The Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer under delegated powers 
had formally approved the Whistleblowing Policy, which had now been endorsed at 
County Council 

9. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW 
The Committee received a report on the annual review of the Member Code of 
Conduct. It was noted that the Council had two Independent Persons who the 
Monitoring Officer could call on for assistance if necessary. It was reported there had 
been no reason to convene the Hearings Panel in 2016/17.  

10. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS PRESENTATION 
The Committee were advised that GDPR was one part of a major change in data 
protection legislation that would replace the Data Protection Act 1998 on 25th May 
2018.   GDPR was an EU regulation, and updated data protection legislation to reflect 
the way organisations were now collecting and using personal data.  It had been 
confirmed by the government that the content of the GDPR will be reflected in domestic 
data legislation after Brexit.  

The Committee requested a GDPR briefing session for all members, with an invitation 
to the districts on the new legislation in order to make members aware of the risks.   

11. OTHER TOPICS
Members of the committee welcomed the training sessions which had been offered, 
including the Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Treasury 
Management. The committee have found the sessions to be rewarding and informative.  

Page 190



Document is Restricted

Page 191

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Jan 18

	4 Grant Thornton Audit Plan for GCC & Pension Fund
	Gloucestershire Pension Fund External Audit Plan 201718

	5 Grant Thornton Annual Progress Report
	6 Grant Thornton Audit Standards Communication & Internal Audit Fraud Law & Regulations
	7 Internal Audit Plan 2018/19
	Internal Audit Plan report 2018-19 FINAL

	8 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 17/18
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.2
	Spreadsheet v1.1

	9 Internal Audit Limited Assurance Reports
	10 Money Laundering Regulations and Guidance
	anti-money-laundering-policy 2018

	11 Local Government Ethical Standards
	12 Freedom of Information Annual Report
	13 Annual Report to Council
	15 Insurance Briefing Report

